
 
 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL CHAMBERS 

9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD  

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

 
 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 

Thursday, June 20, 2024 at 5:30 P.M. 

 

SPECIAL WORKSHOP (5:30 P.M.) 

 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

 

B. Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Rewrite Task Force. Zoning map and Articles: (2) 

Establishment of Districts, (3) District Specific Standards and (4) Use-Specific Standards. Session 

prepared by planning staff and project consultants Houseal Lavigne Associates and Birchline 

Planning, LLC. 

 

REGULAR MEETING (6:30 P.M.) 
 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

 

B. Approval of Minutes 

 

1. Approval of the regular meeting of June 6, 2024. 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters 

1. RLUIPA Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment. Request to amend Table 15-

3.0603 of the Unified Development Ordinance to add certain Religious and Church and Places 

of Worship uses as permitted uses in the B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use District, CC City 

Civic Center District, I-1 Institutional District, and special uses in the OL-2 General Business 

Overlay District and P-1 Park District. 

 

D. Citizen comment period. Citizens may comment upon the Business Matter items set forth on this 

Meeting Agenda. 

 

E. Business Matters 

1. Conservancy for Healing & Heritage, Minor PDD Amendment. Request for accessory 

structure including office and additional event space, new trail segments, and other additions 

to the Conservancy development, on property located at  5484 W. Rawson Ave (741 9002 000). 

2. Department of Public Works Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of a Site Plan 

Amendment to allow for development of a building addition for storage, on property located 

at 7979 W. Ryan Road (896 9990 001).  

 
F. Adjournment 

 
The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will live stream the Plan Commission meeting so the public can watch and listen to it at 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov. Any questions on this agenda may be directed to the Department of City 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


 
Development’s office at 414-425-4024, Monday through Friday, 8 AM – 4:30 PM. 

*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City Hall during regular business hours. 
 

**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over 

which they have decision-making responsibility. This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. 

Greendale Village Board, even though the Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 

 

[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and 

services. For additional information, contact the City Clerk’s office at 414- 425-7500.] 

 

REMINDERS: Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: July 18, 2024. 



  

City of Franklin unapproved 

Plan Commission Meeting 

June 6, 2024 

Minutes 

 

     A.  Call to Order and Roll Call 

Mayor John Nelson called the June 6, 2024 Plan Commission meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the 

Council Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin.  

 

Present were Mayor John Nelson, City Engineer Glen Morrow, Alderwoman Courtney Day and 

Commissioners Kevin Haley and Michael Shawgo. Excused were Commissioners Rebecca Specht 

and Patrick Leon. Also, present were City Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, Principal Planner Régulo 

Martínez-Montilva and Director of Administration Kelly Hersh. 

 

B.   Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of May 23, 2024 

  Commissioner Haley moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to approve the May 23,    

2024 meeting minutes. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (4-0-2). 

 

C.   Public Hearing Business Matters 

 

1.     None. 

 

 D.    Citizen comment period. Citizens may comment upon the Business Matter items set forth on   

this Meeting Agenda. 

 

     The citizen comment period opened at 6:01 p.m. and closed at 6:12 p.m. Two citizen comments. 

 

E.    Business Matters 

 

1.    Safari Homes, Site Plan to allow for five multifamily buildings upon property located 3709 W 

College Avenue (TKN 713 9996 003).  

 

 Principal Planner Martinez-Montilva presented the Site Plan request. 

 

Commissioner Haley moved to table to the next meeting. There was no second, motion failed. 

 

Alderwoman Day moved and City Engineer Morrow seconded a motion to adopt a resolution 

conditionally approving a Site Plan for Lake Grove Place, a multi-family residential 

development (3709 W College Avenue) (Safari Homes Franklin LLC, applicant), resolution 

dated June 6, 2024, and conditioned upon the installation of a screening fence as well as 

obtaining all county approvals for work within College Avenue right-of-way. On voice vote, 

all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (4-0-2). 

 

2.   Payne & Dolan, Inc. Franklin Aggregates biannual report (2022-2023).  

 

        Bryanna Bucholtz presented the biannual report (2022-2023). 

 



  

Commissioner Haley moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to accept and place on 

file. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (4-0-2). 

 

3.    Milwaukee County - DPRC, Minor PDD Amendment and Site Plan. Request to amend PDD 

No. 38 fencing requirements and a Site Plan to install a fence with a height of eight feet upon 

property located at 9000 South 68th Street (TKN 883 9999 002).  

 

 Principal Planner Martinez-Montilva presented the Minor Planned Development District 

(PDD) and Site Plan request. 

 

 Planned Development District Minor Amendment 

• City Engineer Morrow moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to determine 

the proposed Planned Development District Amendment to be a Minor Amendment. On 

voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (4-0-2). 

• City Engineer Morrow moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to recommend 

adoption of an Ordinance amending Table 15-3.0443E.1.B. related to fencing 

requirements (Milwaukee County - DPRC, applicant). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; 

motion carried (4-0-2). 

 
Site Plan 

City Engineer Morrow moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution 

approving a Site Plan to allow for the installation of a fence with a height of eight feet upon 

property located at 9000 68th Street, subject to Common Council approval of the concurrently 

submitted Planned Development District Amendment (Milwaukee County – DPRC, applicant). 
 On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (4-0-2). 

 

 F.    Adjournment 

Commissioner Haley moved and Commissioner Shawgo seconded to adjourn the meeting at 

7:08 pm. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (4-0-2). 



 

  Page 1 of 2 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date: June 11, 2024   
    SENT VIA EMAIL 
To: City of Franklin UDO Update Task Force 
 Régulo Martínez-Montilva, AICP, Principal Planner 
 Marion Ecks, AICP, Principal Planner 
 
From: Jackie Wells, AICP, Practice Lead 

Ruben Shell, AICP, Planner II 
Houseal Lavigne Associates 
 

Re: Franklin, WI UDO Update 
Task Force Meeting - Draft UDO Articles 2 and 3 

 
The purpose of this memorandum is to provide an overview of Articles 2 and 3 of the draft UDO. This memo 
provides an overview of the feedback and background that informed the major changes from the existing 
UDO. This memo provides background to inform discussion at the Task Force’s June 20th meeting. 

Article 2: Establishment of Districts and Article 3: District Specific 
Standards 
Article 2: Establishment of Districts lists the zoning districts within the draft UDO and sorts them into five 
categories; residential, commercial and mixed-use, industrial and agricultural, miscellaneous, and floodplain. 
Article 2 then establishes a purpose and intent statement for each of the zoning districts that briefly describes 
the uses and development patterns each district is intended to promote. 

Article 3:  District Specific Standards establishes the standards that apply within each of the zoning districts 
listed in Article 2. The bulk and dimensional standards including lot area, lot area per dwelling unit, lot width, 
yard setbacks, and building height and impervious surface coverage that apply within each district are listed 
in tables at the beginning of this Article. Then, the land uses that are allowed by right or as a Conditional Use 
are shown in tables. The Zoning Districts are listed in columns, and the uses are listed as rows in these 
tables. The uses allowed by-right are shown as “P” while those allowed as a conditional use are shown as 
“C” in the table. The uses that are prohibited in each district are designated with a blank space in the table. 
Last, Article 3 establishes standards that apply within certain zoning districts, such as the B-SM - Saint 
Martin’s Road Historic Business District and the City’s FF Floodfringe and GFP General Floodplain Districts. 

Accompanying Articles 2 and 3 is also a proposed zoning map that shows how the zoning districts are 
proposed to apply throughout the City geographically. 

Up-Front Outreach and Input Heard 
During the kickoff and community engagement phases of the project, the project team heard substantial input 
from stakeholders regarding the City’s zoning districts and the bulk and dimensional and use standards that 
apply within them. The project team heard substantial interest in exploring the consolidation of several of the 
City’s zoning districts that serve similar purposes or encompass areas of the community with similar historic 
development patterns. The project team also heard interest from stakeholders in simplifying the bulk and 
dimensional standards and making them easier for staff and applicants to understand. A detailed list of the 
feedback heard from stakeholders is as follows: 



 

Houseal Lavigne | Franklin, WI UDO Update  Page 2 of 2 

• The R-3 through R-6 Residential Districts should be consolidated, as they serve similar purposes. 
• The Countryside/Estate District (R1-E) applies to only one parcel and should be eliminated from 

the UDO. 
• The existing floodplain districts do not match the FEMA-designated floodplain. 
• Consider eliminating the C-1 Conservancy District, which does not exist in the UDO text and O-L 

Office District, which governs only few parcels. 
• The overlay districts governing 27th Street should be replaced with consistent base district 

standards 
• The UDO contains a complicated list of uses based on Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) 

codes that should be simplified.  
• The UDO contains too many special uses that must undergo extensive approval processes.  
• Clarify lot coverage standards to encompass all impervious surfaces and distinguish building 

coverage from lot coverage. 
• Remove overly-complicated development standards that exist throughout the UDO. 

Major Proposed Changes 
Using the feedback from the beginning of the process and described above, the project team explored and 
recommend changes to the existing UDO that are reflected in the drafts of Articles 2 and 3. Among these 
adjustments is the rezoning of specific areas of the City in the proposed Zoning Map. These proposed 
rezonings/map changes are not meant to substantially alter how property owners or developers are allowed 
to use and develop land throughout the community. Property rights and the type of development allowed in 
the proposed map would not be significantly impacted by the proposed changes. Instead, the proposed map 
adjustments are intended to achieve one or more the following measures: 

• Consolidate existing residential or commercial zoning districts that serve similar purposes. 
• Match existing development with UDO bulk and dimensional standards, reducing nonconformity 

rate and enabling easier reinvestment in property. 
• Remove districts that apply to only a few select properties in the City. 

The draft of Article 3 also contains the simplification of several of the City’s existing development standards 
including floor area ratio regulations, minimum floor area standards for dwelling units, and complex 
differentiation between conservation development and standard development. More detail regarding the 
simplification of the proposed zoning map and bulk and dimensional standards will be discussed during the 
June 20th meeting. 





 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 1 of 4 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

 
Article 2. Establishment of Districts 

 
15-2-01. Districts Established ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 

15-2-02. Purpose and Intent of Districts ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

15-2-03. Official Zoning Map ............................................................................................................................................................. 4 

 

15-2-01. Districts Established 

A. Base Districts. 

1. Residential Districts. 

a. R-C - Conservation Residence District 

b. R-SE - Suburban/Estate Residence District 

c. R-SR - Suburban Residence District 

d. R-M - Multiple-Unit Residence District 

e. R-V - Village Residence District 

2. Commercial and Mixed-Use Districts. 

a. B-N - Neighborhood Business District 

b. B-G - General Business District 

c. B-R - Regional Business District 

d. B-MU - South 27th Street Mixed-Use District 

e. B-SM - Saint Martin’s Road Historic Business District 

3. Industrial and Agricultural Districts. 

a. B-P - Business Park District 

b. LI - Limited Industrial District 

c. A - Agricultural District 

d. A-P - Agricultural Prime District 

4. Miscellaneous Districts. 

a. P - Park and Open Space District 

b. I - Institutional District 

c. L - Landfill District 



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 2 of 4 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

d. PDL - Planned Development Legacy District  

5. Floodplain Districts. 

a. FW - Floodway District 

b. GFP - General Floodplain District 

c. FF - Floodfringe District 

15-2-02. Purpose and Intent of Districts 

A. Residential Districts 

1. R-C - Conservation Residence District. The R-C Conservation Residence District is intended to allocate land for 

single-family residential uses on large lots and in low-density settings. The District is further intended to preserve open 

space, sensitive natural features, and maintain the community’s rural residential setting and scenic viewsheds where 

these assets exist in the southern areas of the City. 

2. R-SE - Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District. The R-SE Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence 

District is intended to provide land for single-family residential housing in moderately-low densities and that is suburban 

or semi-rural in character. The District is further intended to preserve and protect the City’s natural resources, including 

woodlands and open spaces. 

3. R-SR - Suburban Single-Family Residence District. The R-SR Suburban Single-Family Residence District is 

intended to provide land for single-family suburban residential housing at moderately low densities. The District is 

designed to preserve the community’s suburban and semi-rural character and its open space and natural resources. 

The district is intended to allow infill in locations where moderately low-density neighborhoods exist and to allow new 

residential growth as the community determines is appropriate. 

4. R-M - Multiple-Family Residence District. The R-M Multiple-Family Residence District is intended to establish and 

preserve land for both multifamily and single-family attached residential development such as duplexes, townhomes, 

and rowhomes to accommodate a variety of households with different lifestyles, age ranges, and incomes. The District 

is intended to allow a flexible mix of scales, densities and formats throughout the community while ensuring that the 

single-family attached and multifamily residential uses enhance the character of Franklin’s residential setting, 

contribute to the community’s visual appeal, and ensure the adequate provision of open space. 

5. R-V - Village Residence District. The R-V Village Residence District is intended to preserve the single-family 

residential character and architectural qualities of the Saint Martin’s Historic Village Area. The District is intended to 

allow new single-family residential infill on vacant or underused sites in the Village area, provided that such 

development is consistent with the historic visual character and preserves its moderate residential density. 

B. Commercial and Mixed-Use Districts 

1. B-N - Neighborhood Business District. The B-N Neighborhood Business District is intended to provide for the day-

to-day retail, commercial service, and employment needs of Franklin residents, particularly the needs of the 

neighborhoods adjacent to properties in the District. The District is further intended to promote a mutually supportive 

mix of small-scale retail establishments and to ensure safe and convenient pedestrian and vehicular circulation on-site 

and between adjacent sites as redevelopment of existing sites occurs.  

2. B-G - General Business District. The B-G General Business District is intended to promote a variety of commercial 

service and retail uses along the City’s major roadways. The District is intended to allow moderately large-scale 

development that serves the general population of Franklin. It is further intended to promote commercial development 

in visually appealing plaza formats that promote safe and convenient pedestrian travel on sites and between adjacent 

sites and neighborhoods. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 3 of 4 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

3. B-R - Regional Business District. The B-R Regional Business District is intended to promote a variety of commercial 

service and retail uses along the City’s major roadways to serve the needs of Franklin residents as well as a regional 

consumer market beyond the City’s borders. Moderately large-scale development should be configured with groups of 

large-lot commercial structures with outlot commercial buildings surrounding shared parking areas and should provide 

safe and convenient pedestrian travel on-site, and when practicable, between other sites and neighborhoods. 

4. B-MU - South 27th Street Mixed-Use District. The B-MU South 27th Street Mixed-Use District is intended to provide 

land for a mutually-supportive combination of retail, commercial, office, and compact residential uses in buildings’ 

upper floors along South 27th Street. Development is configured in multi-building plaza formats and on relatively large 

sites. The District is intended to facilitate greater densities of retail, commercial, office, and residential uses than in the 

B-1 through B-3 Districts, given South 27th Street’s direct access to bus transit. The development should further be 

arranged in cohesive plaza developments that facilitate convenient vehicle and pedestrian travel and enhance the 

corridor’s appearance.  

5. B-SM - Village Business District. The B-SM Village Business District is intended to promote a mix of commercial 

retail, service, and upper-floor residential uses in the historic Saint Martin’s Village area while maintaining the area’s 

traditional character and built form. The District is designed to preserve historic structures while allowing infill 

development on underused sites that is consistent with the area’s built characteristics and architectural qualities. 

Development should continue to be formatted in small lots and buildings should be placed relatively near front lot lines 

to preserve the area’s pedestrian-oriented character. 

C. Industrial and Agricultural Districts. 

1. B-P - Business Park District. The B-P Business Park District is intended to promote a flexible mix of light industrial, 

research, and office uses in a campus like setting. Uses are conducted primarily indoors and do not have the potential 

to generate nuisances to adjoining properties. Circulation systems should be integrated into the site in a cohesive 

manner to ensure convenient pedestrian and vehicular travel. 

2. LI - Limited Industrial District. The LI Limited Industrial District is intended to provide land for manufacturing, 

industrial, warehousing, and similar uses of a limited scale and intensity. The district is intended to support employment 

opportunities in the City while maintaining the community’s natural resources and neighborhood character. 

3. A - Agricultural District. The A Agricultural District is intended to preserve land in the City historically used for small 

farming operations engaged in crop production, the raising of livestock, the cultivation of orchards, and other small-

scale agricultural activities. The district also accommodates limited single-family housing. The District is intended to 

preserve the large contiguous parcels of land that are characteristic of the community’s rural areas. 

4. A-P - Prime Agricultural District. The A-P Prime Agricultural District is intended to preserve and protect land in the 

City historically designated as prime agricultural land in the City of Franklin’s Comprehensive Plan. The District is 

intended to preserve the natural integrity, agricultural productivity, and scenic qualities of these lands while allowing 

limited single-family residential development.  

D. Miscellaneous Districts 

1. P - Park and Open Space District. The P Park and Open Space District is intended to provide land for parks and 

recreational facilities that meet the needs of the Franklin community while also preserving the City’s natural resources, 

including rivers, woodlands, and open space. 

2. I - Institutional District. The I Institutional District is intended to allocate land for public or semi-public uses, municipal 

facilities, utilities, and noncommercial places of assembly as defined in this UDO. The district serves to accommodate 

existing and future public and semi-public uses and to allocate land separately from commercial and residential uses.  

3. L - Landfill District. The L Landfill District is intended to contain and regulate existing and former landfill uses in the 

City while mitigating their adverse impacts such as odor, noise, and traffic on the community’s commercial and 

residential areas. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 4 of 4 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

4. PDL - Planned Development Legacy District. The PDL Planned Development Legacy District includes properties 

that have been previously zoned as a "planned development district" and are governed by a unique set of regulations 

as set forth in the related planned development ordinance. Properties zoned in the Legacy Planned Development 

District will continue to operate under their specific planned unit development ordinance. No property may be rezoned 

into the Legacy Planned Development District after the date of the adoption of this chapter. 

E. Floodplain Districts. 

1. FW - Floodway District. The FW Floodway District, is the channel of a river or stream and those portions of the 

floodplain adjoining the channel required to carry the regional floodwaters, within AE Zones as shown on the FIRM, or 

within A Zones shown on the FIRM when determined according to s. 5.1(5).  

2. GFP - General Floodplain District. The GFP General Floodplain District is those riverine areas that may be covered 

by floodwater during the regional flood in which a floodway boundary has not been delineated on the FIRM and also 

includes shallow flooding areas identified as AH and AO zones on the FIRM.  

3. FF - Floodfringe District.  The GFP General Floodplain District is those riverine areas that may be covered by 

floodwater during the regional flood in which a floodway boundary has not been delineated on the FIRM and also 

includes shallow flooding areas identified as AH and AO zones on the FIRM.  

15-2-03. Official Zoning Map 

A. Official Zoning Map Established. The location and boundaries of the districts established by this UDO shall be established 

in the Zoning Map as amended, which is incorporated herein and hereby made a part of this Ordinance.  

B. District Boundary Description and Interpretation.  

1. Zoning Boundary Determination. The district boundaries shall be streets, alleys, railroads, lot lines, streams, 

floodplain boundaries, and wetland boundaries unless otherwise shown on the Zoning Map. 

2. Zoning Boundary Determination for Approximate Boundaries. Where the designation of the Official Zoning Map 

indicates that various zoning districts are approximately bounded by a street, alley, lot line, stream, floodplain 

boundary, or wetland boundary, such lot line or the centerline of such street, alley, or railroad right-of-way, or centerline 

of the main channel of such stream, the floodplain boundaries, or wetland boundaries as delineated on maps prepared 

by the City or under the Root River Watershed study, or as determined through the use of on-site wetland delineation, 

flood profiles and accompanying hydrologic and hydraulic engineering data, shall be construed to be the zoning district 

boundary line. 

3. Split Zoning of New Lots Prohibited. The split zoning of any newly created lot or parcel into more than one zoning 

district shall not be allowed except for parcels split between a district and the AO, GFP, FW, and FF Districts. 

4. Zoning of Annexed Land. Any additions to the incorporated area of the City of Franklin shall be classified in the A 

Agricultural District until otherwise classified by amendment. 

a. Annexations or Consolidations Containing Shorelands. Annexations containing shorelands shall comply with 

§ 62.231 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 

b. Annexations or Consolidations Containing Floodplains. Annexations or consolidations containing floodplains 

shall be placed in the following districts as applicable: 

i. All floodways and unnumbered A Zones on the FEMA map shall be placed in the FW Floodway District. 

ii. All other floodplains shall be placed in the GFP General Floodplain District. 

 



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 1 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

 
Article 2. Establishment of Districts 

 
15-2-01. Districts Established ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 

  ......................................................................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

15-2-02. Purpose and Intent of Districts ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

  ......................................................................................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

15-2-03. Official Zoning Map ........................................................................................................................................................... 11 

 

15-2-01. Districts Established 

A. Base Districts. 

1. Residential Districts. 

a. R-C-1 - Conservation Residence District 

b. R-1 - Countryside/Estate Single-Family Residence District 

c. R-2 - Estate Single-Family Residence District 

b. R-SE-1 - Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District 

d. R-3E - Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District 

e. R-4 - Suburban Single-Family Residence District 

f. R-5 - Suburban Single-Family Residence District 

c. R-SR2 - Suburban Single-Family Residence District 

g. R-7 - Two-Family Residence District 

d. R-MF - Multiple-Family Unit Residence DistrictR-8 Multiple-Family Residence District 

h.e. R-V-R - Village Residence District 

2. Commercial and Mixed-Use Districts. 

a. B-N1 - Neighborhood Business District 

b. B-G2 - General Business District 

c. B-R3 - Community Regional Business District 

REVIEW GUIDE 
Existing Text 
New Text 
Deleted or Moved Text 
References to be updated 
 

Style Definition: TOC 1: Tab stops:  6.49",

Right,Leader: …



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 2 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

d. B-MU4 - South 27th Street Mixed-Use District 

e. B-SMB-5 - Highway Business District 

f. B-6 - Professional Office District 

g. B-7 - South 27th Street Mixed Use Office District 

h. OL-1 - Office Overlay District 

i. OL-2 - General Business Overlay District 

j. CC - City Civic Center District 

k.e. SMHB V-B - Saint Martin’s Road Historic Business District 

3. Industrial and Agricultural Districts. 

a. B--P - Business Park District 

b. M-2 - General Industrial 

c.b. LIM-1 - Limited Industrial District 

c. A-1 - Agricultural District 

d. A-P - Agricultural Prime District 

4. Miscellaneous Districts. 

a. I-1 - Institutional District 

a. P-1 - Park and Open Space District 

b. I - Institutional District 

c. L - Landfill District 

b.d. PDL - Planned Development Legacy District PDD - Planned Development Districts 

 L-1 - Landfill District 

5. Floodplain Districts. 

a. FW -- Floodway District 

b. GFP - General Floodplain District 

c. FF -– Floodfringe District 

6. Overlay Districts. 

 AO - Airport Overlay District 

a. HPO - Historic Preservation Overlay District 

15-2-02. Purpose and Intent of Base Districts 

A. Residential Districts 



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 3 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

1. RC-1R-C - Conservation Residence District. The RC-1R-C Conservation Residence District is intended to provide 

spaceallocate land for single-family residential uses on large lots and in low-density settings. The District is further 

intended to preserve open space, sensitive natural features, and maintain the community’s rural residential setting and 

scenic viewsheds where these assets exist in the southern areas of the City. 

District Intent. The RC-1 Conservation Residence District is intended to provide for allowing a diversity of lot sizes and 

single and multiple family uses, housing choices and building densities, while protecting and restoring environmentally 

sensitive areas, in furtherance of the goals and objects of the South 27th Street Corridor Element of the 

Comprehensive Master Plan, and: 

1. To guide the detailed analysis of the development parcel so as to locate and coordinate appropriate areas for 

development and conservation. 

2. To preserve the rural character through the permanent preservation of meaningful open space and sensitive natural 

resources. 

3. To preserve scenic views by minimizing views of new development from existing roads. 

4. To provide commonly-owned open space areas for passive and/or active recreational use by residents of the 

development and, where specified, the larger community. 

5. To provide for a diversity of lot sizes, housing choices and building densities to accommodate a variety of age and 

income groups. 

6. To provide buffering between residential development and non-residential uses. 

7. To protect and restore environmentally sensitive areas and biological diversity, minimize disturbance to existing 

vegetation, and maintain environmental corridors. 

8. To preserve significant archaeological sites, historic buildings and their settings. 

9. To meet demand for housing in a rural setting. 

10. Be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities.  

2. R-1R-SE - Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District. The R-1R-SE Suburban/Estate Single-Family 

Residence District is intended to provide land for single-family residential housing in moderately-low densities and that 

is suburban or semi-rural in character. The District is further intended to preserve and protect the City’s natural 

resources, including woodlands and open spaces. 

2.  

3. District Intent. The R-3 District is intended to: 

1. Provide for the continuance of SUBURBAN/ESTATE lots as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master 

Plan and components thereof. 

2. Be used in order to protect the character of building bulk in established SUBURBAN/ESTATE residential 

neighborhoods and subdivisions. 

3. Be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities, (1) except those lots which were lot(s) of record 

existing prior to the effective date of the Unified Development Ordinance on August 1, 1998, and (2) those lot(s) of 

record created by minor division, which lot(s) of record created by minor division are served by public sanitary sewer 

and for which lot(s) the Common Council on or after August 1, 1998, has denied the extension of public water.  

4. The options in this district promote open space and natural resource base protection. These requirements will result in 

an SUBURBAN/ESTATE community character.R-2R-SR - Suburban Single-Family Residence District. The R-2R-

Formatted



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 4 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

SR Suburban Single-Family Residence District is intended to provide land for single-family suburban residential 

housing at moderately low densities. The District is designed to preserve the community’s suburban and semi-rural 

character and its open space and natural resources. The district is intended to allow infill in locations where moderately 

low-density neighborhoods exist and to allow new residential growth as the community determines is appropriate. 

A. District Intent. The R-6 District is intended to: 

1. Provide for the continuation of higher density SUBURBAN type single-family dwelling lots in areas of the City where 

such development has already occurred or where such areas are planned to develop as set forth in the City of Franklin 

Comprehensive Master Plan and components thereof. 

2. Be used in order to protect the existing character of single-family dwelling lots in established residential 

neighborhoods and subdivisions. 

3. Permit higher density SUBURBAN type single family residential development in a manner that is consistent with the 

provision of a high-quality SUBURBAN community character. 

4. Be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities, (1) except those lots which were lot(s) of record 

existing prior to the effective date of the Unified Development Ordinance on August 1, 1998, and (2) those lot(s) of 

record created by minor division, which lot(s) of record created by minor division are served by public sanitary sewer 

and for which lot(s) the Common Council on or after August 1, 1998, has denied the extension of public water.  

5. Be used as a transitional district between the less dense R-5 District and other higher density residential districts. 

The R-6 District is the most dense of the SUBURBAN single-family residence district types. 

5.3. Areas of open space may also be provided in this district in order to maintain this character. The options in this district 

promote open space protection and natural resource base protection. The requirements for the various options 

available under the provisions of this district are intended to reinforce the open nature of the City's SUBURBAN 

environment. 

4. R-MF - Multiple-Family Residence District. The R-MF Multiple-Family Residence District is intended to establish and 

preserve land for both multifamily and single-family attached residential development such as duplexes, townhomes, 

and rowhomes to accommodate a variety of households with different lifestyles, age ranges, and incomes. The District 

is intended to allow a flexible mix of scales, densities and formats throughout the community while ensuring that the 

single-family attached and multifamily residential uses enhance the character of Franklin’s residential setting, 

contribute to the community’s visual appeal, and ensure the adequate provision of open space.A. District Intent. The R-

7 District is intended to: 

1. Establish and preserve two-family residential districts in the City. 

2. Permit higher density SUBURBAN type two-family residential development in a manner that is consistent with the 

provision of a high-quality SUBURBAN community character as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master 

Plan and components thereof. 

3. Be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities. 

4. Be used as a transitional district between the less dense R-6 District and other higher density R-8 District. The R-7 

District is the least dense of the multi-family residence district types. 

Areas of open space may also be provided in this district in order to maintain this character. The options in this district 

promote open space and natural resource base protection. The requirements for the various options available under 

the provisions of this district are intended to reinforce the open nature of the City's SUBURBAN environment.A. District 

Intent. The R-8 District is intended to: 

1. Establish and preserve multi-family residential districts in the City. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 5 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

2. Permit high density URBAN type multi-family residential development in a manner that is consistent with the 

provision of a high-quality URBAN character within a SUBURBAN community character setting as set forth in the City 

of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan and components thereof. The R-8 District is the most dense of the residence 

district types. 

3. Be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities. 

4. Be used as a transitional district between the less dense R-7 District and other higher intensity commercial or 

institutional use districts with the provision of adequate landscape bufferyards. 

6.5. V-RR-V - Village Residence District. The V-RR-V Village Residence District is intended to preserve the single-family 

residential character and architectural qualities of the Saint Martin’s Historic Village Area. The District is intended to 

allow new single-family residential infill on vacant or underused sites in the Village area, provided that such 

development is consistent with the historic visual character and preserves its moderate residential density. 

A. District Intent. The VR District is intended to: 

1. Be used exclusively in the Village of St. Martins Planning District as delineated in the City of Franklin 

Comprehensive Master Plan. 

2. Prevent the Village of St. Martins area from becoming nonconforming as it would if placed under a different more 

SUBURBAN-oriented zoning district classification. 

3. Provide for the minor infilling of vacant or redevelopment areas within the unincorporated Village of St. Martins 

consistent with the requirements of this zoning district and the established community character of the Village of St. 

Martins. 

4. Permit future residential development and redevelopment of the Village of St. Martins area consistent with earlier 

approved Subdivisions and Certified Survey Maps. 

5. Be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities, (1) except those lots which were lot(s) of record 

existing prior to the effective date of the Unified Development Ordinance on August 1, 1998, and (2) those lot(s) of 

record created by minor division, which lot(s) of record created by minor division are served by public sanitary sewer 

and for which lot(s) the Common Council on or after August 1, 1998, has denied the extension of public water.  

The VR Village Residence District, as used here, is not intended to be confused with incorporated "villages" as defined 

by the Wisconsin State Statutes.Nonresidential Commercial and Mixed-Use Districts 

B.  

1. B-1B-N - Neighborhood Business District. The B-N1 Neighborhood Business District is intended to provide for the 

day-to-day retail, commercial service, and employment needs of Franklin residents, particularly the needs of the 

neighborhoods adjacent to properties in the District. The District is further intended to promote a mutually supportive 

mix of small-scale retail establishments and to ensure safe and convenient pedestrian and vehicular circulation on-site 

and between adjacent sites as redevelopment of existing sites occurs.   

A. District Intent. The B-1 Neighborhood Business District is intended to: 

1. Provide for the convenience of persons residing in nearby residential areas and is, thus, limited in its functions to 

accommodating the basic day-to-day shopping and service needs of the residents living in the adjacent areas. 

2. Allow for the clustering of buildings on parcels of land under individual or multiple ownership. 

3. Provide for an arrangement of retail trade establishments that are compatible in function and operation. 

4. Limit building height to not exceed two stories in order to assist in assuring compatibility with surrounding land uses 

of a lesser intensity. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 6 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

While the off-street parking requirements for the B-1 District have a tendency to promote an AUTO-URBAN character, 

the various other requirements of the B-1 District are established to increase its compatibility with a SUBURBAN 

character as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. 

2. B-G2 - General Business District. The B-G2 General Business District is intended to promote a variety of commercial 

service and retail uses along the City’s major roadways. The District is intended to allow moderately large-scale 

development that serves the general population of Franklin. It is further intended to promote commercial development 

in visually appealing plaza formats that promote safe and convenient pedestrian travel on sites and between adjacent 

sites and neighborhoods. 

A. District Intent. The B-2 General Business District is intended to: 

1. Provide for the orderly and attractive development and grouping, in appropriate and convenient locations, of small-

lot business activities of a general nature. 

2. Limit building height to not exceed two stories in order to assist in assuring compatibility with surrounding land uses 

of a lesser intensity. 

3. Provide adequate on-site parking and loading areas to such business activities. 

While the off-street parking requirements for the B-2 District have a tendency to promote an AUTO-URBAN character, 

the various other requirements of the B-2 District are established to increase its compatibility with a SUBURBAN 

character as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. 

3. Community B-R3 - Regional Business District. The B-R3 Regional Business District is intended to promote a variety 

of commercial service and retail uses along the City’s major roadways to serve the needs of Franklin residents as well 

as a regional consumer market beyond the City’s borders. Moderately large-scale development should be configured 

with groups of large-lot commercial structures with outlot commercial buildings surrounding shared parking areas and 

should provide safe and convenient pedestrian travel on-site, and when practicable, between other sites and 

neighborhoods. 

  

 A District Intent. The B-3 Community Business district is intended to: 

 2. Provide for relatively large groupings of retail sales and customer service establishments in a community-serving 

shopping area. 

3. Accommodate the clustering of buildings on parcels of land under individual or multiple ownership. 

4. Provide for an arrangement of retail trade establishments that are compatible in function and operation. 

5. Provide on-site parking for customer automobiles combined with a pedestrian-oriented shopping environment. 

While the off-street parking requirements for the B-3 District have a tendency to promote an AUTO-URBAN character, 

the various other requirements of the B-3 District are established to increase its compatibility with a SUBURBAN 

character as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. 

3.  

4. B-MU4 - South 27th Street Mixed-Use District. The B-MU4 South 27th Street Mixed-Use District is intended to provide 

land for a mutually-supportive combination of retail, commercial, office, and compact residential uses in buildings’ 

upper floors along South 27th Street. Development is configured inin multi-building plaza formats and on relatively large 

sites. The District is intended to facilitate gGreater densities of retail, commercial, office, and residential uses than in 

the B-1 through B-3 Districts, given South 27th Street’s direct access to bus transit. The,  and development should 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering

Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned

at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Superscript

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Superscript



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 7 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

further be arranged in cohesivevely planned plaza formatsdevelopments that facilitate convenient vehicle and 

pedestrian travel and enhance the corridor’s appearance.  

4.  

A. District Intent. The B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use District is intended to provide for the development of certain 

mixed uses, including retail, commercial, office and residential development, in furtherance of the goals and objectives 

of the South 27th Street Corridor Element of the Comprehensive Master Plan and: 

1. Require that future land division be limited, such that no new lots are created that are smaller than two acres in size.  

2. Require that no new lots of record for the development of new One-family detached dwellings or Two-family 

attached dwellings be created after the effective date of this ordinance. 

[Amended 5-19-2015 by Ord. No. 2015-2176] 

3. Require that new residential development meet the R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District Development Standards 

in Table 15-3.0209. 

4. Require that cross-access for both pedestrian and vehicular circulation is provided between adjacent parcels at the 

time of any new development or redevelopment. In cases where existing development on adjacent parcels, not under 

common ownership, does not allow for the actual construction of connecting driveways, sidewalks, etc. it shall be 

sufficient in most cases to provide the appropriate cross-access easements to to be utilized at the point in time when 

the adjacent parcel undergoes development or redevelopment that would facilitate the completion of the connection. 

The city may require a letter of credit sufficient to ensure the construction of the future pedestrian and vehicular 

connection when actual construction is not taking place at the time of site plan approval. 

5. Require special use approval for all new buildings greater than 40,000 square feet in area, whether single-tenant or 

multi-tenant spaces. 

6. Single retail establishments are limited to tenant space of 80,000 square feet or less in area. 

7. Be served by public sanitary sewer and water supply facilities. 

8. A Special Use lawfully existing within the area of this District prior to and upon the creation of this District shall 

remain as such Special Use and a conforming use, with any future amendment to the Special Use Permission, to be 

granted only upon the consideration of all applicable standards for the review and approval of Special Uses, and the 

District Intent and District Standards in this Section. 

5. While the off-street parking requirements for the B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use District have a tendency to promote 

an AUTO-URBAN character, the various other requirements of the B-4 South 27th Street Mixed use District are 

established to increase its compatibility with an URBAN character as set forth in the City of Franklin 27th Street 

Corridor Plan.B-SMVB - Village Business District. The B-SMVB Village Business District is intended to promote a 

mix of commercial retail,  and service, and upper-floor residential uses in the historic Saint Martin’s Village area while 

maintaining the area’s traditional character and built form. The District is designed to preserve historic structures while 

allowing infill development on underused sites that is consistent with the area’s built characteristics and architectural 

qualities. Development should continue to be formatted in small lots and buildings should be placed relatively near 

front lot lines to preserve the area’s walkablepedestrian-oriented character. 

 A. District Intent. The B-5 Highway Business District is intended to: 

1. Accommodate automobile-oriented sales and service establishments. 

2. Provide for relatively small retail sales and service establishments which are dependent upon an abutting highway 

for business purposes. All property in the B-5 District shall abut either a U.S. or State Trunk designated highway. 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering

Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned

at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 8 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

3. Be characterized by business establishments that have on-site parking for customer automobiles. 

4. Provide for an arrangement of retail trade establishments that are compatible in function and operation. 

6. While the off-street parking requirements for the B-5 District have a tendency to promote an AUTO-URBAN 

character, the various other requirements of the B-5 District are established to increase its compatibility with a 

SUBURBAN character as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. 

5.  

C. Industrial and Agricultural Districts. 

1. B-P - Business Park District. The B-P Business Park District is intended to promote a flexible mix of light industrial, 

research, and office uses in a campus like setting. Uses are conducted primarily indoors and do not have the potential 

to generate nuisances to adjoining properties. Circulation systems should be integrated into the site in a cohesive 

manner to ensure convenient pedestrian and vehicular travel. 

A. District Intent. The BP Business Park District is intended to: 

1. Be applied to those areas of the City identified for business park development by the adopted City of Franklin 

Comprehensive Master Plan. 

2. Provide for the development of the attractive groupings of office, manufacturing, industrial, and limited ancillary 

service uses which serve the needs of the occupants of the BP Business Park District. 

3. Foster uses of a limited intensity. 

4. Provide an aesthetically pleasing environment. 

5. Provide for ample off-street parking and loading areas and landscape planting and screening of adjacent land uses 

of a lower intensity. 

6. Accommodate industrial or business parks under unified design and ownership which exceed 20 acres in area. 

2. LIM-1 - Limited ManufacturingIndustrial District. The LIM-1 Limited ManufacturingIndustrial District is intended to 

provide land for manufacturing, industrial, warehousing, and similar uses of a limited scale and intensity. The district is 

intended to ensure that the that the manufacturingsupport employment opportunities in the City is offered while 

maintaining the community’s natural resources and neighborhood character is maintained. 

A. District Intent. The M-1 Limited Industrial District is intended to: 

1. Provide for manufacturing, industrial, warehousing, and uses of a limited nature and size in locations where the 

relative proximity to other uses requires more restrictive regulation. 

2. Accommodate existing scattered uses of an industrial nature so as not to make them nonconforming uses. 

The M-1 District is not intended to accommodate industrial or business parks under unified design and ownership 

which exceed 20 acres in area. The community character of the M-1 District is SUBURBAN as set forth in the City of 

Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan 

3. A-1 - Agricultural District. The A-1 Agricultural District is intended to preserve the City’s lands in the City historically 

used for small farming operations engaged in crop production, the raising of livestock, the cultivation of orchards, 

single-family housing and other small-scale agricultural activities. The district also accommodates limited single-family 

housing. The District is intended to preserve the large contiguous parcels of land that are characteristic of the 

community’s rural areas. 

3.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering

Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned

at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or

numbering

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +

Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 3 + Alignment:

Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 9 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

  

A. District Intent. The A-1 Agricultural District is intended to: 

1. Provide for, maintain, preserve, and enhance agricultural lands historically utilized for crop production but 

which are not included within the A-2 Prime Agricultural District and which are generally best suited for 

smaller farm units, including truck farming, horse farming, hobby farming, orchards, and other similar 

agricultural-related activity. 

2. Retain the COUNTRYSIDE and RURAL character of areas of the City of Franklin in which the A-1 District is 

used as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. In addition, certain RURAL uses are 

permitted in the district. 

4. A-P - Prime Agricultural District. The A-P Prime Agricultural District is intended to preserve and protect land in the 

City historically designated as prime agricultural land in the City of Franklin’s Comprehensive Plan. The District is 

intended to preserve the natural integrity, agricultural productivity, and scenic qualities of these lands while allowing 

limited single-family residential development.  

District Intent. The A-2 Prime Agricultural District is intended to: 

1. Maintain, enhance, and preserve agricultural lands historically utilized for the production and raising of livestock.  

2. Prevent the premature conversion of agricultural land to scattered URBAN and SUBURBAN uses such as residential, 

commercial, and industrial uses. 

3. Be used and limited to those lands shown as "Prime Agricultural Land" on the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. 

4. Retain the COUNTRYSIDE and RURAL character of areas of the City of Franklin in which the A-2 District is used as set forth 

in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan. 

D. Miscellaneous Districts 

1. P-1 - Park and Open Space District. The P-1 Park and Open Space District is intended to provide land for parks and 

recreational facilities that meet the recreational needs of the Franklin community while also preserving the City’s 

natural resources, including rivers, woodlands, and open space. 

1. District Intent. The P-1 Park District is intended to provide for areas where the recreational needs, both public and 

private, of the populace can be met without undue disturbance of natural resources and adjacent uses. 

2. I-1 - Institutional District. The I-1 Institutional District is intended to allocate land for public or semi-public uses, 

municipal facilities, utilities, and noncommercial places of assembly as defined in this UDO. The district serves to 

accommodate existing and future public and semi-public uses and to allocate land separately from commercial and 

residential uses.District Intent. The I-1 Institutional District is intended to: Eliminate the ambiguity of maintaining, in 

unrelated use districts, areas which are under public or public-related ownership and where the use for public, or quasi-

public purpose, is anticipated to be permanent. 

3. Accommodate a maximum permitted building height of three stories. 

4.2. The resulting character of this district would be SUBURBAN as set forth in the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master 

Plan. 

3. L-1 - Landfill District. The L-1 Landfill District is intended to contain and regulate existing and former landfill uses in 

the City while mitigating their adverse impacts such as odor, noise, and traffic on the community’s commercial and 

residential areas. 

 A. District Intent. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  -0.25", Numbered + Level: 1

+ Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment:

Left + Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering

Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 3 + Alignment: Left +

Aligned at:  0" + Indent at:  0.25", Tab stops:  2.36", Left

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering

Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned

at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering

Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 3 + Alignment: Left +

Aligned at:  0" + Indent at:  0.25"



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 10 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

 1. The L-1 Landfill District is intended to regulate land use at existing, as well as former landfill sites in the City of Franklin. 

 2. The L-1 District is not intended to accommodate new landfill sites in the City of Franklin. 

 The implementing zoning ordinance requirements of the L-1 District address safety issues pertaining to landfills, protection 

of the natural resource base, minimization of adverse impacts upon surrounding and areawide land uses, aesthetics of the 

landfill site and surrounding environs, landscaping, noise, and traffic impacts upon the street and highway system serving 

the L-1 District. Landfill restoration requirements are set forth in the implementing zoning regulations. The minimum L-1 

District size shall be 160 acres. 

2.4. PDL - Planned Development Legacy District. The PDL Planned Development Legacy Ddistrict includes properties 

that have been previously zoned as a "planned development district" and are governed by a unique set of regulations 

as set forth in the specificrelated planned development ordinance. Properties zoned in the Legacy Planned 

Development District will continue to operate under their specific planned unit development ordinance. No property 

may be rezoned into the Legacy Planned Development District after the date of the adoption of this chapter. 

E. Floodplain Districts. 

3.1. FW - Floodway District. The FW Floodway District, is the channel of a river or stream and those portions of the 

floodplain adjoining the channel required to carry the regional floodwaters, within AE Zones as shown on the FIRM, or 

within A Zones shown on the FIRM when determined according to s. 5.1(5). The FW Floodway District is intended to 

be used to protect people and property from flood damage by prohibiting the erection of structures that would impede 

the flow of water during periodic flooding. Permitting use of the floodway would increase damages in the broader 

floodplain by increasing flood stages. In delineating the FW District, the effects of development within the associated 

flood fringe shall be computed utilizing the single degree of encroachment principle. Flood stage increases equal to or 

greater than 0.01 foot in height shall not be permitted unless the applicant has made appropriate legal arrangements 

with all affected units of government and all property owners affected by the stage increase, and until all such affected 

units of government have amended their water surface profiles and floodplain zoning maps to reflect the increased 

flood elevations. 

4.2. FC Floodplain Conservancy DistrictGFP - General Floodplain District. The GFP General Floodplain District is 

those riverine areas that may be covered by floodwater during the regional flood in which a floodway boundary has not 

been delineated on the FIRM and also includes shallow flooding areas identified as AH and AO zones on the FIRM. 

The FC Floodplain Conservancy District is intended to preserve in essentially open space and natural uses lands 

which are unsuitable for intensive URBAN development purposes due to poor natural soil conditions and periodic flood 

inundations. The proper regulation of these areas will serve to maintain and improve water quality, prevent flood 

damage, protect wildlife habitat, and prohibit the location of structures on soils which are generally not suitable for such 

use. In delineating the FC District, consideration shall be given to maintaining flood storage capacity and preventing 

significant increases in the flood discharges identified in applicable floodplain studies. No increase in the regional flood 

elevation shall be permitted that is equal to or greater than 0.01 foot unless the applicant has made appropriate legal 

arrangements with all affected units of government and all property owners affected by the increase in elevation, and 

all such affected units of government have amended their water surface profiles and floodplain zoning maps to reflect 

the increased flood elevations. 

5.3. FF - Floodplain Fringe OverlayFloodfringe District.  The GFP General Floodplain District is those riverine areas that 

may be covered by floodwater during the regional flood in which a floodway boundary has not been delineated on the 

FIRM and also includes shallow flooding areas identified as AH and AO zones on the FIRM. The FFO Floodplain 

Fringe Overlay District is intended to provide for and encourage the most appropriate use of land and water in areas 

subject to periodic flooding and to minimize flood damage to people and property. The FFO Floodplain Fringe Overlay 

District is an overlay zoning district that imposes certain additional requirements on the underlying basic zoning district 

without disturbing the requirements of the basic district. In the instance of conflicting requirements, the more restrictive 

of the conflicting requirements shall apply. 

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering

Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 3 + Alignment: Left +

Aligned at:  0" + Indent at:  0.25"

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 11 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

15-2-03. Overlay Districts. 

 AO - Airport Overlay District. The AO Airport Overlay District is intended to allow for the 

coordination, planning and development of land uses near General Mitchell Field, to control 

conflicts with adjoining residential and commercial uses, and to mitigate airport-related impacts 

such as noise. 

 A. District Intent. The AO Airport Overlay District is intended to: 

 1. Allow for the coordination, planning, and development of land uses in the vicinity of General 

Mitchell Field, but limits uses and requires noise protection. 

 2. Control conflicts between land uses and noise generated by aircraft and to protect the public 

health, safety, and welfare from the adverse impacts associated with excessive noise. 

 3. Ensure that land uses in the airport noise impact area are mutually compatible with airport 

noise. 

 4. Provide acoustical performance standards. 

 5. Be in addition to and shall overlay all other zoning districts where it is applied so that any 

parcel of land or lot lying in the AO District shall also lie in one or more of the other zoning 

districts. The effect is to create a zoning district which has the characteristics and limitations of 

the underlying district, together with the characteristics and limitations of the AO District. 

 6. Provide adequate notice to land owners and prospective land owners that airport operations 

should be considered as possibly affecting the use of property within the AO Airport Overlay 

District. 

 7. Regulate land uses within designated existing or projected airport impact areas by providing 

height restrictions which will assure safe, unobstructed access for all aircraft which enter and 

exit General Mitchell Field. 

15-2-04.15-2-03. Official Zoning Map 

A. Official Zoning Map Established. The location and boundaries of the districts established by this Ordinance UDO are shall 

be set forthestablished in the Official Zoning Map, dated July 1, 1998, and as amended, which is incorporated herein and 

hereby made a part of this Ordinance. The Official Zoning Map shall consist of a series of one inch equals 100 feet scale 

maps for each U. S. Public Land Survey quarter-section in the City of Franklin, Wisconsin. These maps, together with 

everything shown thereon, and all amendments thereto, shall be as much a part of this Ordinance as though fully set forth 

and described herein. 

B. District Boundary Description and Interpretation.  

1. Zoning Boundary Determination. The zoning district boundaries are shall be streets, alleys, railroads, lot lines, 

streams, floodplain boundaries, and wetland boundaries unless otherwise shown on the Official Zoning Map. 

2. Zoning Boundary Determination for Approximate Boundaries. Where the designation of the Official Zoning Map 

indicates that various zoning districts are approximately bounded by a street, alley, lot line, stream, floodplain 

Formatted: Heading 1,  No bullets or numbering



 

City of Franklin  Article 2. Establishment of Districts 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 12 of 12 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY Formatted: Pattern: Clear (Dark Blue)

boundary, or wetland boundary, such lot line or the centerline of such street, alley, or railroad right-of-way, or centerline 

of the main channel of such stream, the floodplain boundaries, or wetland boundaries as delineated on maps prepared 

by the City or under the Root River Watershed study, or as determined through the use of on-site wetland delineation, 

flood profiles and accompanying hydrologic and hydraulic engineering data, shall be construed to be the zoning district 

boundary line. 

3. Split Zoning of Newly Created Lots Not AllowedProhibited. The split zoning of any newly created lot or parcel into 

more than one zoning district shall not be allowed except for parcels split between a district and the AO, GFP, FW, and 

FC, FFO, and SW Districts, and for and upon an application for certified survey map approval for the purpose of 

providing additional land to an adjoining tax incremental district mixed-use development including industrial and 

commercial uses, where lots are being created from a parcel or parcels, upon which there exists an established 

residential dwelling building use, such established use parcel or parcels not being the subject of current further 

development application, for such remaining established residential dwelling building use parcel or parcels only. 

3.4. Zoning of Annexed Land. Any additions to the incorporated area of the City of Franklin, resulting from disconnections 

from incorporated areas in Milwaukee County, Waukesha County, Racine County or otherwise,  shall be automatically 

classified in the A-1 Agricultural District until otherwise classified by amendment. 

a. Annexations or Consolidations Containing Shorelands. Annexations containing shorelands shall comply with 

§ 62.231 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 

b. Annexations or Consolidations Containing Floodplains. Annexations or consolidations containing floodplains 

shall be placed in the following districts as applicable: 

i. All floodways and unnumbered A Zones on the FEMA map shall be placed in the FW Floodway District. 

ii. All other floodplains shall be placed in the FC Floodplain ConservancyGFP General Floodplain District. 

Annexations or Consolidations Containing Shoreland Wetlands. Annexations or consolidations containing shoreland 

wetlands shall be placed in the SW Shoreland Wetland Overlay District. 

 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 1 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

 
Article 3. District Specific Standards  
 

 Bulk and Dimensional Standards ....................................................................................................................................... 1 
 Calculating Dimensional Standards.................................................................................................................................... 2 
 Exceptions to Bulk and Dimensional Standards ................................................................................................................. 3 
 Permitted, Limited, Conditional, and Temporary Uses. ...................................................................................................... 4 
 B-SM - Saint Martin’s Road Historic Business District Specific Standards. ....................................................................... 8 
 FF Floodfringe District and GFP General Floodplain District. ............................................................................................ 9 

 

 Bulk and Dimensional Standards 

A. Residential District Bulk and Dimensional Standards. Table 15-3.0100(A) establishes the bulk and dimensional 
requirements for development or the use of a lot in each residential district. 

 

  

Standard R-C R-SE R-SR R-M R-V

Lot Area (sqft) 10,000 18,000 10,000 12,000(1) 7,200
Lot Area / DU (sqft)(2) -- -- -- 4,500 --
Lot Width (ft) 60 90 80 100 60

Front (ft) 25 45 30 15 25
Street Side (ft) 15 35 20 10 15
Interior Side (ft) 5 10 10 5 5
Rear (ft) 25(3) 30(3) 30(3) 15(3) 25(3)

Height Building (ft) 35 35 35 35 35
Impervious Surface Coverage (%) 20 40 50 60 40
Notes

(3) Minimum setback of 10 feet shall be allowed for garages.

Table 15-3-01(A): Residential District Bulk and Dimensional Standards

Lot Standards (Minimum) 

Yard Setbacks (Minimum)

Building Standards (Maximum)

(1) A lot area of 6,000 square feet shall be allowed for duplex structures with a parti wall.
(2) Lot area per dwelling unit requirements shall apply in addition to the baseline lot area requirement for each additional 
dwelling unit on a lot over one.



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 2 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

B. Nonresidential and Mixed-Use District Bulk and Dimensional Standards. Table 15-3.0100 (B) establishes the bulk and 
dimensional requirements for development or uses of a parcel in each nonresidential or mixed-use district. 

 

 Calculating Dimensional Standards 

A. Lot Width. Lot width shall be measured as the distance between the side lot lines of a lot at right angles to its depth along a 
straight line parallel to the front lot line. 

B. Lot Widths for Lots that Abut a Cul-de-Sac. The lot width of all lots which abut a cul-de-sac may be reduced by a 
maximum of twenty (20) percent of the required lot width for the district in which it is located. The required lot width for the 
district shall be met at the front yard setback line.  

C. Yard Setbacks.  

1. A required yard setback shall be measured as the horizontal distance from the center point of the applicable lot line 
into the interior of the lot for the minimum distance specified in Table 15-3.0100(A) or Table 15-3.0100(B). 

2. The span of a yard setback shall be measured as follows. 

a. Front Yard. From the interior side lot line to the other interior side lot line or street side lot line as applicable. 

b. Street Side Yard. From the front yard setback line to the rear lot line. 

c. Interior Side Yard. From the front yard setback line to the rear yard setback line. 

d. Rear Yard. 

I. From the interior side lot line to the other interior side lot line; or  

II. From the interior side lot line to the street side yard setback line.  

Standard B-N B-G B-R B-MU B-SM B-P LI A A-P I P

Lot Area (acres) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 3 35 n/a n/a
Lot Width (ft) 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 200 300 50 50
Lot Depth (ft) 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110

Front (ft) 25 25 40 30(1) 10 50 30 50 50 30 50
Street Side (ft) 25 25 40 30(1) 15 50 30 50 50 20 50
Interior Side (ft) 10 10 10 10(1) 5 20 20 25 25 10 20
Rear (ft) 20 20 20 30(1) 20 40 15 50 50 30 50

Height Building (ft) 40 40 50 50(2) 40 95 45 35 35 45 40
Impervious Surface Coverage (%) 60 70 70 70 90 60 70 n/a n/a 60 n/a
Notes

(2) An additional ten (10) feet of building height shall be allowed when at least 15% of dwelling units on site are deed restricted to be 
affordable relative to 80% the Milwaukee County Area Median Household Income. A minimum of 1 total dwelling unit shall be 
provided on site to qualify.

(1) 40% of the required setback may be reduced when at least 15% of dwelling units on site are deed restricted to be affordable 
relative to 80% of the Milwaukee County Area Median Household Income. A minimum of 1 total dwelling units shall be provided on 
site to qualify.

Table 15-3-01(B): Mixed-Use and Nonresidential District Bulk and Dimensional Standards

Lot Standards (Minimum) 

Yard Setbacks (Minimum)

Building Standards (Maximum)



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 3 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

D. Height. Building height shall be the vertical distance measured from the mean elevation of the finished lot grade along the 
building frontage to the highest elevation of the roof. 

E. Impervious Surface Coverage. The portion of a lot that is not covered with soil or natural vegetation. Such surfaces 
include areas covered by buildings, porches, decks, patios, terraces, and swimming pools, and also include surfaces 
constructed of asphalt, concrete, gravel composite, brick, stone, tile or any other paving material used for parking, 
driveways and walkways. 

 Exceptions to Bulk and Dimensional Standards 

A. Height Exceptions. The following structures may exceed the height limitations established in Table ##-### and ##-### as 
follows.  

1. Architectural Projections. Architectural projections such as antennae, spires, steeples, belfries, parapet walls, 
cupolas, domes, flues, and chimneys may exceed the height limit for the district to provide for projections usual and 
customary to the proposed use. 

2. Special Structures. Structures such as elevator penthouses, mechanical penthouses, gas tanks, grain elevators, 
observation towers, and scenery lofts, manufacturing equipment and necessary appurtenances, cooling towers, fire 
towers, substations, and smoke stacks are exempt from the height limitations of this UDO provided the structures are 
an integral part of and do not detract from the design of the principal structure as approved by the Plan Commission 
and/or Architectural Board.  

3. Essential Services, Utilities, Water Towers, and Electric Power and Communication Transmission Lines. 
Essential services, utilities, water towers, and electric power and communication transmission lines are exempt from 
the height limitations of this Ordinance. Building-mounted earth station dish antennas shall not exceed the maximum 
height regulation of the district in which they are located. 

4. Agricultural Structures. Agricultural structures, such as barns, silos, windmills, shall not exceed in height twice their 
distance from the nearest lot line.  

5. Public or Semipublic Facilities. Public or semipublic facilities, such as schools, churches, hospitals, monuments, 
sanatoriums, libraries, and governmental offices and stations, may be erected to a height of sixty (60) feet, provided all 
required yard setbacks are increased not less than one (1) foot for each foot the structure exceeds the district's 
maximum height requirement. 

6. Modification of Other Ordinances and Regulations Not Permitted Under this Division. Modifications permitted 
under this Division of this Ordinance do not modify any requirements of federal, State, or local building codes relating 
to the elements addressed in this Division of this Ordinance. 

B. Yard Setback Exceptions. Obstructions into the yard setback requirements specified in Section ##-### and ##-### may 
be permitted as follows. 

1. Uncovered Stairs, Landings, and Fire Escapes. Uncovered stairs, landings, and fire escapes may project a 
maximum of six (6) feet into a required yard setback and shall not be closer than three (3) feet to any lot line. 

2. Architectural Projections. Architectural projections including chimneys, flues, sills, eaves, belt courses, and 
ornamental features, may project a maximum of two (2) feet into a required yard setback. Bay windows may project a 
maximum of three (3) feet into a required yard setback.  

3. Accessibility Structures. ADA accessible wheelchair ramps and other features designed to promote universal access 
on the subject site may project into a required yard setback but shall be located at least three (3) feet from any lot line. 

4. Utility and Electric Power and Communication Transmission Lines. Utility and electric power and communication 
transmission lines are exempt from the yard setback and distance requirements of this Ordinance. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 4 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

5. Terraces, Patios, Uncovered Decks. Terraces, patios, uncovered decks, and ornamental features which do not 
extend more than three (3) feet above or below the adjacent grade may project a maximum of ten (10) feet into any 
required yard setback, however any such structure shall be setback at least five (5) feet from any property line. 

6. Lampposts and Flagpoles. Lampposts with a maximum height of ten (10) feet and flag poles with a maximum height 
of thirty five (35) feet may project into required yard setbacks, however any such structure shall be set back at least 
five (5) feet from any property line. 

7. Air Conditioning Units. Air conditioning units may project up to five (5) feet into a required side or rear yard setback 
but shall not be closer than five (5) feet from any property line. 

8. Below-Ground Stairways and Windows. Stairways and windows that are constructed entirely below the site’s 
finished grade may project into any required yard setback.  

9. Fences. Fences may be located in required yard setbacks as specified in Section 15-5-##. 

10. Rainwater Harvesting Structures. Rainwater harvesting structures with two-hundred (200) gallons or less of storage 
may project into a required side or rear yard setback but shall not be closer than five (5) feet from any property line. 
Rainwater harvesting structures with over two-hundred (200) gallons of capacity meet the location standards for 
accessory structures in Section ##-#-##. In no instance shall an underground rainwater harvesting structure be within 
five (5) feet of an easement.  

a. If rain water harvesting structures are to be buried they shall be considered stormwater and shall conform to the 
requirements of SPS 382. A plumbing permit shall be required. Rain water harvesting structures located above 
ground shall not require a plumbing permit and shall not be required to confirm with the requirements of SPS 382. 

b. All rainwater harvesting structure shall be adequately maintained and in functional condition and shall meet the 
applicable standards of Section 190-24 of the Franklin municipal code. 

 Permitted, Limited, Conditional, and Temporary Uses. 

A. The following key shall be used in the interpretation of Table 15-3.0400(B) and (C).  

1. Permitted Uses. Uses which are marked as “P” in the table shall be allowed subject to all applicable regulations of this 
UDO. 

2. Conditional Uses. Uses which are marked as “C” in the table shall be allowed upon the approval of a Conditional Use 
Permit as detailed in Section ##-#-##. 

3. Temporary Uses. Uses which are marked “T” in the tables shall be allowed upon the approval of a Temporary Use 
Permit as detailed in Section ##-#-## 

4. Prohibited Uses. A blank space in the tables indicates that a use type is not allowed in the respective zoning district 
unless it is otherwise expressly allowed by other regulations of this UDO. 

5. Uses Not Listed. If a proposed use is not listed in the tables, the Zoning Administrator shall determine if the use is 
substantially similar to a use listed on the tables per Section ##-#-##. If it is, they shall treat the use in the same 
manner as the substantially similar use. If not, the use shall be regarded as prohibited. 

6. Additional Regulation. If a use has use specific standards they are highlighted in green. Use specific standards shall 
apply to permitted, conditional, and temporary uses. 

B. Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Residential Districts.  



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 5 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(B): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Residential Districts 
Use R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Residential  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Community Living, 1-15 Persons P P P P P 
Community Living, 16 + Persons C C C C C 
Single-Family P P P   P 
Mobile/Manufactured Home Park, Existing Prior to this UDO       P   
Dwelling Duplex     C P   
Dwelling Townhome       P   
Dwelling Multifamily Building       P   
Dwelling Multifamily Complex        P   
Senior Housing, Assisted Living C C C C C 
Senior Housing, Nursing Care C C C C C 
Senior Housing, Total Life Care       C   
Institutional  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Educational Facility  C C C C C 
Place of Assembly R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Noncommercial Place of Assembly, ###### sqft or less P P P P P 
Noncommercial Place of Assembly, more than ###### sqft  C C C C C 
Recreation, Amusement, and Lodging  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Lodging House P P P P P 
Short Term Rental  P P P P P 
Agricultural  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Community Garden P P P P P 
Crop Production C         
Indoor Agriculture C         
Telecommunications Tower C C C C C 
Accessory  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Accessory Dwelling, Detached/Attached C C C C C 
Accessory Dwelling, Internal P P P P P 
Accessory Structure P P P P P 
Artisan Workshop  P P P P P 
Home Based Business P P P P P 
Solar Energy Collection System, canopy P P P P P 
Solar Energy Collection System, ground mounted P P P P P 
Solar Energy Collection System, roof mounted P P P P P 
Temporary R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 
Construction Related  T T T T T 
Food Truck  T T T T T 

  
 

C. Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 6 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(C): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts 

Use 
B-
N 

B-
G 

B-
R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Residential  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Single-Family       P P     P P         
Multifamily, above ground floor only P P P P P                 

Institutional  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Educational Facility                      C     
Governmental Uses                     C     
Health Care Facility  P P P P     P       C     
Cemetery                     C     

Place of Assembly B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Indoor Commercial Place of Assembly, 
###### sqft or less P P P P P     C C C P     
Indoor Commercial Place of Assembly, 
more than ###### sqft  C P P P C     C C C P     
Outdoor Commercial Place of Assembly  C C C C C     C C C P     
Noncommercial Place of Assembly, 
###### sqft or less               C C C P     
Noncommercial Place of Assembly, more 
than ###### sqft                C C C P     

Recreation, Amusement, and Lodging  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Campground               C C       P 
Lodging House               P P         
Hotel  C C C C                   
Motel   C                       
Recreation Area                         P 
Short-Term Rental          C     P P         

Retail  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Adult Establishment             C             
General Retail, ###### sqft or less P P P P P                 
General Retail, more than ###### sqft  S P P P C                 
Multitenant Shopping Center C C C C                   
Wholesale Establishment             C             

Service  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Animal Boarding Facility/Kennel and/or 
Veterinary Service C C         C C           
General Service, ###### sqft or less P P P P P                 
General Service, more than ###### sqft  S P P P C P               
Financial Institution  P P P P   P               
Funeral Home C C                       
Office, above ground floor only       P P                 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 7 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(C): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts 

Use 
B-
N 

B-
G 

B-
R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Office, ###### sqft or less P P P P P P               
Office, more than ###### sqft P P P P   P               
Office Complex/Business Park           P               

Eating and Drinking B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Bar/Tavern P P P P P                 
Brewery/Winery/Distillery             C             
Brewery/Winery/Distillery Tasting Room P P P P P                 
Food Truck Court  C C C C C C               
Micro Brewery/Winery/Distillery   P P P P                 
Restaurant P P P P P                 

Vehicle Related B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Auto Sales/Rental and Service    C C       P             
Carwash    C C       P             
Major Automotive Repair      C       P             
Minor Automotive Repair     P       P             
Vehicle Fuel Sales   C C       P             

Agricultural  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Community Garden               P P         
Crop Production               P P         
Animal Husbandry                P P         
Indoor Agriculture             P P P         
Nursery Retail P P P         P P         
Nursery Wholesale                P P         

Industrial  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Artisan Manufacturing P P P P P                 
Brewery/Winery/Distillery              P C C         
Composting Facility              C C C         
Distribution Facility              C             
Equipment Rental, Sales, and Service  P P P       P             
Extractive Industry              C C           
Heavy Industry              C           P 
Home Improvement Center/ Lumberyard P P P       P             
Landfill                       C   
Light Industry              C             
Recycling Facility                     C C   
Salvage Yard             C         P    
Self-Service Storage Facility      C       C             
Solid Waste Facility             C         C   
Storage Yard             C             



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 8 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(C): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts 

Use 
B-
N 

B-
G 

B-
R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Warehouse             C             

Utility and Transportation B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Airport/ Heliport                     C     
Helistop   C C C   C         C     
Loading Areas and Parking Areas as a 
Principal Use                         P 
Railroad Use                     C     
Sanitary Sewer or Water Supply Lines                         C 
Solar Farm                C C         
Telecommunications Tower C C C C C C C C C C C C   
Wastewater Treatment Ponds and 
Facilities                         P 
Waterborne Transportation Uses                         P 
Wind Farm                C C         

Accessory  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Accessory Retail P P P P P P C             
Accessory Structure P P P P P P P P P P P P   
Artisan Workshop                P P         
Drive Through  C C C C                   
Donation Drop Box C C C C     C             
Outdoor Activity/Operation/Storage             C             
Outdoor Dining  P P P P P                 
Outdoor Display/Sale of Merchandise P P P P P                 
Solar Energy Collection System, canopy P P P P P P P P P P P P   
Solar Energy Collection System, ground 
mounted C C C C C C C C C C C C   
Solar Energy Collection System, roof 
mounted P P P P P P P P P P P P   

Temporary B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Construction Related  T T T T T T T T T T T T   
Farmers Market T T T T T     T T         
Food Truck  T T T T T T   T T         
Seasonal Sales  T T T T T     P P         

  

 

 B-SM - Saint Martin’s Road Historic Business District Specific Standards. 

A. Canopies and Awnings. 

1. Building canopies, awnings, or similar weather protection devices are encouraged on the first floor of all buildings. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 9 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

2. If provided, the device shall project a minimum of three (3) feet and a maximum of five (5) feet from the façade to which 
it is affixed. 

B. Building Frontage. The primary façade of all nonresidential and mixed-use development shall meet the standards of one 
(1) of the frontage types detailed in subsection one through four below. The use of the resulting front yards or porches for 
outdoor dining or other activity generating uses that support the subject lot’s principal use is encouraged. 

1. Projecting Porch. The primary façade of the building shall be sufficiently set back from the property line to 
accommodate the projecting porch within the front yard setback. The resulting front yard may or may not be defined by 
a fence or hedge to spatially maintain the edge of the street. The projecting porch shall be open on three (3) sides and 
have a roof form that shall be separate from the principal structure. A projecting porch may encroach into a required 
front yard setback to a maximum extent of ten (10) feet. The following minimum standards shall apply to projecting 
porches. 

a. Width. Ten (10) feet 

b. Depth. Eight (8) feet 

c. Height. Eight (8) feet 

2. Storefront. The primary façade of the building shall adjoin the required minimum front setback. Accordion-style 
windows and doors or other operable windows are encouraged. The following standards shall apply to shopfronts. 

a. Window Area. Sixteen (16) square feet 

b. Window Width. Three (3) feet 

c. Window Height. Four (4) feet 

d. Sill Height. Three (3) feet 

C. Entrance Orientation. Main entrances to buildings shall be oriented toward the primary street adjoining the subject 
property. Secondary entrances are encouraged along secondary streets or along building frontages not adjoining a street. 

D. Parking Location. Off-street parking spaces and lots shall be located to the rear or interior side of the principal building. 

 FF Floodfringe District and GFP General Floodplain District. 

A. Statutory Authorization, Finding of Fact, Statement of Purpose, Title, and General Provisions 

1. This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authorization in Wisconsin Statutes Annotated s. 61.35 and 62.23and the 
requirements in s. 87.30. 

2. Uncontrolled development and use of the floodplains and rivers within the City of Franklin would impair the public 
health, safety, convenience, general welfare, and tax base. 

3. This ordinance is intended to regulate floodplain development in order to: 

a. Protect life, health and property; 

b. Minimize expenditures of public funds for flood control projects; 

c. Minimize rescue and relief efforts undertaken at the expense of the taxpayers; 

d. Minimize business interruptions and other economic disruptions; 

e. Minimize damage to public facilities in the floodplain; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 10 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

f. Minimize the occurrence of future flood blight areas in the floodplain; 

g. Discourage the victimization of unwary land and homebuyers; 

h. Prevent increases in flood heights that could increase flood damage and result in conflicts between property 
owners; and 

i. Discourage development in a floodplain if there is any practicable alternative to locate the activity, use or structure 
outside of the floodplain. 

4. This Section shall constitute, for statutory purposes, the Floodplain Zoning Ordinance for the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin. 

5. General Provisions. 

a. Areas to be Regulated. This Section regulates all areas of special flood hazard identified as zones A, AO, AH, 
A1-30, AE, VE, V1-30, or V on the Flood Insurance Rate Map.   

b. Official Maps and Revisions. Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHA) are designated as zones A, A1-30, AE, AH, 
AO, VE, V1-30, or V on the Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) based on flood hazard analyses summarized in 
the Flood Insurance Study (FIS) listed in subd. (i) below. Additional flood hazard areas subject to regulation under 
this ordinance are identified on maps based on studies approved by the DNR and listed in subd. (b) below. These 
maps and revisions are on file in the office of the Planning Manager. 

c. Official Maps.   

i. Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panel number 55079C0144E, effective on 09/26/2008; number 
55079C0142E, effective on 09/26/2008; number55079C0161E, effective on09/26/2008; number 
55079C0163E, effective on 09/26/2008.  [NOTE:  CHECK WITH GIS MANAGER & SEWRPC to ensure all 
are included & correct; from 
https://msc.fema.gov/portal/search?AddressQuery=Franklin%2C%20Wisconsin#searchresultsanchor ].   

6. Establishment of Floodplain Zoning Districts. The flood hazard areas regulated by this ordinance are divided into 
districts as follows and collectively shall be known as the “Floodplain Districts”: 

a. The Floodway District (FW), is the channel of a river or stream and those portions of the floodplain adjoining the 
channel required to carry the regional floodwaters, within AE Zones as shown on the FIRM [see Section 5(c)Ii) 
above], or within A Zones shown on the FIRM when determined according to Wisconsin Statues Annotated s. 
5.1(5). 

b. The Floodfringe District (FF) is that portion of a riverine special flood hazard area outside the floodway within AE 
Zones on the FIRM, or, when floodway limits have been determined according to s. 5.1(5), within A Zones shown 
on the FIRM. 

c. The General Floodplain District (GFP) is those riverine areas that may be covered by floodwater during the 
regional flood in which a floodway boundary has not been delineated on the FIRM and also includes shallow 
flooding areas identified as AH and AO zones on the FIRM. 

7. Locating Floodplain Boundaries.   

a. Discrepancies between the exterior boundaries of zones A1-30, AE, AH, or A on the official floodplain zoning map 
and actual field conditions may be resolved using the criteria in subsections (7)(d) or (7)(e) below. If a significant 
difference exists, the map shall be amended according to Section [.XX], Amendments.  

b. The Zoning Administrator may rely on a boundary derived from a profile elevation to grant or deny a land use 
permit, whether or not a map amendment is required. The Zoning Administrator shall be responsible for 

https://msc.fema.gov/portal/search?AddressQuery=Franklin%2C%20Wisconsin#searchresultsanchor


 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 11 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

documenting actual pre- development field conditions and the basis upon which the district boundary was 
determined. Disputes between the Zoning Administrator and an applicant over the district boundary line shall be 
settled according to [SECTION XX] 7.3(3) and the criteria in (a) and (b) below.  

c. Where the flood profiles are based on established base flood elevations from a FIRM, FEMA must approve any 
map amendment or revision pursuant to [sXX] Amendments. 

d. If flood profiles exist, the map scale and the profile elevations shall determine the district boundary. The regional 
or base flood elevations shall govern if there are any discrepancies. 

e. Where flood profiles do not exist for projects, including any boundary of zone A or AO, the location of the 
boundary shall be determined by the map scale. 

8. Removal of Lands from Floodplain. 

a. Compliance with the provisions of this section shall not be grounds for removing land from the floodplain unless 
the affected land is filled at least two feet above the regional or base flood elevation, the fill is contiguous to land 
outside the floodplain, and the map is amended pursuant to s. 8.0 Amendments. 

b. The delineation of any of the Floodplain Districts may be revised by the City of Franklin where natural or man-
made changes have occurred and/or where more detailed studies have been conducted. However, prior to any 
such change, approval must be obtained from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and Federal 
Emergency Management Agency. A completed Letter of Map Revision is a record of this approval. The Zoning 
Administrator shall not sign a community acknowledgement form unless all criteria set forth in the following 
paragraphs are met:  

i. The land and/or land around the structure must be filled at least two feet above the regional or base flood 
elevation; and 

ii. the fill must be contiguous to land outside the floodplain; Applicant shall obtain floodplain development permit 
before applying for a LOMR or LOMR-F. 

c. Removal of lands from the floodplain may also occur by operation of §87.30(1)(e), Wis. Stat. if a property owner 
has obtained a letter of map amendment from the federal emergency management agency under 44 C.F.R. 70. 

9. Compliance. 

a. No structure or use within areas regulated by this ordinance shall hereafter be located, erected, constructed, 
reconstructed, repaired, extended, converted, enlarged, or altered without full compliance with the terms of these 
regulations and all other applicable regulations that apply to uses within the jurisdiction of these regulations.  

b. Failure to obtain a floodplain development permit shall be a violation of these regulations and shall be punishable 
in accordance with s. 9.0.  

c. Floodplain development permits issued on the basis of plans and applications approved by the Zoning 
Administrator authorize only the use, and arrangement, set forth in such approved plans and applications, or 
amendments thereto if approved by the Zoning Administrator. Use, arrangement, or construction contrary to that 
authorized shall be deemed a violation of these regulations and punishable in accordance with s. 9.0. 

10. Municipalities and State Agencies Regulated. 

a. Unless specifically exempted by law, all cities, villages, towns, and counties are required to comply with this 
ordinance and obtain all necessary permits. State agencies are required to comply if s. 13.48(13), Stats., applies.  

b. The construction, reconstruction, maintenance and repair of state highways and bridges by the Wisconsin 
Department of Transportation is exempt when s. 30.2022, Stats., applies. Although exempt from a local zoning 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 12 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

permit and permit fees, DOT must provide sufficient project documentation and analysis to ensure that the 
community is in compliance with Federal, State, and local floodplain standards.  

c. If a local transportation project is located within a Zone A floodplain and is not a WisDOT project under s. 30.2022, 
then the road project design documents (including appropriate detailed plans and profiles) may be sufficient to 
meet the requirements for issuance of a local floodplain permit if the following apply:  

i. The City provides documentation to the Floodplain Administrator that the proposed project is a culvert 
replacement or bridge replacement under 20’ span at the same location, the project is exempt from a DNR 
permit under s. 30.123(6)(d),  

ii. The capacity is not decreased, the top road grade is not raised, and no floodway data is available from a 
federal, state, or other source.  

iii. If floodway data is available in the impacted area from a federal, state, or other source that existing data 
must be utilized by the City in the analysis of the project site. 

11. Abrogation and Greater Restrictions 

a. This Section supersedes all the provisions of the this UDO which relate to floodplains. A more restrictive provision 
shall continue in full force and effect to the extent of the greater restrictions, but not otherwise. 

b. This Section is not intended to repeal, abrogate or impair any existing deed restrictions, covenants or easements. 
If this ordinance imposes greater restrictions, the provisions of this Section shall prevail. 

12. Interpretation.  In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this Section are the minimum requirements 
liberally construed in favor of the City of Franklin, and are not a limitation on or repeal of any other powers granted by 
the Wisconsin Statutes. If a provision of this Section, required by ch. NR 116, Wis. Adm. Code, is unclear, the provision 
shall be interpreted in light of the standards in effect on the date of the adoption of this Section or in effect on the date 
of the most recent text amendment to this Section. 

13. Warning and Disclaimer of Liability.  The flood protection standards in this Section are based on engineering 
experience and research. Larger floods may occur, or the flood height may be increased by man-made or natural 
causes. This Section does not imply or guarantee that non-floodplain areas or permitted floodplain uses will be free 
from flooding and flood damages. This Section does not create liability on the part of, or a cause of action against, the 
City of Franklin, or any officer or employee thereof, for any flood damage that may result from reliance on this Section. 

14. Severability.  Should any portion of this Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder of this Section shall not be affected. 

B. General Standards Applicable to All Floodplain Districts. 

1. Applicability.   

a. The City of Franklin Zoning Administrator shall review all permit applications to determine compliance with the 
provisions of this Section. 

b. If a proposed building site is in a Floodplain District as defined in this Section , all new construction and 
substantial improvements shall: 

i. Be designed and anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement of the structure resulting from 
hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy; 

ii. Be constructed with flood-resistant materials; 

iii. Be constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damages; and 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 13 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

iv. Be constructed in a manner wherein mechanical and utility equipment is elevated to or above the flood 
protection elevation. 

c. If a subdivision or other proposed new development is in a Floodplain District as defined in this Section, the 
Zoning Administrator shall assure that: 

i. Such proposed subdivision or other proposed new development is consistent with the need to minimize flood 
damage within the Floodplain District; 

ii. Public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems are located and constructed to 
minimize or eliminate flood damage; and 

iii. Adequate drainage is provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards. 

d. All subdivision proposals (including manufactured home parks) shall include regional flood elevation and floodway 
data for any development that meets the subdivision definition of this ordinance and all other requirements in s. 
7.1(2). 

2. Hydraulic and Hydrologic Analyses.   

a. No development within a Floodplain District shall: 

i. Obstruct flow, defined as development which blocks the conveyance of floodwaters by itself or with other 
development, causing any increase in the regional flood height; or 

ii. Cause any increase in the regional flood height due to floodplain storage area lost. 

b. The Zoning Administrator shall deny permits if it is determined the proposed development will obstruct flow or 
cause any increase in the regional flood height, based on the officially adopted FIRM or other adopted map, 
unless the provisions of s. 8.0 Amendments are met 

3. Watercourse Alterations 

a. No land use permit to alter or relocate a watercourse in a mapped floodplain shall be issued until the Zoning 
Administrator has notified in writing all adjacent municipalities, the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, 
and FEMA regional offices, and required the applicant to secure all necessary state and federal permits. The 
standards of Subsection B.2 above must be met and the flood carrying capacity of any altered or relocated 
watercourse shall be maintained. 

b. As soon as is practicable, but not later than six months after the date of the watercourse alteration or relocation 
and pursuant to s. 8.0 Amendments, the City of Franklin shall apply for a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) from 
FEMA. Any such alterations must be reviewed and approved by FEMA and the DNR through the LOMC process. 

4. Applicability of Chapter 30 and 31, Wisconsin Statutes, Development. Development which requires a permit from 
the Department, under Chapters 30 and 31, Stats., such as docks, piers, wharves, bridges, culverts, dams and 
navigational aids, may be allowed if the necessary permits are obtained and amendments to this Section are made in 
accordance with s. 8.0 Amendments. 

5. Public or Private Campgrounds. Public or private campgrounds shall have a low flood damage potential and shall 
meet the following provisions: 

a. The campground is approved by the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection; 

b. A land use permit for the campground can properly be issued by the Zoning Administrator; 

c. The character of the river system and the campground elevation are such that a 72- hour warning of an impending 
flood can be given to all campground occupants; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 14 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

d. There is an adequate flood warning procedure for the campground that offers the minimum notice required under 
this section to all persons in the campground. This procedure shall include a written agreement between the 
campground owner, officials of the City of Franklin (including but not the City’s emergency government 
coordinator and the chief law enforcement official) which specifies the flood elevation at which evacuation shall 
occur, personnel responsible for monitoring flood elevations, types of warning systems to be used and the 
procedures for notifying at-risk parties, and the methods and personnel responsible for conducting the evacuation; 

e. This agreement shall be for no more than one (1) calendar year, at which time the agreement shall be reviewed 
and updated - by the officials identified in sub. (4) - to remain in compliance with all applicable regulations, 
including those of the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection and all other 
applicable regulations. 

f. All mobile recreational vehicles placed on site must meet one of the following: 

i. Be fully licensed, if required, and ready for highway use; or 

ii. Not occupy any site in the campground for more than 180 consecutive days, at which time the recreational 
vehicle must be removed from the floodplain for a minimum of 24 hours; or 

iii. Meet the requirements in either s. 3.0, 4.0, 5.1, or 5.3 for the floodplain district in which the structure is 
located; 

g. A mobile recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site 
only by quick-disconnect utilities and security devices and has no permanently attached additions. 

h. All camping units that remain on site for more than 30 days shall be issued a limited authorization by the 
campground operator, a written copy of which shall be kept on file at the campground. Such authorization shall 
allow placement of a camping unit consistent with 2.4(6) and shall ensure compliance with all the provisions of this 
section; 

i. The City of Franklin shall monitor the limited authorizations issued by the campground operator to assure 
compliance with the terms of this section;  

j. The campground shall have signs clearly posted at all entrances warning of the flood hazard and the procedures 
for evacuation when a flood warning is issued; and 

k. All service facilities, including but not limited to refuse collection, electrical service, gas lines, propane tanks, 
sewage systems and wells shall be properly anchored and placed at or floodproofed to the flood protection 
elevation. 

l. Standards for structures in a campground: 

i. All structures must comply with the applicable requirements in ss. 3.0, 4.0, 5.1, or 5.3 for the floodplain 
district in which the structure is located; 

ii. A portable deck or landing may be allowed for a camping unit for each entry provided that the landing is not 
permanently attached to the ground or camping unit, is no more than 200 square feet in size, shall be 
portable, contain no walls or roof, and can be removed from the campground by a truck and/or trailer. 
Sections of such portable landings may be placed together to form a single deck not greater than 200 square 
feet at one entry point. Provisions for the removal of these temporary landings during flood events must be 
addressed within the written agreement with the municipality compliant with subsections (a) through (j) 
above. Any such deck/landing structure may be constructed at elevations lower than the flood protection 
elevation but must not obstruct flow of flood waters or cause any increase in flood levels during the 
occurrence of the regional flood. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 15 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

m. Camping equipment and appurtenant equipment in the campground may be allowed provided that the equipment 
is not permanently attached to the ground or camping unit, is not used as a habitable structure, and must not 
obstruct flow of flood waters or cause any increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the regional flood. 
Provisions for the removal of this equipment during flooding events shall be addressed within the written 
agreement with the City of Franklin pursuant to subsection 5(d) and 5(e) above.  

n. Once a flood warning in the written agreement has been issued for the campground, the campground owner or 
the designated operator shall ensure that all persons, camping units, decks, camping equipment and appurtenant 
equipment in the campground shall be evacuated within the timelines specified within the written agreement with 
the City pursuant to subsection 5(d) and 5(e) above. 

6. A land use permit shall be obtained as provided under 7.1(2) before any development; repair, modification or addition 
to an existing structure; or change in the use of a building or structure, including sewer and water facilities, may be 
initiated. 

C. Floodway District (FW) 

1. Applicability. This section applies to all floodway areas on the floodplain zoning maps and those identified pursuant to 
s. 5.1(5). 

2. Permitted Uses. The following open space uses are allowed in the Floodway District and the floodway areas of the 
General Floodplain District, if: 

a. The uses are not prohibited by any other provision of these Regulations; 

b. The standards in this Subsection C are met; and 

c. All permits or certificates have been issued in accordance with section 7.1. 

d. Permitted Uses: 

i. Agricultural uses, such as: farming, outdoor plant nurseries, horticulture, viticulture and wild crop harvesting 

ii. Nonstructural industrial and commercial uses, such as loading areas, parking areas and airport landing 
strips. 

iii. Nonstructural recreational uses, such as golf courses, tennis courts, archery ranges, picnic grounds, boat 
ramps, swimming areas, parks, wildlife and nature preserves, game farms, fish hatcheries, shooting, trap and 
skeet activities, hunting and fishing areas and hiking and horseback riding trails, subject to the fill limitations 
of s. 3.3(4). 

iv. Uses or structures accessory to open space uses or classified as historic structures that comply with s. 3.3 
and 3.4. 

v. Extraction of sand, gravel or other materials that comply with s. 3.3(4). 

vi. Functionally water-dependent uses, such as docks, piers or wharves, dams, flowage areas, culverts, 
navigational aids and river crossings of transmission lines, and pipelines that comply with Chapters 30 and 
31, Wisconsin Statutes. 

vii. Public utilities, streets and bridges that comply with s. 3.3(3). 

viii. Portable latrines that are removed prior to flooding and systems associated with recreational areas and 
Department-approved campgrounds that meet the applicable provisions of local ordinances and Chapter 
SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 16 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

ix. Public or private wells used to obtain potable water for recreational areas that meet the requirements of local 
ordinances and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin Administrative Code 

x. Wastewater treatment ponds or facilities permitted under Sections NR 110.15(3)(b), Wisconsin 
Administrative Code 

xi. Sanitary sewer or water supply lines to service existing or proposed development located outside the 
floodway, which development complies with the regulations for the floodplain area occupied. 

3. Standards for Developments in the Floodway.   

a. Any development in the floodway shall comply with Subsection B above and have a low flood damage potential. 

b. Applicants shall provide an analysis calculating the effects of this proposal on the regional flood height to 
determine the effects of the proposal according to Subsection B.2 and 7.1(2)(c). The analysis must be completed 
by a professional engineer registered in the state of Wisconsin. 

c. Any encroachment in the regulatory floodway is prohibited unless the data submitted for subd. 3.3(1)(b) above 
demonstrates that the encroachment will cause no increase in flood elevations in flood events up to the base flood 
at any location or removes the encroached area from the regulatory floodway as provided in Subsection A(8) 
above. 

4. Structures. Structures accessory to permanent open space uses, including utility and sanitary facilities, or functionally 
dependent on a waterfront location may be allowed by permit if the structures comply with the following criteria: 

a. Not designed for human habitation 

b. Does not have a high flood damage potential  

c. Is constructed to minimize potential flood damage; 

d. Shall either have the lowest floor elevated to or above the flood protection elevation or shall meet all the following 
standards: 

i. The lowest floor is elevated to or above the regional flood elevation and is dry floodproofed so that the 
structure is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and completely dry to 
the flood protection elevation without human intervention during flooding; 

ii. Has structural components capable of meeting all provisions of Subsection 6, Certification below and; 

iii. Has certification by a registered professional engineer or architect, through the use of a Federal Emergency 
Management Agency Floodproofing Certificate, that the design and methods of construction are in 
accordance with Subsection 6, Certification, below. 

e. Shall be anchored to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral movement 

f. Mechanical and utility equipment are elevated to or above the flood protection elevation; and 

g. Does not obstruct flow of flood waters or cause any increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the regional 
flood. 

5. Design for Automatic Entry of Floodwaters. For a structure designed to allow the automatic entry of floodwaters 
below the Regional Flood Elevation, the applicant shall submit a plan that meets Subsection (4)(a) through (4)(e) 
above, and meets or exceeds the following standards: 

a. The lowest floor must be elevated to or above the regional flood elevation; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 17 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

b. a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of 
enclosed area subject to flooding; 

c. the bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above the lowest adjacent grade; openings may be 
equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices provided that they permit the automatic 
entry and exit of floodwaters, otherwise must remain open. 

d. The use must be limited to parking, building access or limited storage. 

6. Certification: Whenever floodproofing measures are required, a registered professional engineer or architect shall 
certify that the following floodproofing measures will be utilized, where appropriate, and are adequate to withstand the 
flood depths, pressures, velocities, impact and uplift forces and other factors associated with the regional flood: 

a. Reinforcement of floors and walls to resist rupture, collapse, or lateral movement caused by water pressures or 
debris buildup; 

b. Construction of wells, water supply systems and waste treatment systems so as to prevent the entrance of flood 
waters in such systems and must be in accordance with provisions in Sections 3.4(4) and 3.4(5); 

c. Subsurface drainage systems to relieve external pressures on foundation walls and basement floors; 

d. Cutoff valves on sewer lines or the elimination of gravity flow basement drains; and 

e. Placement of utilities to or above the flood protection elevation. 

7. Public Utilities, Streets, and Bridges. Public utilities, streets and bridges may be allowed by permit, if: 

a. Adequate floodproofing measures are provided to the flood protection elevation; and 

b. Construction meets the development standards of s. 2.1. 

8. Fills or Deposition of Materials. Fills or deposition of materials may be allowed by permit, if: 

a. The requirements of s. 2.1 are met; 

b. No material is deposited in navigable waters unless a permit is issued by the Department pursuant to ch. 30, 
Stats., and a permit pursuant to Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, Amendments of 1972, 33 
U.S.C. 1344 has been issued, if applicable, and all other requirements have been met; 

c. The fill or other materials will be protected against erosion by riprap, vegetative cover, sheet piling or bulkheading; 
and 

d. The fill is not classified as a solid or hazardous material. 

9. Prohibited Uses. All uses not listed as permitted uses in Subsection C(2) above are prohibited, including the following 
uses: 

a. Habitable structures, structures with high flood damage potential, and structures not associated with permanent 
open-space uses; 

b. Storage of materials that are buoyant, flammable, explosive, or potentially injurious to property, water quality, or 
human, animal, plant, fish or other aquatic life; 

c. Uses not in harmony with or detrimental to uses permitted in the adjoining districts; 

d. Any private or public sewage systems, except portable latrines that are removed prior to flooding and systems 
associated with recreational areas and Department- approved campgrounds that meet the applicable provisions of 
City of Franklin ordinances and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 18 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

e. Any public or private wells which are used to obtain potable water, except those for recreational areas that meet 
the requirements of City of Franklin ordinances and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin Administrative 
Code 

f. Any solid or hazardous waste disposal sites; 

g. Any wastewater treatment ponds or facilities, except those permitted under Sections NR 110.15(3)(b), Wisconsin 
Administrative Code; 

h. Any sanitary sewer or water supply lines, except those to service existing or proposed development located 
outside the floodway which complies with the regulations for the floodplain area occupied. 

D. Floodfringe District (FF) 

1. Applicability. This section applies to all floodfringe areas shown on the floodplain zoning maps and those identified 
pursuant to s. 5.1(5). 

2. Permitted Uses. Any structure, land use, or development is allowed in the Floodfringe District if the standards in s. 4.3 
are met, the use is not prohibited by the City of Franklin Land Development Regulations, or any other ordinance or 
regulation of the City of Franklin; and all permits or certificates specified in s. 7.1 have been issued. 

3. Standards for Development in the Floodfringe District. The provisions of Subsection (C) above shall apply in 
addition to the following requirements, according to the proposed use. Any existing structure in the Floodfringe District 
must meet the requirements of s. 6.0, Nonconforming Uses. 

a. Residential Uses. Any existing structure in residential use in the Floodfringe District must meet the requirements 
of s. 6.0 Nonconforming Uses. Any structure for residential use, including a manufactured home, which is to be 
newly constructed or moved into the Floodfringe District, shall meet or exceed the following standards: 

i. All new construction, including placement of manufactured homes, and all substantial improvement of 
residential structures, shall have the lowest floor elevated to or above the flood protection elevation on fill. 
The fill around the structure shall be one foot or more above the regional flood elevation for an area 
extending at least 15 feet beyond the limits of the structure. No area may be removed from the Floodfringe 
District unless the resulting condition can be shown to meet s. 1.5(5). 

ii. Notwithstanding Subsection (D)(4)(a) above, a basement or crawlspace floor may be placed at the regional 
flood elevation if the basement or crawlspace is designed to make all portions of the structure below the flood 
protection elevation watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with 
structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and effects of 
buoyancy. No floor of any kind is allowed below the regional flood elevation. 

iii. Contiguous dryland access shall be provided from a structure to land outside of the floodplain, except as 
provided in subsection (d)(1) through (d)(2) below. 

iv. In developments where existing street or sewer line elevations make compliance with Subsection (4)(c) 
above impractical, the City of Franklin may permit new development and substantial improvements where 
roads are below the regional flood elevation, if: 

a) The City of Franklin Zoning Administrator has secured written assurance from police, fire and 
emergency services that rescue and relief will be provided to the structure(s) by wheeled vehicles during 
a regional flood event; or 

b) The City of Franklin has adopted and in place a DNR-approved emergency evacuation plan applicable 
to the site that follows acceptable hazard mitigation planning guidelines. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 19 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

b. Accessory Structures and Uses. In addition to meeting the provisions of Section B, General Standards, new 
construction and substantial improvements of Accessory structures shall be constructed on fill with the lowest floor 
at or above the regional flood elevation. 

c. Commercial Uses.  In addition to meeting the provisions of Section B, General Standards, any commercial 
structure which is erected, altered or moved into the Floodfringe District shall meet the requirements of s. 4.3(1). 
Subject to the requirements of s. 4.3(5), storage yards, surface parking lots and other such uses may be placed at 
lower elevations if an adequate warning system exists to protect life and property. 

d. Manufacturing and Industrial Uses. In addition to meeting the provisions of Section B, General Standards, any 
manufacturing or industrial structure which is erected, altered or moved into the floodfringe shall have the lowest 
floor elevated to or above the flood protection elevation or meet the floodproofing standards in s 7.5. Subject to 
the requirements of s. 4.3(5), storage yards, surface parking lots and other such uses may be placed at lower 
elevations if an adequate warning system exists to protect life and property. 

e. Storage of Materials. Materials that are hazardous, buoyant, flammable, explosive, or potentially injurious to 
property, water quality or human, animal, plant, fish or aquatic life shall be stored at or above the flood protection 
elevation or floodproofed in compliance with s. 7.5. Adequate measures shall be taken to ensure that such 
materials will not enter the water body during flooding. 

f. Public Utilities, Streets, and Bridges. All public utilities, streets and bridges shall be designed to be compatible 
with comprehensive floodplain development plans. In addition, the following criteria shall apply: 

i. When failure of public utilities, streets and bridges would endanger public health or safety, or where such 
facilities are deemed essential, construction or repair of such facilities shall only be permitted if the proposed 
improvements are designed to comply with s. 7.5. 

ii. Minor roads or non-essential utilities may be constructed at lower elevations if they are designed to withstand 
flood forces to the regional flood elevation. 

g. Sewage Systems. All sewage disposal systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood 
water into the system, pursuant to s. 7.5(3), to the flood protection elevation and meet the provisions of all City of 
Franklin standards and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

h. Wells. All wells shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the system, pursuant to 
s. 7.5(3), to the flood protection elevation and shall meet the provisions of Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, 
Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

i. Solid Waste Disposal Sites Prohibited. Disposal of solid or hazardous waste is prohibited in floodfringe areas. 

j. Deposition of Material. Any deposition of material must meet all the provisions of this Section. 

k. Manufactured Homes.   

i. Owners or operators of all manufactured home parks and subdivisions shall provide adequate surface 
drainage to minimize flood damage, and prepare, secure approval and file an evacuation plan, indicating 
vehicular access and escape routes, with local emergency management authorities. 

ii. In existing manufactured home parks, all new homes, replacement homes on existing pads, and substantially 
improved homes shall: 

a) have the lowest floor elevated to the flood protection elevation; and 

b) be anchored so that the manufactured home does not float, collapse or move laterally during a flood 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 20 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

iii. Outside of existing manufactured home parks, including new manufactured home parks and all single units 
outside of existing parks, all new, replacement and substantially improved manufactured homes shall meet 
the residential development standards for the floodfringe in s. 4.3(1). 

l. Mobile Recreational Vehicles. A mobile recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its wheels or 
jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick-disconnect utilities and security devices and has no 
permanently attached additions.  All mobile recreational vehicles must be on site for less than one-hundred eighty 
(180) consecutive days and be either: 

i. fully licensed and ready for highway use; or 

ii. shall meet the elevation and anchoring requirements in s. 4.3 (11)(b) and (c). 

E. General Floodplain District (GFP) 

1. Applicability. The provisions for the General Floodplain District shall apply to development in all floodplains mapped 
as A, AO, AH, and in AE zones within which a floodway is not delineated on the Flood Insurance Rate Maps identified 
in s. 1.5(2)(a). 

2. Floodway Boundaries. For proposed development in zone A, or in zone AE within which a floodway is not delineated 
on the Flood Insurance Rate Map identified in s. 1.5(2)(a), the boundaries of the regulatory floodway shall be 
determined pursuant to s. 5.1(5).  

a. If the development is proposed to encroach upon the regulatory floodway, the development is subject to the 
standards of s 3.0.  

b. If the development is located entirely within the floodfringe, the development is subject to the standards of s. 4.0. 

3. Permitted Uses. Pursuant to s. 5.1(5) for any application for development, the Zoning Administrator shall determine 
whether proposed use is located within the floodway or floodfringe. Those uses permitted in the Floodway (Section C) 
and Floodfringe (Section D) Districts are allowed within the General Floodplain District, according to the standards of s. 
5.1(4), provided that all permits or certificates required under s. 7.1 have been issued. 

4. Standards for Development in the General Floodplain District.  Any development within the floodway, as 
determined pursuant to 5.1(5), shall comply with the provisions of Section C, Floodway.  Any development within the 
floodfringe, as determined pursuant to Section 5.1(5), shall comply with the provisions of Section D, Floodfringe.   

a. New construction and substantial improvement of structures in zone AO shall have the lowest floor, including 
basement, elevated:  

i. to or above the depth, in feet, as shown on the FIRM above the highest adjacent natural grade; or 

ii. if the depth is not specified on the FIRM, to or above two (2) feet above the highest adjacent natural grade. 

b. New Construction and substantial improvement of structures in zone AH shall have the lowest floor, including 
basement, elevated to or above the flood protection elevation. 

c. In AO/AH zones, adequate drainage paths shall be provided to guide floodwaters around structures. 

d. All development in zones AO and zone AH shall meet the requirements of s. 4.0 applicable to flood fringe areas. 

5. Determination of Floodway and Floodfringe Limits. Upon receiving an application for development within zone A, 
or within zone AE where a floodway has not been delineated on the Flood Insurance Rate Maps, the Zoning 
Administrator shall: 

a. Require the applicant to submit two copies of an aerial photograph or a plan which shows the proposed 
development with respect to the general floodplain district limits, stream channel, and existing floodplain 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 21 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

developments, along with a legal description of the property, fill limits and elevations, building floor elevations and 
flood proofing measures; and the flood zone as shown on the FIRM. 

b. Require the applicant to furnish any of the following information deemed necessary by the Department to evaluate 
the effects of the proposal upon flood height and flood flows, regional flood elevation and to determine floodway 
boundaries: 

i. A Hydrologic and Hydraulic Study as specified in s. 7.1(2)(c). 

ii. A plan (surface view) showing elevations or contours of the ground; pertinent structure, fill or storage 
elevations; size, location and layout of all proposed and existing structures on the site; location and 
elevations of streets, water supply, and sanitary facilities; soil types and other pertinent information; and 

iii. Specifications for building construction and materials, floodproofing, filling, dredging, channel improvement, 
storage, water supply and sanitary facilities. 

F. Non-Conforming Uses 

1. Applicability.   

a. The standards in this section shall apply to all uses and buildings that do not conform to the provisions contained 
within a floodplain zoning ordinance or with Section 87.30, Wisconsin Statutes, Sections NR 116.12-14, 
Wisconsin Administrative Code, and 44 CFR 59-72.    

b. These standards shall apply to all modifications or additions to any nonconforming use or structure, and to the use 
of any structure or premises which was lawful before the passage of this Section or any amendment thereto.  

c. A party asserting existence of a lawfully established nonconforming use or structure has the burden of proving 
that the use or structure was compliant with the floodplain zoning ordinance in effect at the time the use or 
structure was created. 

As permit applications are received for additions, modifications, or substantial improvements to nonconforming 
buildings in the floodplain, the City of Franklin shall develop a list of those nonconforming buildings, their present 
equalized assessed value and a list of the costs of those activities associated with changes to those buildings. 

2. Continuation of Use.  The existing lawful use of a structure or its accessory use which is not in conformity with the 
provisions of this Section may continue subject to the following conditions: 

a. No modifications or additions to a nonconforming use or structure shall be permitted unless such modifications or 
additions comply with applicable provisions of this Section. The words "modification" and "addition" include, but 
are not limited to, any alteration, addition, modification, structural repair, rebuilding or replacement of any such 
existing use, structure or accessory structure or use.  

i. Maintenance is not considered a modification; maintenance shall include painting, decorating, paneling and 
other nonstructural components and the maintenance, repair or replacement of existing private sewage or 
water supply systems or connections to public utilities.  

ii. Any costs associated with the repair of a damaged structure shall not be considered maintenance. 

b. The construction of a deck that does not exceed two-hundred (200) square feet and that is adjacent to the exterior 
wall of a principal structure shall not be considered an extension, modification or addition. The roof of the structure 
may extend over a portion of the deck in order to provide safe ingress and egress to the principal structure. 

c. If a nonconforming use or the use of a nonconforming structure is discontinued for twelve (12) consecutive 
months, the non-conforming use or use of the non-conforming structure is no longer permitted.  Any future use of 
the property, and any structure or building thereon, shall conform to the applicable requirements of this Section. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 22 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

The municipality shall keep a record which lists all nonconforming uses and nonconforming structures, their present 
equalized assessed value, the cost of all modifications or additions which have been permitted, and the percentage of 
the structure's total current value those modifications represent; 

d. No modification or addition to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming use, which over 
the life of the structure would equal or exceed fifty (50) percent of its present equalized assessed value, shall be 
allowed unless the entire structure is permanently changed to a conforming structure with a conforming use in 
compliance with the applicable requirements of this ordinance. Contiguous dry land access must be provided for 
residential and commercial uses in compliance with s. 4.3(1). The costs of elevating the lowest floor of a 
nonconforming building or a building with a nonconforming use to the flood protection elevation are excluded from 
the 50% provisions of this paragraph; 

e. No maintenance on a per event basis to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming use, 
the cost of which would equal or exceed 50% of its present equalized assessed value, shall be allowed unless the 
entire structure is permanently changed to a conforming structure with a conforming use in compliance with the 
applicable requirements of this ordinance. Contiguous dry land access must be provided for residential and 
commercial uses in compliance with s. 4.3(1). Maintenance to any nonconforming structure, which does not 
exceed 50% of its present equalized assessed value on a per event basis, does not count against the cumulative 
calculations over the life of the structure for substantial improvement calculations. 

f. If on a per event basis the total value of the work being done under (d) and (e) above equals or exceeds 50% of 
the present equalized assessed value the work shall not be permitted unless the entire structure is permanently 
changed to a conforming structure with a conforming use in compliance with the applicable requirements of this 
ordinance. Contiguous dry land access must be provided for residential and commercial uses in compliance with 
s. 4.3(1). 

g. Except as provided in subdivision (h) below, if any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming 
use is destroyed or is substantially damaged, it cannot be replaced, re-constructed, or rebuilt unless the use and 
the structure meet the current requirements of this Section. A structure is considered substantially damaged if the 
total cost to restore the structure to its pre-damaged condition equals or exceeds 50% of the structure's present 
equalized assessed value. 

h. For nonconforming buildings that are substantially damaged or destroyed by a non-flood event , the repair or 
reconstruction of any such nonconforming building shall be permitted in order to restore it to the size and use in 
effect prior to the damage event, provided that the following minimum requirements are met and all required 
permits have been granted prior to the start of construction: 

i. Residential Structures. All such residential structures: 

a) Shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the flood protection elevation 
using fill, pilings, columns, posts or perimeter walls. Perimeter walls must meet the requirements of s. 
7.5(2). 

b) Shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement of the structure resulting from 
hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy and shall be constructed with 
methods and materials resistant to flood damage. 

c) Shall be constructed with electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing and air conditioning equipment and 
other service facilities that are designed and/or elevated so as to prevent water from entering or 
accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding. 

d) In A Zones, obtain, review and utilize any flood data available from a federal, state or other source. 

e) In AO Zones with no elevations specified, shall have the lowest floor, including basement, meet the 
standards in s. 5.1(4). 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 23 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

f) In AO Zones, have adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes to guide floodwaters around 
and away from the structure. 

ii. Nonresidential Structures.  All such non-residential structures: 

a) Shall meet the requirements of s. 6.1(2)(h)1a-f. 

b) Shall either have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the regional flood elevation; 
or, together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, shall meet the standards in s. 7.5 (1) or (2). 

c) In AO Zones with no elevations specified, shall have the lowest floor, including basement, meet the 
standards in s. 5.1(4). 

d) A nonconforming historic structure may be altered if the alteration does not preclude the structure's 
continued designation as a historic structure, the alteration will comply with s. 3.3 (1), flood resistant 
materials are used, and construction practices and floodproofing methods that comply with s. 7.5 are 
used. Repair or rehabilitation of historic structures shall be exempt from the development standards of s. 
6.1 (2)(h)1 if it is determined that the proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure's 
continued designation as a historic structure and is the minimum necessary to preserve the historic 
character and design of the structure. 

3. Floodway District.   

a. No modification or addition shall be allowed to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming 
use in the Floodway District, unless such modification or addition: 

i. Has been granted a permit or variance in conformance with all ordinance requirements; 

ii. Meets the requirements of s. 6.1; 

iii. Shall not increase the obstruction to flood flows or regional flood height; 

iv. Any addition to the existing structure shall be floodproofed, pursuant to s. 7.5, by means other than the use 
of fill, to the flood protection elevation; and 

v. If any part of the foundation below the flood protection elevation is enclosed, the following standards shall 
apply: 

a) The enclosed area shall be designed by a registered architect or engineer to allow for the efficient entry 
and exit of flood waters without human intervention. A minimum of two openings must be provided with 
a minimum net area of at least one square inch for every one square foot of the enclosed area. The 
lowest part of the opening can be no more than 12 inches above the adjacent grade; 

b) The parts of the foundation located below the flood protection elevation must be constructed of flood-
resistant materials; 

c) Mechanical and utility equipment must be elevated or floodproofed to or above the flood protection 
elevation; and 

d) The use must be limited to parking, building access or limited storage. 

vi. No new on-site sewage disposal system, or addition to an existing on-site sewage disposal system, except 
where an addition has been ordered by a government agency to correct a hazard to public health, shall be 
allowed in the Floodway District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing on-site sewage 
disposal system in a floodway area shall meet the applicable requirements of all municipal ordinances, s. 
7.5(3) and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code.  



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 24 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

vii. No new well or modification to an existing well used to obtain potable water shall be allowed in the Floodway 
District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing well in the Floodway District shall meet the 
applicable requirements of all municipal ordinances, s. 7.5(3) and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin 
Administrative Code. 

b. No new on-site sewage disposal system, or addition to an existing on-site sewage disposal system, except where 
an addition has been ordered by a government agency to correct a hazard to public health, shall be allowed in the 
Floodway District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing on-site sewage disposal system in a 
floodway area shall meet the applicable requirements of all City of Franklin ordinances, s. 7.5(3) of this Section, 
and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

c. No new well or modification to an existing well used to obtain potable water shall be allowed in the Floodway 
District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing well in the Floodway District shall meet the 
applicable requirements of all City of Frankiln ordinances, s. 7.5(3), and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin 
Administrative Code.  

4. Floodfringe District 

a. No modification or addition shall be allowed to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming 
use unless such modification or addition has been granted a permit or variance by the municipality and meets the 
requirements of s. 4.3 except where s. 6.3(2) is applicable. 

b. Where compliance with the provisions of subd. (1) would result in unnecessary hardship and only where the 
structure will not be used for human habitation or be associated with a high flood damage potential, the Board of 
Zoning and Building Appeals, using the procedures established in s. 7.3, may grant a variance from those 
provisions of subd. (1) for modifications or additions using the criteria listed below. Modifications or additions 
which are protected to elevations lower than the flood protection elevation may be permitted if all of the following 
are met: 

i. No floor is allowed below the regional flood elevation for residential or commercial structures; 

ii. Human lives are not endangered; 

iii. Public facilities, such as water or sewer, shall not be installed; 

iv. Flood depths shall not exceed two feet; 

v. Flood velocities shall not exceed two feet per second; and 

vi. The structure shall not be used for storage of materials as described in s. 4.3(5). 

c. All new private sewage disposal systems, or addition to, replacement, repair or maintenance of a private sewage 
disposal system shall meet all the applicable provisions of all City of Franklin ordinances, s. 7.5 (3) and Chapter 
SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

d. All new wells, or addition to, replacement, repair or maintenance of a well shall meet the applicable provisions of 
this Section, s. 7.5 (3) and Chapter NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

G. Administration 

1. Zoning Administrator; Land Use Permits; Certificates of Compliance 

a. Duties and Powers.  The Zoning Administrator is authorized to administer this Section and shall have the following 
duties and powers: 

i. Advise applicants of the ordinance provisions, assist in preparing permit applications and appeals, and 
assure that the regional flood elevation for the proposed development is shown on all permit applications 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 25 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

ii. Issue permits and inspect properties for compliance with provisions of this ordinance and issue certificates of 
compliance where appropriate. 

iii. Inspect and assess all damaged floodplain structures to determine if substantial damage to the structures 
has occurred. 

iv. Keep records of all official actions such as: 

a) All permits issued, inspections made, and work approved; 

b) Documentation of certified lowest floor and regional flood elevations; 

c) Floodproofing certificates. 

d) Water surface profiles, floodplain zoning maps and ordinances, nonconforming uses and structures 
including changes, appeals, variances and amendments. 

e) All substantial damage assessment reports for floodplain structures in floodplain districts. 

f) Lists of nonconforming structures and uses. 

v. Submit copies of the following items to the Department of Natural Resources Regional office:  

a) Within 10 days of the decision, a copy of any decisions on variances, appeals for map or text 
interpretations, and map or text amendments; 

b) Copies of case-by-case analyses and other required information. 

c) Copies of substantial damage assessments performed and all related correspondence concerning the 
assessments. 

vi. Investigate, prepare reports, and report violations of this ordinance to the municipal zoning agency and 
attorney for prosecution. Copies of the reports shall also be sent to the Department of Natural Resources 
Regional office. 

vii. Submit copies of amendments to the FEMA Regional office. 

b. Land Use Permit. A land use permit shall be obtained before any development; repair, modification or addition to 
an existing structure; or change in the use of a building or structure, including sewer and water facilities, may be 
initiated. Application to the Zoning Administrator shall include: 

i. General Information 

a) Name and address of the applicant, property owner and contractor; 

b) Legal description, proposed use, and whether it is new construction or a modification; 

ii. Site Development Plan. 

a) A site plan drawn to scale shall be submitted with the permit application form and shall contain: 

(i) Location, dimensions, area and elevation of the lot; 

(ii) Location of the ordinary highwater mark of any abutting navigable waterways; 

(iii) Location of any structures with distances measured from the lot lines and street center lines; 

(iv) Location of any existing or proposed on-site sewage systems or private water supply systems; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 26 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

(v) Location and elevation of existing or future access roads; 

(vi) Location of floodplain and floodway limits as determined from the official floodplain zoning maps; 

(vii) The elevation of the lowest floor of proposed buildings and any fill using the vertical datum from the 
adopted study - either National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) or North American Vertical Datum 
(NAVD); 

(viii) Data sufficient to determine the regional flood elevation in NGVD or NAVD at the location of the 
development and to determine whether or not the requirements of s. 3.0 or 4.0 are met; and 

(ix) Data to determine if the proposed development will cause an obstruction to flow or an increase in 
regional flood height or discharge according to s. 2.1. This may include any of the information 
noted in s. 3.3(1). 

iii. Hydraulic and Hydrologic Studies  

a) All hydraulic and hydrologic studies shall be completed under the direct supervision of a professional 
engineer registered in the State of Wisconsin. The study contractor shall be responsible for the technical 
adequacy of the study. All studies shall be reviewed and approved by the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources. 

(i) In Zone A floodplains and in AE zones within which a floodway is not delineated: 

1. Hydrology: The appropriate method shall be based on the standards in Chapter NR 
116.07(3), Wisconsin Administrative Code, Hydrologic Analysis: Determination of Regional 
Flood Discharge. 

2. Hydraulic modeling: The regional flood elevation shall be based on the standards in Chapter 
NR 116.07(4), Wisconsin Administrative Code, Hydraulic Analysis: Determination of Regional 
Flood Elevation and the following: 

a. Determination of the required limits of the hydraulic model shall be based on detailed 
study information for downstream structures (dam, bridge, culvert) to determine adequate 
starting WSEL for the study. 

b. Channel sections must be surveyed. 

c. A minimum four-foot contour data in the overbanks shall be used for the development of 
cross section overbank and floodplain mapping. 

d. A maximum distance of 500 feet between cross sections is allowed in developed areas 
with additional intermediate cross sections required at transitions in channel bottom slope 
including a survey of the channel at each location. 

e. The most current version of HEC-RAS shall be used. 

f. A survey of bridge and culvert openings and the top of road is required at each structure. 

g. Additional cross sections are required at the downstream and upstream limits of the 
proposed development and any necessary intermediate locations based on the length of 
the reach if greater than 500 feet. 

h. Standard accepted engineering practices shall be used when assigning parameters for 
the base model such as flow, Manning's N values, expansion and contraction coefficients 
or effective flow limits. The base model shall be calibrated to past flooding data such as 
high water marks to determine the reasonableness of the model results. If no historical 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 27 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

data is available, adequate justification shall be provided for any parameters outside 
standard accepted engineering practices. 

i. The model must extend past the upstream limit of the difference in the existing and 
proposed flood profiles in order to provide a tie-in to existing studies. The height 
difference between the proposed flood profile and the existing study profiles shall be no 
more than 0.00 feet. 

(ii) Mapping. A work map of the reach studied shall be provided, showing all cross-section locations, 
floodway/floodplain limits based on best available topographic data, geographic limits of the 
proposed development and whether the proposed development is located in the floodway. 

1. If the proposed development is located outside of the floodway, then it is determined to have 
no impact on the regional flood elevation. 

2. If any part of the proposed development is in the floodway, it must be added to the base 
model to show the difference between existing and proposed conditions. The study must 
ensure that all coefficients remain the same as in the existing model, unless adequate 
justification based on standard accepted engineering practices is provided 

(iii) In Zone AE Floodplains: 

1. Hydrology: If the proposed hydrology will change the existing study, the appropriate method 
to be used shall be based on Chapter NR 116.07(3), Wisconsin Administrative Code, 
Hydrologic Analysis: Determination of Regional Flood Discharge. 

2. Hydraulic model: The regional flood elevation shall be based on the standards in Chapter NR 
116.07(4), Wisconsin Administrative Code, Hydraulic Analysis: Determination of Regional 
Flood Elevation and the following: 

a. Duplicate Effective Model: The effective model shall be reproduced to ensure correct 
transference of the model data and to allow integration of the revised data to provide a 
continuous FIS model upstream and downstream of the revised reach. If data from the 
effective model is available, models shall be generated that duplicate the FIS profiles and 
the elevations shown in the Floodway Data Table in the FIS report to within 0.1 foot. 

b. Corrected Effective Model: The Corrected Effective Model shall not include any man-
made physical changes since the effective model date but shall import the model into the 
most current version of HEC-RAS for Department review. 

c. Existing (Pre-Project Conditions) Model: The Existing Model shall be required to 
support conclusions about the actual impacts of the project associated with the Revised 
(Post-Project) Model or to establish more up-to-date models on which to base the 
Revised (Post-Project) Model. 

d. Revised (Post-Project Conditions) Model. The Revised (Post-Project Conditions) 
Model shall incorporate the Existing Model and any proposed changes to the topography 
caused by the proposed development. This model shall reflect proposed conditions. 

e. All changes to the Duplicate Effective Model and subsequent models must be supported 
by certified topographic information, bridge plans, construction plans and survey notes. 

f. Changes to the hydraulic models shall be limited to the stream reach for which the 
revision is being requested. Cross sections upstream and downstream of the revised 
reach shall be identical to those in the effective model and result in water surface 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 28 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

elevations and topwidths computed by the revised models matching those in the effective 
models upstream and downstream of the revised reach as required. The Effective Model 
shall not be truncated. 

3. Mapping. Maps and associated engineering data shall be submitted to the Department for 
review which meet the following conditions: 

a. Consistency between the revised hydraulic models, the revised floodplain and floodway 
delineations, the revised flood profiles, topographic work map, annotated FIRMs and/or 
Flood Boundary Floodway Maps (FBFMs), construction plans, bridge plans. 

b. Certified topographic map of suitable scale, contour interval, and a planimetric map 
showing the applicable items. If a digital version of the map is available, it may be 
submitted in order that the FIRM may be more easily revised. 

c. Annotated FIRM panel showing the revised 1% and 0.2% annual chance floodplains and 
floodway boundaries. 

d. If an annotated FIRM and/or FBFM and digital mapping data (GIS or CADD) are used 
then all supporting documentation or metadata must be included with the data 
submission along with the Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) projection and State 
Plane Coordinate System in accordance with FEMA mapping specifications. 

e. The revised floodplain boundaries shall tie into the effective floodplain boundaries. 

f. All cross sections from the effective model shall be labeled in accordance with the 
effective map and a cross section lookup table shall be included to relate to the model 
input numbering scheme. 

g. Both the current and proposed floodways shall be shown on the map. 

h. The stream centerline, or profile baseline used to measure stream distances in the model 
shall be visible on the map. 

iv. Expiration. All permits issued under the authority of this ordinance shall expire no more than 180 days after 
issuance. The permit may be extended for a maximum of 180 days for good and sufficient cause. If the 
permitted work has not started within 180 days of the permit date, the development must comply with any 
regulation, including any revision to the FIRM or FIS, that took effect after the permit date. 

c. Certificate of Compliance.  No land shall be occupied or used, and no building which is hereafter constructed, 
altered, added to, modified, repaired, rebuilt or replaced shall be occupied until a certificate of compliance is 
issued by the zoning administrator, except where no permit is required, subject to the following provisions: 

i. The certificate of compliance shall show that the building or premises or part thereof, and the proposed use, 
conform to the provisions of this Section; 

ii. Application for such certificate shall be concurrent with the application for a land use permit; 

iii. If all ordinance provisions are met, the certificate of compliance shall be issued within 10 days after written 
notification that the permitted work is completed; 

iv. The applicant shall submit a certification signed by a registered professional engineer, architect or land 
surveyor that the fill, lowest floor and floodproofing elevations are in compliance with the permit issued. 
Floodproofing measures also require certification by a Wisconsin registered professional engineer or 
architect that the requirements of s. 7.5 are met. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 29 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

v. Where applicable pursuant to s. 5.1(4), the applicant must submit a certification by a registered Wisconsin 
professional engineer or surveyor of the elevation of the bottom of the lowest horizontal structural member 
supporting the lowest floor (excluding pilings or columns), and an indication of whether the structure contains 
a basement. 

vi. Where applicable pursuant to s. 5.1(4), the applicant must submit certifications by a Wisconsin registered 
professional engineer or architect that the structural design and methods of construction meet accepted 
standards of practice as required by s. 5.1(4). 

d. Other Permits. Prior to obtaining a floodplain development permit the applicant must secure all necessary 
permits from federal, state, and local agencies, including but not limited to those required by the U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers under Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1344. 

2. Plan Commission; Role and Responsibilities. 

a. The Plan Commission of the City of Franklin shall, with respect to this Section: 

i. Oversee the functions of the office of the zoning administrator; and 

ii. Review and advise the Common Council body on all proposed amendments to this ordinance, maps and 
text; and 

iii. Publish adequate notice pursuant to Chapter 985, Wisconsin Statutes, specifying the date, time, place and 
subject of any public hearing. 

b. The Plan Commission of the City of Franklin shall not, with respect to this Section: 

i. Grant variances to the terms of the ordinance in place of action by the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals; 
or 

ii. Amend the text or zoning maps in place of official action by the governing body. 

3. Board of Zoning and Building Appeals; Role and Responsibilities. The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals 
established pursuant to Section 62.23(7)(e) Wisconsin Statues is hereby authorized or shall be appointed to act for the 
purposes of this Section. The Board shall exercise the powers conferred by Wisconsin Statutes and adopt rules for the 
conduct of business. The Zoning Administrator shall not be the secretary of the Board. 

a. Powers and Duties. The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals shall:   

i. Appeals - Hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is an error in any order, requirement, decision 
or determination made by an administrative official in the enforcement or administration of this Section; 

ii. Boundary Disputes - Hear and decide disputes concerning the district boundaries shown on the official 
floodplain zoning map; and 

iii. Variances - Hear and decide, upon appeal, variances from the ordinance standards. 

b. Appeals to the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals.  

i. Standing to Appeal. Appeals to the board may be taken by any person aggrieved, or by any officer or 
department of the municipality affected by any decision of the Zoning Administrator or other administrative 
officer. Such appeal shall be taken within 30 days unless otherwise provided by the rules of the Board, by 
filing with the official whose decision is in question, and with the board, a notice of appeal specifying the 
reasons for the appeal. The official whose decision is in question shall transmit to the Board all records 
regarding the matter appealed. 

ii. Notice and Hearing for Appeals and Variances. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 30 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

a) Notice. The Board shall: 

(i) Fix a reasonable time for the hearing; 

(ii) Publish adequate notice pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes, specifying the date, time, place and 
subject of the hearing; and 

(iii) Assure that notice shall be mailed to the parties in interest and the Wisconsin Department of 
Natural Resources Regional office at least 10 days in advance of the hearing. 

b) Hearing. Any party may appear in person or by agent. The Board shall: 

(i) Resolve boundary disputes according to s. 7.3(3); 

(ii) Decide variance applications according to s. 7.3(4); and 

(iii) Decide appeals of permit denials according to s. 7.4. 

c) Decision. The final decision regarding the appeal or variance application shall: 

(i) Be made within a reasonable time; 

(ii) Be sent to the Department of Natural Resources Regional office within ten (10) days of the 
decision; 

(iii) Be issued in the form of a written determination signed by the chairman or secretary of the Board; 

(iv) State the specific facts which are the basis for the Board's decision; 

(v) Either affirm, reverse, vary or modify the order, requirement, decision or determination appealed, in 
whole or in part, dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction or grant or deny the variance application; 
and 

(vi) Include the reasons for granting an appeal, describing the hardship demonstrated by the applicant 
in the case of a variance, clearly stated in the recorded minutes of the Board proceedings 

c. Boundary Disputes. The following procedure shall be used by the Board in hearing disputes concerning 
floodplain district boundaries: 

i. If a floodplain district boundary is established by approximate or detailed floodplain studies, the flood 
elevations or profiles shall prevail in locating the boundary. 

ii. The person contesting the boundary location shall be given a reasonable opportunity to present arguments 
and technical evidence to the Board; and  

iii. If the boundary is incorrectly mapped, the Board should inform the zoning committee or the person 
contesting the boundary location to petition the governing body for a map amendment according to s. 8.0 
Amendments. 

d. Variance. 

i. The Board may, upon appeal, grant a variance from the standards of this ordinance if an applicant 
convincingly demonstrates that: 

a) Literal enforcement of the ordinance will cause unnecessary hardship; 

b) The hardship is due to adoption of the floodplain ordinance and unique property conditions, not common 
to adjacent lots or premises (in which case the ordinance or map must be amended to grant a permit); 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 31 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

c) Issuance of the variance  will not result in an outcome or precedent contrary to the public interest; and 

d) The variance is consistent with the purpose of this ordinance as set forth in Subsection A. 

ii. In addition to the criteria in Subsection (i) above, to qualify for a variance under FEMA regulations, the Board 
must find that the following criteria have been met: 

a) The variance shall not cause any increase in the regional flood elevation; 

b) The applicant has shown good and sufficient cause for issuance of the variance; 

c) Failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship; 

d) Granting the variance will not result in additional threats to public safety, extraordinary expense, create 
a nuisance, cause fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or 
ordinances; and 

e) The variance granted is the minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief. 

iii. A variance shall not: 

a) Grant, extend or increase any use prohibited in the zoning district; 

b) Be granted for a hardship based solely on an economic gain or loss; 

c) Be granted for a hardship which is self-created; 

d) Damage the rights or property values of other persons in the area; 

e) Allow actions without the amendments to this ordinance or map(s) required in s. 8.0, Amendments; or 

f) Allow any alteration of an historic structure, including its use, which would preclude its continued 
designation as an historic structure. 

iv. When a floodplain variance is granted the Board shall notify the applicant in writing that  the authorized 
action may increase risks to life and property and flood insurance premiums could increase up to $25.00 per 
$100.00 of coverage. A copy of this notice shall be maintained with the variance record. 

4. Review of Appeals and Permit Denials.   

a. The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals shall review all data related to the appeal including, but not limited to:  

i. Permit application data listed in s. 7.1(2); 

ii. Floodway/floodfringe determination data in s. 5.1(5); 

iii. Data listed in s. 3.3(1)(b) in cases where the applicant has not submitted this information to the Zoning 
Administrator; and 

iv. Other data submitted with the application or submitted to the Board with the appeal. 

b. For appeals of all denied permits, the Board shall: 

i. Follow the procedures of s. 7.3; 

ii. Consider recommendations of the Plan Commission; and 

iii. Either uphold the denial or grant the appeal. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 32 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

c. For appeals concerning increases in regional flood elevation the Board shall: 

i. Uphold the denial where the Board agrees with the data showing an increase in flood elevation. Increases 
may only be allowed after amending the flood profile and map and all appropriate legal arrangements are 
made with all adversely affected property owners as per the requirements of s. 8.0 Amendments; or  

ii. Grant the appeal where the Board agrees that the data properly demonstrates that the project does not 
cause an increase provided no other reasons for denial exist. 

5. Floodproofing Standards. 

a. No permit or variance shall be issued for a non-residential structure designed to be watertight below the regional 
flood elevation until the applicant submits a plan certified by a registered professional engineer or architect that 
the floodproofing measures will protect the structure or development to or above the flood protection elevation and 
submits a FEMA Floodproofing Certificate. Floodproofing is not an alternative to the development standards set 
forth in ss. 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, 5.1, or 5.3. 

b. For a structure designed to allow the entry of floodwaters, no permit or variance shall be issued until the applicant 
submits a plan either: 

i. Certified by a registered Wisconsin professional engineer or architect; or 

ii. Meeting or exceeding the following standards: 

a) A minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square 
foot of enclosed area subject to flooding; and 

b) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one-foot above grade; and 

c) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices provided that 
these permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters. 

iii. Floodproofing measures shall be designed, as appropriate, to: 

a) Withstand flood pressures, depths, velocities, uplift and impact forces and other regional flood factors; 

b) Protect structures to the flood protection elevation; 

c) Anchor structures to foundations to resist flotation and lateral movement; 

d) Minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters; 

e) Minimize or eliminate discharges into flood waters; 

f) Placement of Locate essential utilities to or above the flood protection elevation; and 

g) If any part of the foundation below the flood protection elevation is enclosed, the following standards 
shall apply: 

(i) The enclosed area shall be designed by a registered architect or engineer to allow for the efficient 
entry and exit of flood waters without human intervention. A minimum of two openings must be 
provided with a minimum net area of at least one square inch for every one square foot of the 
enclosed area. The lowest part of the opening can be no more than 12 inches above the adjacent 
grade; 

(ii) The parts of the foundation located below the flood protection elevation must be constructed of 
flood-resistant materials; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 33 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

(iii) Mechanical and utility equipment must be elevated or floodproofed to or above the flood protection 
elevation; and 

(iv) The use must be limited to parking, building access or limited storage. 

 

H. Amendments. 

1. General Provisions. Obstructions or increases may only be permitted if amendments are made to this ordinance, the 
official floodplain zoning maps, floodway lines and water surface profiles, in accordance with Section H.2 below 

a. In AE Zones with a mapped floodway, no obstructions or increases shall be permitted unless the applicant 
receives a Conditional Letter of Map Revision from FEMA and amendments are made to this ordinance, the 
official floodplain zoning maps, floodway lines and water surface profiles, in accordance with s. 8.1. Any such 
alterations must be reviewed and approved by FEMA and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 

b. In A Zones increases equal to or greater than 1.0 foot may only be permitted if the applicant receives a 
Conditional Letter of Map Revision from FEMA and amendments are made to this Section, the official floodplain 
maps, floodway lines, and water surface profiles, in accordance with s. 8.1. 

2. Action by Common Council. The Common Council shall change or supplement the floodplain zoning district 
boundaries and this ordinance in the manner outlined in s. 8.2 below. Actions which require an amendment to the 
ordinance and/ or submittal of a Letter of Map Change (LOMC) include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Any fill or floodway encroachment that obstructs flow causing any increase in the regional flood height; 

b. Any change to the floodplain boundaries and/or watercourse alterations on the FIRM; 

c. Any changes to any other officially adopted floodplain maps listed in s. 1.5 (2)(b); 

d. Any floodplain fill which raises the elevation of the filled area to a height at or above the flood protection elevation 
and is contiguous to land lying outside the floodplain; 

e. Correction of discrepancies between the water surface profiles and floodplain maps; 

f. Any upgrade to a floodplain zoning text required by Section NR 116.05, Wisconsin Administrative Code, or 
otherwise required by law, or for changes by the City of Franklin; and 

g. All channel relocations and changes to the maps to alter floodway lines or to remove an area from the floodway or 
the floodfringe that is based on a base flood elevation from a FIRM requires prior approval by FEMA. 

3. Procedures.   

a. Amendments may be made upon petition of any party according to the provisions of Section 62.23, Wisconsin 
Statutes. The petitions shall include all data required by s. 5.1(5) and 7.1(2). The Land Use Permit shall not be 
issued until a Letter of Map Revision is issued by FEMA for the proposed changes.   

b. The proposed amendment shall be referred to the Plan Commission for a public hearing and recommendation to 
the Common Council. The amendment and notice of Common Council public hearing shall be submitted to the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources Regional office for review prior to the hearing. The amendment 
procedure shall comply with the provisions of Section 62.23, Wisconsin Statutes. 

c. No amendments shall become effective until reviewed and approved by the Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 34 of 34 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

d. All persons petitioning for a map amendment that obstructs flow causing any increase in the regional flood height, 
shall obtain flooding easements or other appropriate legal arrangements from all adversely affected property 
owners and notify local units of government before the amendment can be approved by the governing body. 

I. Enforcement and Penalties. Any violation of the provisions of this Section by any person shall be unlawful and shall be 
referred to the City of Franklin Attorney who shall expeditiously prosecute all such violators. A violator shall, upon 
conviction, forfeit to the municipality a penalty of not more than $50.00 (fifty dollars), together with a taxable cost of such 
action. Each day of continued violation shall constitute a separate offense. Every violation of this ordinance is a public 
nuisance and the creation may be enjoined and the maintenance may be abated by action at suit of the City of Franklin, the 
State of Wisconsin, or any citizen thereof pursuant to Section 87.30, Wisconsin Statutes. 

 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 1 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

REVIEW GUIDE 
Existing Text 
New Text 
Deleted or Moved Text 
References to be updated 
 

 
Article 3. District Specific Standards  

 
 Bulk and Dimensional Standards ....................................................................................................................................... 1 

 Calculating Dimensional Standards.................................................................................................................................... 2 

 Exceptions to Bulk and Dimensional Standards ................................................................................................................. 3 

 Permitted, Limited, Conditional, and Temporary Uses. ...................................................................................................... 4 

 B-SM - Saint Martin’s Road Historic Business District Specific Standards. ................................................................... 188 

 FF Floodfringe District and GFP General Floodplain District. ........................................................................................ 219 

 

 Bulk and Dimensional Standards 

A. Residential District Bulk and Dimensional Standards. Table 15-3.0100(A) establishes the bulk and dimensional 

requirements for development or the use of a lot in each residential district. 

 

  

Standard R-C R-SE R-SR R-M R-V

Lot Area (sqft) 10,000 18,000 10,000 12,000(1) 7,200

Lot Area / DU (sqft)(2) -- -- -- 4,500 --

Lot Width (ft) 60 90 80 100 60

Front (ft) 25 45 30 15 25

Street Side (ft) 15 35 20 10 15

Interior Side (ft) 5 10 10 5 5

Rear (ft) 25(3) 30(3) 30(3) 15(3) 25(3)

Height Building (ft) 35 35 35 35 35

Impervious Surface Coverage (%) 20 40 50 60 40

Notes

(3) Minimum setback of 10 feet shall be allowed for garages.

Table 15-3-01(A): Residential District Bulk and Dimensional Standards

Lot Standards (Minimum) 

Yard Setbacks (Minimum)

Building Standards (Maximum)

(1) A lot area of 6,000 square feet shall be allowed for duplex structures with a parti wall.

(2) Lot area per dwelling unit requirements shall apply in addition to the baseline lot area requirement for each additional 

dwelling unit on a lot over one.



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 2 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

A.B. Nonresidential and Mixed-Use District Bulk and Dimensional Standards. Table 15-3.0100 (B) establishes the bulk and 

dimensional requirements for development or uses of a parcel in each nonresidential or mixed-use district. 

 

 Calculating Dimensional Standards 

A. Lot Width. Lot width shall be measured as the distance between the side lot lines of a lot at right angles to its depth along a 

straight line parallel to the front lot line. 

B. Lot Widths for Lots that Abut a Cul-de-Sac. The lot width of all lots which abut a cul-de-sac may be reduced by a 

maximum of twenty (20) percent of the required lot width for the district in which it is located. The required lot width for the 

district shall be met at the front yard setback line.  

C. Yard Setbacks.  

1. A required yard setback shall be measured as the horizontal distance from the center point of the applicable lot line 

into the interior of the lot for the minimum distance specified in Table 15-3.0100(A) or Table 15-3.0100(B). 

2. The span of a yard setback shall be measured as follows. 

a. Front Yard. From the interior side lot line to the other interior side lot line or street side lot line as applicable. 

b. Street Side Yard. From the front yard setback line to the rear lot line. 

c. Interior Side Yard. From the front yard setback line to the rear yard setback line. 

d. Rear Yard. 

I. From the interior side lot line to the other interior side lot line; or  

II. From the interior side lot line to the street side yard setback line.  

Standard B-N B-G B-R B-MU B-SM B-P LI A A-P I P

Lot Area (acres) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 3 35 n/a n/a

Lot Width (ft) 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 200 300 50 50

Lot Depth (ft) 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110

Front (ft) 25 25 40 30(1) 10 50 30 50 50 30 50

Street Side (ft) 25 25 40 30(1) 15 50 30 50 50 20 50

Interior Side (ft) 10 10 10 10(1) 5 20 20 25 25 10 20

Rear (ft) 20 20 20 30(1) 20 40 15 50 50 30 50

Height Building (ft) 40 40 50 50(2) 40 95 45 35 35 45 40

Impervious Surface Coverage (%) 60 70 70 70 90 60 70 n/a n/a 60 n/a

Notes

(2) An additional ten (10) feet of building height shall be allowed when at least 15% of dwelling units on site are deed restricted to be 

affordable relative to 80% the Milwaukee County Area Median Household Income. A minimum of 1 total dwelling unit shall be 

provided on site to qualify.

(1) 40% of the required setback may be reduced when at least 15% of dwelling units on site are deed restricted to be affordable 

relative to 80% of the Milwaukee County Area Median Household Income. A minimum of 1 total dwelling units shall be provided on 

site to qualify.

Table 15-3-01(B): Mixed-Use and Nonresidential District Bulk and Dimensional Standards

Lot Standards (Minimum) 

Yard Setbacks (Minimum)

Building Standards (Maximum)



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 3 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

A.D. Height. Building height shall be the vertical distance measured from the mean elevation of the finished lot grade along the 

building frontage to the highest elevation of the roof. 

E. Impervious Surface Coverage. The portion of a lot that is not covered with soil or natural vegetation. Such surfaces 

include areas covered by buildings, porches, decks, patios, terraces, and swimming pools, and also include surfaces 

constructed of asphalt, concrete, gravel composite, brick, stone, tile or any other paving material used for parking, 

driveways and walkways. 

 Exceptions to Bulk and Dimensional Standards 

A. Height Exceptions. The following structures may exceed the height limitations established in Table ##-### and ##-### as 

follows. The district height limitations stipulated elsewhere in this Ordinance may be exceeded, but such modification shall 

be in accord with the following: 

1. Architectural Projections. Architectural projections such as antennae, spires, steeples, belfries, parapet walls, 

cupolas, domes, flues, and chimneys are exempt from the height limitations of this Ordinancemay exceed the height 

limit for the district to provide for projections usual and customary to the proposed use. 

2. Special Structures. Special Sstructures such as elevator penthouses, mechanical penthouses, gas tanks, grain 

elevators, observation towers, and scenery lofts, manufacturing equipment and necessary appurtenances, cooling 

towers, fire towers, substations, and smoke stacks are exempt from the height limitations of this Ordinance;UDO 

provided the special structures are an integral part of and do not detract from the design of the principal structure as 

approved by the Plan Commission and/or Architectural Board.  

3. Essential Services, Utilities, Water Towers, and Electric Power and Communication Transmission Lines. 

Essential services, utilities, water towers, and electric power and communication transmission lines are exempt from 

the height limitations of this Ordinance.  

4.3. Communication Structures. Ground-mounted earth station dish antennas shall not exceed a height of 15 feet. 

Building-mounted earth station dish antennas shall not exceed the maximum height regulation of the district in which 

they are located. 

5.4. Agricultural Structures. Agricultural structures, such as barns, silos, windmills, shall not exceed in height twice their 

distance from the nearest lot line.  

6.5. Public or Semipublic Facilities. Public or semipublic facilities, such as schools, churches, hospitals, monuments, 

sanatoriums, libraries, and governmental offices and stations, may be erected to a height of sixty ( 60) feet, provided all 

required yard setbackss are increased not less than one (1) foot for each foot the structure exceeds the district's 

maximum height requirement. 

7.6. Modification of Other Ordinances and Regulations Not Permitted Under this Division. Modifications permitted 

under this Division of this Ordinance do not modify any requirements of federal, State, or local building codes relating 

to the elements addressed in this Division of this Ordinance. 

B. Yard Setback Exceptionss. The yard requirements stipulated elsewhere in this ordinance may be modified as follows 

Obstructions into the yard setback requirements specified in Section ##-### and ##-### may be permitted as follows. 

1. Uncovered Stairs, Landings, and Fire Escapes. Uncovered stairs, landings, and fire escapes may project into any 

yarda maximum of , but not further than six (6) feet into a required yard setback and shall not be closer than three (3) 

feet to any lot line. 

2. Architectural Projections. Architectural projections including , such as chimneys, flues, sills, eaves, belt courses, and 

ornamental featuress, may project a maximum of into any required yard; but such projections shall not exceed two (2) 

feet into a required yard setback. Bay windows may project a maximum of three (3) feet into a required yard setback. 

(See § 15-2.0202(E)(1)(2) of this Ordinance for exceptions.) 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 4 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

3. Accessibility Structures. ADA accessible wheelchair ramps and other features designed to promote universal access 

on the subject site may project into a required yard setback but shall be located at least three (3) feet from any lot line. 

 

4. Essential Services, UtilitiesUtility, and Electric Power and Communication Transmission Lines. Essential 

services, Uutilityies, and electric power and communication transmission lines are exempt from the yard setback and 

distance requirements of this Ordinance. 

5. Terraces, Patios, Uncovered Decks. Terraces, patios, uncovered decks, and ornamental features which do not 

extend more than three (3) feet above or below the adjacent grade may project a maximum of ten (10) feet into any 

required yard setback, however any such structure shall be setback at least five (5) feet from any property line. 

6. Lampposts and Flagpoles. Lampposts with a maximum height of ten (10) feet and flag poles with a maximum height 

of thirty five (35) feet may project into required yard setbacks, however any such structure shall be set back at least 

five (5) feet from any property line. 

7. Air Conditioning Units. Air conditioning units may project up to five (5) feet into a required side or rear yard setback 

but shall not be closer than five (5) feet from any property line. 

8.  Below-Ground Stairways and Windows. Stairways and windows that are constructed entirely below the site’s 

finished grade may project into any required yard setback.  

9. Fences. Fences may be located in required yard setbacks as specified in Section 15-5-##. 

10. Rainwater Harvesting Structures. Rainwater harvesting structures with two-hundred (200) gallons or less of storage 

may project into a required side or rear yard setback but shall not be closer than five (5) feet from any property line. 

Rainwater harvesting structures with over two-hundred (200) gallons of capacity meet the location standards for 

accessory structures in Section ##-#-##. In no instance shall an underground rainwater harvesting structure be within 

five (5) feet of an easement.  

a. If rain water harvesting structures are to be buried they shall be considered stormwater and shall conform to the 

requirements of SPS 382. A plumbing permit shall be required. Rain water harvesting structures located above 

ground shall not require a plumbing permit and shall not be required to confirm with the requirements of SPS 382. 

a.b. All rainwater harvesting structure shall be adequately maintained and in functional condition and shall meet the 

applicable standards of Section 190-24 of the Franklin municipal code. 

2. Landscape Bufferyards, Landscaping, Vegetation, and Areas of Natural Resource Features Mitigation Exempt 

from Yard and Setback Requirements. Landscape bufferyards, landscaping, vegetation, and natural resource 

features mitigation area are exempt from the yard and setback requirements of this Ordinance. Landscape plantings 

such as shrubs shall not be permitted in the street right-of-way unless approved by the Plan Commission. 

 Permitted, Limited, Conditional, and Temporary Uses. 

A. The following key shall be used in the interpretation of Table 15-3.0400(B) and (C).  

1. Permitted Uses. Uses which are marked as “P” in the table shall be allowed subject to all applicable regulations of this 

UDO. 

2. Conditional Uses. Uses which are marked as “C” in the table shall be allowed upon the approval of a Conditional Use 

Permit as detailed in Section ##-#-##. 

3. Temporary Uses. Uses which are marked “T” in the tables shall be allowed upon the approval of a Temporary Use 

Permit as detailed in Section ##-#-## 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 5 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

4. Prohibited Uses. A blank space in the tables indicates that a use type is not allowed in the respective zoning district 

unless it is otherwise expressly allowed by other regulations of this UDO. 

5. Uses Not Listed. If a proposed use is not listed in the tables, the Zoning Administrator shall determine if the use is 

substantially similar to a use listed on the tables per Section ##-#-##. If it is, they shall treat the use in the same 

manner as the substantially similar use. If not, the use shall be regarded as prohibited. 

1.6. Additional Regulation. If a use has use specific standards they are highlighted in green. Use specific standards shall 

apply to permitted, conditional, and temporary uses. 

B. Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Residential Districts.  

Table 15-3-04(B): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Residential Districts 

Use R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Residential  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Community Living, 1-15 Persons P P P P P 

Community Living, 16 + Persons C C C C C 

Single-Family P P P   P 

Mobile/Manufactured Home Park, Existing Prior to this UDO       P   

Dwelling Duplex     C P   

Dwelling Townhome       P   

Dwelling Multifamily Building       P   

Dwelling Multifamily Complex        P   

Senior Housing, Assisted Living C C C C C 

Senior Housing, Nursing Care C C C C C 

Senior Housing, Total Life Care       C   

Institutional  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Educational Facility  C C C C C 

Place of Assembly R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Noncommercial Place of Assembly, ###### sqft or less P P P P P 

Noncommercial Place of Assembly, more than ###### sqft  C C C C C 

Recreation, Amusement, and Lodging  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Lodging House P P P P P 

Short Term Rental  P P P P P 

Agricultural  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Community Garden P P P P P 

Crop Production C         

Indoor Agriculture C         

Telecommunications Tower C C C C C 

Accessory  R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Accessory Dwelling, Detached/Attached C C C C C 

Accessory Dwelling, Internal P P P P P 

Accessory Structure P P P P P 

Artisan Workshop  P P P P P 

Home Based Business P P P P P 

Solar Energy Collection System, canopy P P P P P 

Solar Energy Collection System, ground mounted P P P P P 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 6 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(B): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Residential Districts 

Use R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Solar Energy Collection System, roof mounted P P P P P 

Temporary R-C R-SE R-SR R-MF R-V 

Construction Related  T T T T T 

Food Truck  T T T T T 

  

 

C. Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts. 

Table 15-3-04(C): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts 

Use 
B-
N 

B-
G 

B-
R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Residential  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Single-Family       P  P      P P         

Multifamily, above ground floor only P P P P P                 

Institutional  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Educational Facility                      C     

Governmental Uses                     C     

Health Care Facility  P P P P     P       C     

Cemetery                     C     

Place of Assembly B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Indoor Commercial Place of Assembly, 
###### sqft or less P P P P P     C C C P     

Indoor Commercial Place of Assembly, 
more than ###### sqft  C P P P C     C C C P     

Outdoor Commercial Place of Assembly  C C C C C     C C C P     

Noncommercial Place of Assembly, 
###### sqft or less               C C C P     

Noncommercial Place of Assembly, more 
than ###### sqft                C C C P     

Recreation, Amusement, and Lodging  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Campground               C C       P 

Lodging House               P P         

Hotel  C C C C                   

Motel   C                       

Recreation Area                         P 

Short-Term Rental          C     P P         

Retail  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Adult Establishment             C             

General Retail, ###### sqft or less P P P P P                 

General Retail, more than ###### sqft  S P P P C                 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 7 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(C): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts 

Use 
B-
N 

B-
G 

B-
R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Multitenant Shopping Center C C C C                   

Wholesale Establishment             C             

Service  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Animal Boarding Facility/Kennel and/or 
Veterinary Service C C         C C           

General Service, ###### sqft or less P P P P P                 

General Service, more than ###### sqft  S P P P C P               

Financial Institution  P P P P   P               

Funeral Home C C                       

Office, above ground floor only       P P                 

Office, ###### sqft or less P P P P P P               

Office, more than ###### sqft P P P P   P               

Office Complex/Business Park           P               

Eating and Drinking B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Bar/Tavern P P P P P                 

Brewery/Winery/Distillery             C             

Brewery/Winery/Distillery Tasting Room P P P P P                 

Food Truck Court  C C C C C C               

Micro Brewery/Winery/Distillery   P P P P                 

Restaurant P P P P P                 

Vehicle Related B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Auto Sales/Rental and Service    C C       P             

Carwash    C C       P             

Major Automotive Repair      C       P             

Minor Automotive Repair     P       P             

Vehicle Fuel Sales   C C       P             

Agricultural  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Community Garden               P P         

Crop Production               P P         

Animal Husbandry                P P         

Indoor Agriculture             P P P         

Nursery Retail P P P         P P         

Nursery Wholesale                P P         

Industrial  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Artisan Manufacturing P P P P P                 

Brewery/Winery/Distillery              P C C         

Composting Facility              C C C         

Distribution Facility              C             

Equipment Rental, Sales, and Service  P P P       P             



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 8 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(C): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts 

Use 
B-
N 

B-
G 

B-
R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Extractive Industry              C C           

Heavy Industry              C           P 

Home Improvement Center/ Lumberyard P P P       P             

Landfill                       C   

Light Industry              C             

Recycling Facility                     C C   

Salvage Yard             C         P    

Self-Service Storage Facility      C       C             

Solid Waste Facility             C         C   

Storage Yard             C             

Warehouse             C             

Utility and Transportation B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Airport/ Heliport                     C     

Helistop   C C C   C         C     

Loading Areas and Parking Areas as a 
Principal Use                         P 

Railroad Use                     C     

Sanitary Sewer or Water Supply Lines                         C 

Solar Farm                C C         

Telecommunications Tower C C C C C C C C C C C C   

Wastewater Treatment Ponds and 
Facilities                         P 

Waterborne Transportation Uses                         P 

Wind Farm                C C         

Accessory  B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Accessory Retail P P P P P P C             

Accessory Structure P P P P P P P P P P P P   

Artisan Workshop                P P         

Drive Through  C C C C                   

Donation Drop Box C C C C     C             

Outdoor Activity/Operation/Storage             C             

Outdoor Dining  P P P P P                 

Outdoor Display/Sale of Merchandise P P P P P                 

Solar Energy Collection System, canopy P P P P P P P P P P P P   

Solar Energy Collection System, ground 
mounted C C C C C C C C C C C C   

Solar Energy Collection System, roof 
mounted P P P P P P P P P P P P   

Temporary B-N 
B-
G B-R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Construction Related  T T T T T T T T T T T T   

Farmers Market T T T T T     T T         



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 9 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Table 15-3-04(C): Permitted, Conditional, and Temporary Uses in Nonresidential and Mixed-Use Districts 

Use 
B-
N 

B-
G 

B-
R 

B-
MU 

B-
SM B-P LI A A-P P I L FW 

Food Truck  T T T T T T   T T         

Seasonal Sales  T T T T T     P P         

  

 

 South 27th Street Mixed-Use District B-MU South 27th Street Mixed Use District Specific 

Standards. 

A. District Intent. The South 27th Street Design Overlay District is intended to: 

B. Further the implementation of the South 27th Street Corridor Master Plan Amendment adopted by the City of Franklin on 

January 20th, 2005. Specifically, the plan intends for the South 27th Street Corridor and adjacent areas to: 

a. Be a local, regional and statewide destination for people to work, live, shop, recreate, and interact with one 

another. 

b. Be an attractive center of economic activity in southeast Wisconsin with clearly and conveniently linked strong 

neighborhoods, beautiful parks and open spaces, and engaging civic and institutional places. 

c. Serve as a unifying place for the cities of Franklin and Oak Creek, and for Milwaukee County. 

2. Apply whenever new principal and/or accessory buildings are constructed in the district following the effective date of 

this ordinance. 

3. Apply whenever building additions in the district result in an increase in floor area of 50% or more over the floor area of 

the existing building at the time of the addition. 

4. Exempt residential uses from compliance with the requirements set forth in this Division. 

5. Authorize the Plan Commission to waive any of the South 27th Street Design Overlay District Standards by 5 votes of 

all the members of the Plan Commission provided that supplemental design elements or improvements are 

incorporated into the project (over and above those which are otherwise required) which compensate for the waiver of 

the particular standard, or, in the case of parking provisions, where it can be demonstrated that the required parking is 

excessive or where specified areas are provided for the future provision of additional parking if necessary. In support of 

the waiver request, the applicant shall detail such supplemental design elements in written and graphical form, and 

provide an explanation as to the nature of the standards for which the waiver is requested. 

6. Allow existing structures to remain conforming with regard to this Division. 

C. District Standards. Properties in the South 27th Street Design Overlay District are regulated by the City of Franklin Unified 

Development Ordinance in its entirety, and all provisions set forth in this Division, including the following: 

§ 15-3.0352 Parking Requirements 

§ 15-3.0353 Landscape and Site Design General Standards 

§ 15-3.0354 Landscaping Requirements for Off-Street Parking Areas 

§ 15-3.0355 Architectural Requirements 

D. District Area. The requirements set forth in this Division apply to properties included within the area outlined on the map 

below: 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 10 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

South 27th Street Design Standards 

E. Parking Requirements. On-site parking shall be provided as set forth in § 15-5.0203. In addition, the following standards 

apply: 

F. Parking Required and Location Regulated. Not more than 50% of the off-street parking spaces shall be located directly 

between the front facade of the building and the public street, unless additional buildings in the overall development are or 

will be located between the main building and the public street. Such additional buildings must be sufficient in size, location, 

and number to provide an effective visual break between the public street and the parking lot. 

1. Number of Parking Spaces Limited. Parking lots in which the number of spaces significantly exceeds the minimum 

number of parking spaces required under § 15-5.0203 are not permitted. 

2. Potential Parking Reductions. 

a. Shared Parking. The Plan Commission may authorize as much as a 40% reduction in the area to be paved for 

non-residential off-street parking stalls when parking is shared by two or more uses provided: 

i. The reduction does not exceed 40% of the required parking. 

ii. The uses that are sharing parking have peak parking demand at different times. 

iii. Pedestrian sidewalks or paths are provided as safe connections between any uses sharing the parking area. 

iv. A shared parking agreement, signed by all parties, is approved by the City Council, following receipt of Plan 

Commission recommendations. The agreement shall state a minimum time frame for the agreement to be in 

effect; provide for ingress/egress easements; and be recorded with the County as a covenant. 

b. Other Requested Parking Reductions. If a parking reduction is requested for any reason other than shared 

parking, or a parking reduction beyond 40% is requested for shared parking arrangements, technical 

documentation shall be furnished by the applicant during the site plan review process to indicate, to the 

satisfaction of the Plan Commission, that actual off-street parking demand for that particular use is less than the 

required amount or that sufficient on-street parking is available in the area. 

3. Land-Banking of Reserved Parking Area. When a parking reduction has been authorized, the Plan Commission may 

require that sufficient area on the property be held in reserve for the potential future development of paved off-street 

parking to meet the full requirements. When required, this reserve off-street parking area shall be shown and noted on 

the site plan, maintained as open space, and developed with paved off-street parking spaces when the City determines 

that such off-street parking is necessary due to parking demand on the property which exceeds original expectations. 

The reserve parking area may not be counted as part of any required green space area, nor may it be used as the 

location of landscaping that is required under § 15-5.0302. The City may require that a letter of credit or other approved 

financial surety be provided at the time of permit issuance in an amount not to exceed 125% of the estimated cost of 

parking lot completion, to be exercised at City discretion, should the need for parking lot completion be determined. 

G. Landscape and Site Design General Standards. 

1. Vision Clearance Necessary. Landscaping and site amenities shall be provided to satisfy the requirements of this 

Division. All site improvements shall be designed and undertaken in such a way that clear site lines are maintained for 

the safety and convenience of all pedestrian and vehicular users. 

2. Coordination of Site Furnishings. Lighting and site furnishings (benches, trash receptacles, bicycle racks, etc.) shall 

complement the character of the building, and provide an attractive and strong relationship with adjoining properties 

and the public sidewalk. 

3. Pedestrian Considerations. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 11 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

4. New streets proposed as part of new developments shall provide "pedestrian friendly" streetscapes. 

Large parking areas shall include walkways to allow safe pedestrian access to the building entrance and to connect the 

site to adjacent streets and properties. Pedestrian walkways shall be designed with amenities such as special paving 

treatments (colored paver blocks or textured concrete), lighting (see lighting discussion below) and furnishings to 

create a pedestrian-friendly character. 

The entire development shall provide for safe pedestrian and bicycle access to all uses within the development, 

connections to existing and planned public pedestrian and bicycle facilities, and connections to adjacent properties. 

5. Sidewalks shall be provided along the entire length of any facade containing a public entrance, leaving room for 

foundation planting beds. 

a. Pedestrian walkways shall be provided from all building entrances to existing or planned public sidewalks or 

pedestrian/bike facilities. 

b. Internal pedestrian walkways shall be distinguished from driving surfaces. 

c. The building shall provide awnings or other weather protection features within 30 feet of all customer entrances 

along a building. 

6. Reducing the Impact of Vehicular Use Areas. For properties such as gas stations - where vehicular circulation is 

dominant on the site - walkways, landscaping, architectural features and lighting shall be provided to make these areas 

more attractive and inviting. Decorative fences, walls and/or landscaped edges shall screen front parking areas from 

the public sidewalk. Screening shall not exceed three feet six inches in height. 

7. Bicycle and Pedestrian Amenities Required. The development shall provide secure, integrated bicycle parking and 

pedestrian furniture in appropriate quantities and location. 

8. Landscaping. On-site landscaping shall be provided per the landscaping requirements found in § 15-5.0302. In 

addition, the project shall provide: 

a. Extensive building foundation landscaping for all building frontages facing public streets, parking lots, or 

residential districts to provide visual breaks in the mass of the building. Building foundation landscaping shall be 

placed so that, at maturity, the plant's drip line is within 10 feet of the foundation. Canopy/shade trees shall not be 

used to meet this requirement. 

b. Screen fences and/or landscaped buffers at property edges, particularly where commercial and light industrial 

properties adjoin residential properties. 

c. Off-street parking area landscaping as set forth in § 15-5.0302. 

9. Central Areas/Features. Each development which contains a building over 50,000 square feet in area shall provide 

central area(s) or feature(s) such as a patio/seating area, pedestrian plaza with benches, outdoor playground area, 

water feature, and/or other such deliberately designated areas or focal points that adequately enhance the 

development or community. All such areas shall be openly accessible to the public, connected to the public and private 

sidewalk system, designed with materials compatible with the building and remainder of the site, and maintained over 

the life of the building and project. 

10. Cart Returns. A minimum of one 200 square foot cart return area shall be provided for everyone 100 parking spaces 

for any establishment utilizing carts. Cart corrals shall be of durable, all season construction, and shall be designed 

and colored to be compatible with the building and parking lot light standards. Exterior cart return or cart storage areas 

shall be situated for the safety and convenience of users, however no such facilities shall be located within 25 feet of 

the building. 

H. Landscaping Requirement For Off-Street Parking Areas. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 12 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

1. Parking Lot Landscaping Required. Interior and perimeter buffer landscaping is required for all off-street parking lots 

and their associated vehicular use areas, with the exception of those infill and redevelopment projects that have been 

granted an exception by the Plan Commission. These regulations stipulate the design and placement of such 

plantings. The actual number of plant units utilized in such plantings may be counted toward the total number of plant 

units required on-site as determined under § 15-5.0302. 

2. Required Trees for Parking Lot Perimeter and Interior Applications. 

a. Shade or decorative trees are required within the vehicular use area at a ratio of one tree for every 15 parking 

spaces or fraction thereof, unless the Plan Commission grants an exception. The trees must be evenly distributed 

throughout the vehicular use area. 

b. Existing trees of desirable species and quality that can be preserved, where grading does not cut them off from a 

reasonable supply of water and where the area under the canopy remains undisturbed, shall count toward the tree 

requirements for off-street parking areas on a tree-for-tree basis. 

c. Where a landscape border or other landscape area abuts the vehicular use area, shade or decorative trees within 

those landscaped areas may count toward the vehicular use area requirement, provided: 

i. The trees are located within 10 feet of the vehicular use area. 

ii. The number of trees that are provided within the vehicular use area is not reduced by more than 50% of the 

amount required; and 

iii. There is a minimum of one tree provided within the vehicular use area. 

d. Trees shall be planted in such a way that they are protected from vehicle damage. 

3. Interior Landscaping for Off-street Parking Areas. The interior parking lot landscaping standards of this section 

shall apply to all off-street parking lots and their vehicular use areas containing 20 or more parking spaces. The intent 

of this section is to require landscaping within vehicular use areas; therefore, landscaping screens, planting strips and 

landscaping surrounding buildings shall not be considered as interior landscaping. Interior parking lot landscaping is 

required as follows: 

a. A minimum of 20 square feet of interior landscaped island shall be provided per parking stall. 

b. The interior landscaping shall be provided within landscaped islands a minimum of 250 square feet in area. 

Landscaped islands shall be three feet shorter than the depth of any adjacent space. A landscaped island nine 

feet in width and 30 feet in length with rounded ends, placed alongside two parking stalls each 18 feet in depth 

placed end to end, would meet all dimensional requirements for landscaped islands, provided the dimensions are 

measured from the inside of any curbs. 

c. The interior parking lot landscaping shall be placed so as to delineate driving lanes, define rows and generally 

mitigate the visual impact of the parking lot while maintaining clear site lines for safety purposes. 

d. Plants in landscaped islands shall be underlain by soil (not base course material), and shall be protected by 

curbing or other protective treatment. 

e. The interior parking lot landscaping shall be composed of a combination of hardy trees, shrubs, perennials, and 

groundcover that are able to tolerate winter salt and snow. Where islands are used as retention/infiltration areas 

for storm water management, they should be landscaped appropriately for that purpose. Decorative mulch and 

weed barriers may be utilized when shown on an approved landscape plan. 

f. Landscaped islands that function as storm water retention/infiltration areas shall be subject to the following: 

i. Landscaped islands shall be a minimum of 15 feet in width if used for this purpose. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 13 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

ii. Parking areas will sheet drain into the landscaped islands through curb cuts or other apertures. 

iii. Proposed plantings shall be tolerant of flood conditions. 

4. Screening for Off-street Parking Areas. The perimeter parking lot screening standards of this section shall apply to 

all off-street parking areas for six or more vehicles or larger than 2,000 square feet in area. Off-street parking areas, 

including aisles and driveways, shall be effectively screened year-round as follows: 

a. Perimeter planting areas shall be designed to maintain and protect visibility at driveways and access points. 

b. On-site perimeter greenbelts at least 10 feet in width shall be installed along any street side and along all interior 

lot lines when parking is located on that side of any building on the site. 

i. Street side greenbelts shall contain dense landscape screening which provides plantings at least 18 inches 

high at planting and 30 inches high at maturity. Such greenbelts shall provide a semi-opaque screen at a 

minimum during the winter season, 

ii. Interior side lot line greenbelts for non-residential uses when adjacent to residential uses shall contain dense 

landscape screening which provides plantings at least 36 inches high at planting and 48 inches high at 

maturity. Such greenbelts shall provide a semi-opaque screen at a minimum during the winter season. 

iii. Other greenbelts not specifically described above shall contain a minimum of one tree or shrub for each 15 

feet of perimeter to be planted in effective groupings within said strip. The remainder of the strip shall be 

planted in grass, ground cover or other effective landscape treatment. 

c. Berms may be utilized as part of the perimeter landscaping. 

I. Architectural Requirements. 

1. Building Character and Design. 

2. Buildings located on prominent sites - such as key intersections, corners, terminations of street vistas, and on high 

points - shall be multi-story and exhibit quality architectural design to serve as landmarks, 

3. All exterior materials shall be durable, of high-quality, utilized true to form (such as stone below wood rather than the 

opposite), and appropriate for external use. 

Brick, stone and terra-cotta are preferred primary materials for new buildings or additions. 

The use of false brick or other "faux" sidings is discouraged. 

Color choice shall complement the style and materials of the building's facade and provide a pleasing relationship with 

adjoining buildings. 

Painting of brick and stone is discouraged. 

Trash, service, and mechanical areas shall be entirely screened from view and located on the side or rear of 

properties. 

All visible sides of the building shall be designed with details that complement the front facade. Side facades that are 

visible from the public street shall receive equal design attention. 

Building massing that creates modulation and articulation is encouraged. 

Multi-story buildings that allow for a mix of retail, office or residential uses are preferred. 

Design Standards for Non-Residential Buildings [20,000 Square Feet or Less in Area]. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 14 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Purpose and Intent. The purpose of these design standards is to guide the design of smaller non-residential buildings 

constructed in the South 27th Street Design Overlay District to ensure that, through appropriate use of facades, 

windows, building orientation, and architectural details, new structures and alterations of existing structures are 

physically and visually compatible with other buildings in the vicinity. These standards are intended to support good 

quality design in new building construction, enhance street safety, and provide a comfortable street environment by 

providing features of interest to pedestrians and motorists. Good design results in buildings that are in visual harmony 

with nearby buildings, leading to a city that is attractive, interesting, active, and safe. These qualities, in turn, contribute 

to the creation of a sustainable community which facilitates easy pedestrian movement and establishment of a rich 

mixture of uses. 

The standards of this section apply whether the use is allowed as a Permitted Use, Special Use or Accessory Use. The 

Plan Commission shall evaluate site plans and architectural plans for compliance with these provisions. 

Compatibility with Existing Buildings. 

Buildings shall maintain a similar size, shape, height, bulk, scale and mass of surrounding architecture, unless required 

to vary due to zoning district dimensional standards. 

Where building sizes will not be equivalent or comparable to those existing in the same general vicinity, larger building 

facades shall be broken down into units that resemble the size of existing facades. 

Building Materials and Colors. 

Facades shall be varied and articulated to provide visual interest to pedestrians. Within larger projects, variations in 

facades, floor levels, architectural features, and exterior finishes shall create the appearance of several smaller 

buildings. 

Exterior building materials shall convey an impression of durability. Materials such as masonry, stone, stucco, and 

wood are encouraged. Metal is not allowed as the primary exterior building material, though it may be used for accents 

including awnings. 

Where masonry is used for exterior finish, decorative patterns must be incorporated. Examples of these decorative 

patterns include multicolored masonry units such as brick, stone, or cast stone, in layered or geometric patterns, or 

split-faced concrete block to simulate a rusticated stone-type construction. 

Wood siding must be bevel, shingle siding, or channel siding and must not be applied in a diagonal or herringbone 

pattern. 

Building facade colors shall be non-reflective, subtle, neutral, or earth tone. The use of high intensity colors, metallic 

colors, black, or fluorescent colors on facades shall be prohibited. Building trim and architectural accent elements may 

feature brighter colors, but such colors shall be muted, not metallic, not fluorescent, and not specific to particular uses 

or tenants. Standard corporate and trademark colors shall be permitted only on sign face and copy areas. 

Roof Materials, Parapets, and Roof Pitch. 

Pitched roof structures shall have a minimum roof pitch of 6:12. 

Flat roofs are permitted with detailed stepped parapets or detailed brick coursing. 

Parapet corners must be stepped or the parapet must be designed to emphasize the center or primary entrance(s), 

unless the primary entrance is at the corner of the building. 

Visible sloped roofs must be neutral in color, such as gray, black, or dark brown. 

Visible roof materials must be wood or architectural grade composition shingle or sheet metal with standing or batten 

seam. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 15 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

All roof and wall-mounted mechanical, electrical, communications, and service equipment, including satellite dishes 

and vent pipes, must be screened from public view by parapets, walls, or by other approved means. 

Building Facades. 

Decorative devices - such as molding, entablature, and friezes - are expected at the roofline. Where such 

ornamentation is present in the form of a linear molding or board, the band must be at least eight inches wide. 

Alcoves, Porches, Arcades, etc. Buildings must incorporate features such as arcades, roofs, porches, alcoves, 

porticoes, and awnings to protect pedestrians from the rain and sun. Awnings and entrances may be designed to be 

shared between two structures. 

Change in Relief of Building. Buildings must include changes in relief on at least 10% of their primary facade for 

pedestrian interest and scale. Relief changes include cornices, bases, fenestration, fluted masonry, or other 

treatments. 

Windows. 

Windows which allow views to the interior activity or display areas are expected. Windows shall include sills at the 

bottom and pediments at the top. Glass curtain walls, reflective glass, and painted or darkly tinted glass shall not be 

used. 

Ground Floor Window Standards. 

All new buildings must provide ground floor windows. 

Required window areas must be either windows that allow views into working areas or lobbies, pedestrian entrances, 

or display windows. 

Required windows must have a sill no more than four feet above grade. Where interior floor levels prohibit such 

placement, the sill must be raised to allow it to be no more than two feet above the finished floor level, up to a 

maximum sill height of six feet above grade. 

Darkly tinted windows and mirrored windows that block two-way visibility are prohibited as ground floor windows along 

street facades. 

The primary facade of each building, or for corner buildings each of the two facades, must contain at least 20% of the 

ground floor wall area in display areas, windows, or doorways. Blank walls are prohibited. 

Ground floor windows are also required on facades facing any public parking lot. The minimum requirement is 16 

square feet per story or 6% of the facade, whichever is greater. 

Upper Floor Window Standards. 

Glass area dimensions shall not exceed five feet by seven feet. (The longest dimension may be taken either 

horizontally or vertically.) 

Windows must have trim or molding at least two inches wide around their perimeters. 

Pedestrian Accessibility. 

Buildings shall maintain and/or enhance the pedestrian scale. 

Building entries must comply with the accessibility requirements of the applicable state and federal codes. 

Special attention shall be given to designing a primary building entrance that is both attractive and functional. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 16 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

Buildings located at the intersection of two streets shall utilize a corner entrance to the building unless this requirement 

is waived by the Plan Commission. 

The pedestrian environment may be enhanced by street furniture, landscaping, awnings, and movable planters of 

seasonal flowers. 

Landscaping/Streetscape. 

Benches, outdoor seating, and trash receptacles must complement any existing decorative street lighting and be in 

keeping with the overall architectural character of the area. 

Upon prior approval of the Plan Commission and Common Council, benches and other streetscape items may be 

placed within the public right-of-way, provided they do not block free movement of pedestrians. A minimum pedestrian 

walkway width of six feet shall be maintained at all times. 

External Storage. 

The external storage of merchandise and/or materials directly or indirectly related to a business is prohibited unless 

identified on an approved site plan and fully screened. 

Outdoor seasonal displays of merchandise are permitted during business hours only. A minimum pedestrian walkway 

width of six feet must be maintained at all times. 

Each structure shall provide for collection of its trash and recyclable materials within the boundaries of each parcel. All 

trash collection areas must be located within the structure, or behind the building in an enclosure, in accordance with 

the provisions of §§ 15-3.0802 and 15-3.0803. 

Design Standards for Non-Residential Buildings [Greater than 20,000 Square Feet in Area]. 

Purpose and Intent. The design standards for buildings greater than 20,000 square feet are intended to ensure that 

large buildings, and the sites they occupy, are properly located and compatible with the surrounding area and 

community character of the South 27th Street Design Overlay District. Such projects shall also be subject to the more 

general standards for the approval of Special Use Permits or PUD Districts when applicable. 

The following requirements are applicable to all new buildings in excess of 20,000 gross square feet. These 

requirements are also applicable when additions to non-residential and mixed use buildings built either before or after 

the effective date of this Division, bring the total building size to over 20,000 gross square feet. 

Waiver of Standards. The Plan Commission may waive any of the following standards by a 3/4 vote of members in 

attendance, but only if supplemental design elements or improvements are incorporated into the project (over and 

above those which are otherwise required) which compensate for the waiver of the particular standard. In support of 

the waiver request, the applicant shall detail such supplemental design elements in written and graphical form, and 

provide an explanation as to the nature of the standards for which the waiver is requested. 

Compatibility with City Plans. The applicant shall provide, through a written report submitted with the petition for a 

Site Plan adequate evidence that the proposed building and overall development project shall be compatible with the 

City's community character, urban design, natural area preservation, commercial development, redevelopment, or 

community facility objectives as expressed in adopted elements of the City's Comprehensive Master Plan. 

Building Materials. Building materials shall be unified throughout the building, and shall complement other buildings in 

the vicinity. Exterior building materials shall be of high and comparable aesthetic quality on all sides. Building materials 

such as glass, brick, decorative concrete block, or stucco shall be used. Decorative architectural metal with concealed 

fasteners may be approved if sensitively incorporated into the overall design of the building. 

Building Design. The building exterior shall be unified in design throughout the structure, and shall complement other 

buildings in the vicinity. The building shall employ varying building setbacks, height, roof treatments, door and window 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 17 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

openings, and other structural and decorative elements to reduce apparent size and scale. A minimum of 20% of all of 

the combined facades of the structure shall employ actual facade protrusions or recesses. A minimum of 20% of all of 

the combined linear roof eave or parapet lines of the structure shall employ differences in height, with such differences 

being six feet or more as measured eave to eave or parapet to parapet for buildings over 50,000 square feet. Roofs 

with particular slopes may be required by the City to complement existing buildings or otherwise establish a particular 

aesthetic objective. Ground floor facades that face and are on properties that are in any part within 100 feet of public 

streets shall have arcades, display windows, entry areas, awnings, or other such features along no less than 50% of 

their horizontal length. The integration of windows into building design is strongly encouraged. 

a. Building Entrances. Public building entryways shall be clearly defined and highly visible on the building's exterior 

design, and shall be emphasized by on-site traffic flow patterns. Two or more of the following design features shall 

be incorporated into all public building entryways: canopies or porticos, overhangs, projections, arcades, peaked 

roof forms, arches, outdoor patios, display windows, distinct architectural details. Unless exempted by the Plan 

Commission all sides of the building that directly face or abut a public street or public parking area shall have at 

least one public entrance, except that the City shall not require building entrances on more than two sides of any 

building. 

4. Building Color. Building facade colors shall be non-reflective, subtle, neutral, or earth tone. The use of high intensity 

colors, metallic colors, black, or fluorescent colors on facades shall be prohibited. Building trim and architectural accent 

elements may feature brighter colors, but such colors shall be muted, not metallic, not fluorescent, and not specific to 

particular uses or tenants. Standard corporate and trademark colors shall be permitted only on sign face and copy 

areas. 

5. Building Location. Modest building setbacks are encouraged. Where buildings are proposed to be distant from a 

public street, the overall development design shall include smaller buildings on pads or outlots closer to the street. 

6. Screening. Mechanical equipment, refuse containers and any permitted outdoor storage shall be fully concealed from 

on-site and off-site ground level views, with materials identical to those used on the building exterior. Loading docks 

shall be completely screened from surrounding roads and properties. Said screening may be accomplished through 

loading areas internal to buildings, screen walls which match the building exterior in materials and design, fully opaque 

landscaping at time of planting, or combinations of the above. Gates and fencing may be used for security and access, 

but not for screening, and shall be of high aesthetic quality. 

7. Traffic Impact. All projects that include buildings over 20,000 square feet shall have direct access to an arterial or 

collector street, or shall dedicate public roads which have direct access to a public street. Vehicle access shall be 

designed to accommodate peak on-site traffic volumes without disrupting traffic on public streets or impairing 

pedestrian safety. This shall be accomplished through adequate parking lot design and capacity; access drive entry 

throat length, width, design, location, and number; and traffic control devices; and sidewalks. The site design shall 

provide direct connections to adjacent land uses if required by the City. Prior to development approval, the applicant's 

traffic engineer shall complete and present a traffic impact analysis following Wisconsin Department of Transportation 

guidelines. Where the project will cause off-site public roads, intersections, or interchanges to function below level of 

service C, as defined by the Institute of Transportation Engineers, the City may deny the application, require a size 

reduction in the proposed development, or require that the developer construct and/or pay for required off-site 

improvements. 

i. Natural Resources Protection. Existing natural features shall be integrated into the site design as a site 

and community amenity. 

ii. Signage. The plan for exterior signage shall provide for modest, coordinated, and complimentary exterior 

sign locations, configurations, and colors throughout the development. All freestanding signage within the 

development shall compliment on-building signage. Monument style ground signs are strongly preferred over 

pole signs, and consolidated signs for multiple users are strongly preferred over multiple individual signs. The 

City may require the use of muted corporate colors on sigange if propsed colors are not compatible with the 

City's design objectives for the area. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 18 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

 B-SM - Saint Martin’s Road Historic Business District Specific Standards. 

A. Canopies and Awnings. 

1. Building canopies, awnings, or similar weather protection devices are encouraged on the first floor of all buildings. 

2. If provided, the device shall project a minimum of three (3) feet and a maximum of five (5) feet from the façade to which 

it is affixed. 

B. Building Frontage. The primary façade of all nonresidential and mixed-use development shall meet the standards of one 

(1) of the frontage types detailed in subsection one through four below. The use of the resulting front yards or porches for 

outdoor dining or other activity generating uses that support the subject lot’s principal use is encouraged. 

1. Projecting Porch. The primary façade of the building shall be sufficiently set back from the property line to 

accommodate the projecting porch within the front yard setback. The resulting front yard may or may not be defined by 

a fence or hedge to spatially maintain the edge of the street. The projecting porch shall be open on three (3) sides and 

have a roof form that shall be separate from the principal structure. A projecting porch may encroach into a required 

front yard setback to a maximum extent of ten (10) feet. The following minimum standards shall apply to projecting 

porches. 

a. Width. Ten (10) feet 

b. Depth. Eight (8) feet 

c. Height. Eight (8) feet 

2. Storefront. The primary façade of the building shall adjoin the required minimum front setback. Accordion-style 

windows and doors or other operable windows are encouraged. The following standards shall apply to shopfronts. 

a. Window Area. Sixteen (16) square feet 

b. Window Width. Three (3) feet 

c. Window Height. Four (4) feet 

d. Sill Height. Three (3) feet 

C. Entrance Orientation. Main entrances to buildings shall be oriented toward the primary street adjoining the subject 

property. Secondary entrances are encouraged along secondary streets or along building frontages not adjoining a street. 

A.D. Parking Location. Off-street parking spaces and lots shall be located to the rear or interior side lot of the principal building. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 19 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

 This Section sets forth those uses which are permitted uses and special uses in the AO 

Airport Overlay District. 

 Establishment of District Boundaries and Districts. The AO Airport Overlay District 

boundaries shall be based upon the General Mitchell Field study titled General Mitchell 

International Airport. Part 150 Noise Compatibility Study: Noise Exposure Maps and Noise 

Compatibility Program, prepared by Coffman Associates, Inc., dated October 1993. Boundaries 

shall be subject to periodic updating and amendment. The AO Airport Overlay District shall be 

established in like manner as any other zoning district permitted by this Ordinance. 

 Establishment of Airport Noise Impact Areas. Airport noise impact areas (numbered AO 

Districts) shall be established in order to distinguish between the severity of the levels of noise 

impact so that appropriate uses and acoustical performance standards can be established to 

mitigate the adverse impacts of aircraft noise in order to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare. 

 Noise Zones. Noise levels shall be classified into noise zones, and the Day-Night Average 

Sound Level (DNL) classifications shall be used for all noise sources. DNL shall be 

mathematically symbolized as Ldn. 

 Two Airport Noise Impact Areas Established. For the purpose of administering these 

regulations, there shall be two Airport Noise Impact Areas established as follows: 

 The AO-1 District for areas of Ldn 65-70. 

 The AO-2 District for areas of Ldn 70-75.Permitted Uses in the AO Airport Overlay District. 

All permitted uses in the underlying zoning district(s) shall be permitted by right, except as 

qualified by § 15-3.0608(C). 

 Special Uses in the AO Airport Overlay District. All special uses which may be allowed in 

the underlying zoning district(s) may be permitted as special uses, except as qualified by § 15-

3.0608(C). 

 Use Limitations and Noise Level Reduction (NLR) Standards in the AO-1 Airport Overlay 

District. allbuildingsIn addition to the use limitations presented for the underlying zoning 

district(s) in which the AO-1 Airport Overlay District is located, the use limitations set forth in 

this Section shall also apply to the specific AO-1 Airport Noise Impact Area. Uses within the AO-

1 District shall be permitted only in accordance with the following guidelines: 

 Residential Uses. For all residential uses measures to achieve a noise level reduction 

(outdoor to indoor) of 25 dB must be incorporated into the design and construction of the 

residential structure(s). Mobile home parks or courts shall not be permitted. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 20 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

 [Commentary: Normal construction can be expected to provide a noise level reduction of 

20 dB; thus, the reduction requirements are about 5 dB over standard construction and 

normally assume mechanical ventilation and closed windows year round. Noise level reduction 

criteria will not eliminate outdoor noise problems. However, building location and site planning, 

design and use of berms and barriers can help mitigate outdoor noise exposure particularly 

from ground level sources. Measures that reduce noise at a site should be used wherever 

practical in preference to measures which only protect interior spaces.] 

 Nonresidential Uses. For land uses in the SIC categories of 805, 806, and 82 (nursing and 

personal care facilities, hospitals, and educational facilities), cultural facilities including 

churches, auditoriums, and theaters, measures to achieve a noise level reduction (outdoor to 

indoor) of 25 dB must be incorporated into the design and construction of the structure(s). 

Outdoor music shells or amphitheaters shall not be permitted. 

 Use Limitations and Noise Level Reduction (NLR) Standards in the AO-2 Airport Overlay 

District. In addition to the use limitations presented for the underlying zoning district(s) in 

which the AO-2 Airport Overlay District is located, the use limitations set forth in this Section 

shall also apply to the specific AO-2 Airport Noise Impact Area. Uses within the AO-2 District 

shall be permitted only in accordance with the following guidelines: 

 Residential Uses. For all residential uses measures to achieve a noise level reduction 

(outdoor to indoor) of 30 dB must be incorporated into the design and construction of the 

residential structure(s). Mobile home parks or courts shall not be permitted. 

 [Commentary: Normal construction can be expected to provide a noise level reduction of 

20 dB; thus, the reduction requirements are about 10 dB over standard construction and 

normally assume mechanical ventilation and closed windows year round. Noise level reduction 

criteria will not eliminate outdoor noise problems. However, building location and site planning, 

design and use of berms and barriers can help mitigate outdoor noise exposure particularly 

from ground level sources. Measures that reduce noise at a site should be used wherever 

practical in preference to measures which only protect interior spaces.] 

 Nonresidential Uses. Measures to achieve a noise level reduction (outdoor to indoor) of 25 

dB must be incorporated into the design and construction of the structure(s) for uses in the SIC 

manufacturing categories of 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 127, 28, 29, 30, 32, 33, 34, 38, and 39; SIC 

transportation, communication, and utilities categories of 40, 41, 42, 44, 45, 48, and 49; the SIC 

trade categories of 50 and 51; the SIC retail categories of 52, 53, 54, 56, 57, 58, and 59; and the 

SIC services categories of 72, 73, and 76. 

 Nonresidential Uses in the SIC Categories of 805, 806, and 82. For land uses in the SIC 

categories of 805, 806, and 82 (nursing and personal care facilities, hospitals, and educational 

facilities), cultural facilities including churches, auditoriums, and theaters, measures to achieve 

a noise level reduction (outdoor to indoor) of 30 dB must be incorporated into the design and 

construction of the structure(s). Outdoor music shells or amphitheaters shall not be permitted. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 21 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

 FF Floodfringe District and GFP General Floodplain District. 

A. Statutory Authorization, Finding of Fact, Statement of Purpose, Title, and General Provisions 

1. This ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authorization in Wisconsin Statutes Annotated s. 61.35 and 62.23and the 

requirements in s. 87.30. 

2. Uncontrolled development and use of the floodplains and rivers within the City of Franklin would impair the public 

health, safety, convenience, general welfare, and tax base. 

3. This ordinance is intended to regulate floodplain development in order to: 

a. Protect life, health and property; 

b. Minimize expenditures of public funds for flood control projects; 

c. Minimize rescue and relief efforts undertaken at the expense of the taxpayers; 

d. Minimize business interruptions and other economic disruptions; 

e. Minimize damage to public facilities in the floodplain; 

f. Minimize the occurrence of future flood blight areas in the floodplain; 

g. Discourage the victimization of unwary land and homebuyers; 

h. Prevent increases in flood heights that could increase flood damage and result in conflicts between property 

owners; and 

i. Discourage development in a floodplain if there is any practicable alternative to locate the activity, use or structure 

outside of the floodplain. 

4. This Section shall constitute, for statutory purposes, the Floodplain Zoning Ordinance for the City of Franklin, 

Wisconsin. 

5. General Provisions. 

a. Areas to be Regulated. This Section regulates all areas of special flood hazard identified as zones A, AO, AH, 

A1-30, AE, VE, V1-30, or V on the Flood Insurance Rate Map.   

b. Official Maps and Revisions. Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHA) are designated as zones A, A1-30, AE, AH, 

AO, VE, V1-30, or V on the Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) based on flood hazard analyses summarized in 

the Flood Insurance Study (FIS) listed in subd. (i) below. Additional flood hazard areas subject to regulation under 

this ordinance are identified on maps based on studies approved by the DNR and listed in subd. (b) below. These 

maps and revisions are on file in the office of the Planning Manager. 

c. Official Maps.   

i. Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panel number 55079C0144E, effective on 09/26/2008; number 

55079C0142E, effective on 09/26/2008; number55079C0161E, effective on09/26/2008; number 

55079C0163E, effective on 09/26/2008.  [NOTE:  CHECK WITH GIS MANAGER & SEWRPC to ensure all 

are included & correct; from 

https://msc.fema.gov/portal/search?AddressQuery=Franklin%2C%20Wisconsin#searchresultsanchor ].   

6. Establishment of Floodplain Zoning Districts. The flood hazard areas regulated by this ordinance are divided into 

districts as follows and collectively shall be known as the “Floodplain Districts”: 

https://msc.fema.gov/portal/search?AddressQuery=Franklin%2C%20Wisconsin#searchresultsanchor


 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 22 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

a. The Floodway District (FW), is the channel of a river or stream and those portions of the floodplain adjoining the 

channel required to carry the regional floodwaters, within AE Zones as shown on the FIRM [see Section 5(c)Ii) 

above], or within A Zones shown on the FIRM when determined according to Wisconsin Statues Annotated s. 

5.1(5). 

b. The Floodfringe District (FF) is that portion of a riverine special flood hazard area outside the floodway within AE 

Zones on the FIRM, or, when floodway limits have been determined according to s. 5.1(5), within A Zones shown 

on the FIRM. 

c. The General Floodplain District (GFP) is those riverine areas that may be covered by floodwater during the 

regional flood in which a floodway boundary has not been delineated on the FIRM and also includes shallow 

flooding areas identified as AH and AO zones on the FIRM. 

7. Locating Floodplain Boundaries.   

a. Discrepancies between the exterior boundaries of zones A1-30, AE, AH, or A on the official floodplain zoning map 

and actual field conditions may be resolved using the criteria in subsections (7)(d) or (7)(e) below. If a significant 

difference exists, the map shall be amended according to Section [.XX], Amendments.  

b. The Zoning Administrator may rely on a boundary derived from a profile elevation to grant or deny a land use 

permit, whether or not a map amendment is required. The Zoning Administrator shall be responsible for 

documenting actual pre- development field conditions and the basis upon which the district boundary was 

determined. Disputes between the Zoning Administrator and an applicant over the district boundary line shall be 

settled according to [SECTION XX] 7.3(3) and the criteria in (a) and (b) below.  

c. Where the flood profiles are based on established base flood elevations from a FIRM, FEMA must approve any 

map amendment or revision pursuant to [sXX] Amendments. 

d. If flood profiles exist, the map scale and the profile elevations shall determine the district boundary. The regional 

or base flood elevations shall govern if there are any discrepancies. 

e. Where flood profiles do not exist for projects, including any boundary of zone A or AO, the location of the 

boundary shall be determined by the map scale. 

8. Removal of Lands from Floodplain. 

a. Compliance with the provisions of this section shall not be grounds for removing land from the floodplain unless 

the affected land is filled at least two feet above the regional or base flood elevation, the fill is contiguous to land 

outside the floodplain, and the map is amended pursuant to s. 8.0 Amendments. 

b. The delineation of any of the Floodplain Districts may be revised by the City of Franklin where natural or man-

made changes have occurred and/or where more detailed studies have been conducted. However, prior to any 

such change, approval must be obtained from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources and Federal 

Emergency Management Agency. A completed Letter of Map Revision is a record of this approval. The Zoning 

Administrator shall not sign a community acknowledgement form unless all criteria set forth in the following 

paragraphs are met:  

i. The land and/or land around the structure must be filled at least two feet above the regional or base flood 

elevation; and 

ii. the fill must be contiguous to land outside the floodplain; Applicant shall obtain floodplain development permit 

before applying for a LOMR or LOMR-F. 

c. Removal of lands from the floodplain may also occur by operation of §87.30(1)(e), Wis. Stat. if a property owner 

has obtained a letter of map amendment from the federal emergency management agency under 44 C.F.R. 70. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 23 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

9. Compliance. 

a. No structure or use within areas regulated by this ordinance shall hereafter be located, erected, constructed, 

reconstructed, repaired, extended, converted, enlarged, or altered without full compliance with the terms of these 

regulations and all other applicable regulations that apply to uses within the jurisdiction of these regulations.  

b. Failure to obtain a floodplain development permit shall be a violation of these regulations and shall be punishable 

in accordance with s. 9.0.  

c. Floodplain development permits issued on the basis of plans and applications approved by the Zoning 

Administrator authorize only the use, and arrangement, set forth in such approved plans and applications, or 

amendments thereto if approved by the Zoning Administrator. Use, arrangement, or construction contrary to that 

authorized shall be deemed a violation of these regulations and punishable in accordance with s. 9.0. 

10. Municipalities and State Agencies Regulated. 

a. Unless specifically exempted by law, all cities, villages, towns, and counties are required to comply with this 

ordinance and obtain all necessary permits. State agencies are required to comply if s. 13.48(13), Stats., applies.  

b. The construction, reconstruction, maintenance and repair of state highways and bridges by the Wisconsin 

Department of Transportation is exempt when s. 30.2022, Stats., applies. Although exempt from a local zoning 

permit and permit fees, DOT must provide sufficient project documentation and analysis to ensure that the 

community is in compliance with Federal, State, and local floodplain standards.  

c. If a local transportation project is located within a Zone A floodplain and is not a WisDOT project under s. 30.2022, 

then the road project design documents (including appropriate detailed plans and profiles) may be sufficient to 

meet the requirements for issuance of a local floodplain permit if the following apply:  

i. The City provides documentation to the Floodplain Administrator that the proposed project is a culvert 

replacement or bridge replacement under 20’ span at the same location, the project is exempt from a DNR 

permit under s. 30.123(6)(d),  

ii. The capacity is not decreased, the top road grade is not raised, and no floodway data is available from a 

federal, state, or other source.  

iii. If floodway data is available in the impacted area from a federal, state, or other source that existing data 

must be utilized by the City in the analysis of the project site. 

11. Abrogation and Greater Restrictions 

a. This Section supersedes all the provisions of the this UDO which relate to floodplains. A more restrictive provision 

shall continue in full force and effect to the extent of the greater restrictions, but not otherwise. 

b. This Section is not intended to repeal, abrogate or impair any existing deed restrictions, covenants or easements. 

If this ordinance imposes greater restrictions, the provisions of this Section shall prevail. 

12. Interpretation.  In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this Section are the minimum requirements 

liberally construed in favor of the City of Franklin, and are not a limitation on or repeal of any other powers granted by 

the Wisconsin Statutes. If a provision of this Section, required by ch. NR 116, Wis. Adm. Code, is unclear, the provision 

shall be interpreted in light of the standards in effect on the date of the adoption of this Section or in effect on the date 

of the most recent text amendment to this Section. 

13. Warning and Disclaimer of Liability.  The flood protection standards in this Section are based on engineering 

experience and research. Larger floods may occur, or the flood height may be increased by man-made or natural 

causes. This Section does not imply or guarantee that non-floodplain areas or permitted floodplain uses will be free 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 24 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

from flooding and flood damages. This Section does not create liability on the part of, or a cause of action against, the 

City of Franklin, or any officer or employee thereof, for any flood damage that may result from reliance on this Section. 

14. Severability.  Should any portion of this Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, the remainder of this Section shall not be affected. 

B. General Standards Applicable to All Floodplain Districts. 

1. Applicability.   

a. The City of Franklin Zoning Administrator shall review all permit applications to determine compliance with the 

provisions of this Sectionwhether proposed building sites will be reasonably safe from flooding and assure that all 

necessary permits have been received from those governmental agencies whose approval is required by federal 

or state law. 

b. If a proposed building site is in a Floodplain District as defined in this Section flood-prone area, all new 

construction and substantial improvements shall: 

i. Be designed and anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement of the structure resulting from 

hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy; 

ii. Be constructed with flood-resistant materials; 

iii. Be constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damages; and 

iv. Be constructed in a manner wherein mechanical and utility equipment is elevated to or above the flood 

protection elevation. 

c. If a subdivision or other proposed new development is in a Floodplain District as defined in this Sectiona flood-

prone area, the Zoning Administrator shall assure that: 

i. Such proposed subdivision or other proposed new development is consistent with the need to minimize flood 

damage within the Floodplain Districtflood-prone area; 

ii. Public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems are located and constructed to 

minimize or eliminate flood damage; and 

iii. Adequate drainage is provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards. 

d. All subdivision proposals (including manufactured home parks) shall include regional flood elevation and floodway 

data for any development that meets the subdivision definition of this ordinance and all other requirements in s. 

7.1(2). 

2. Hydraulic and Hydrologic Analyses.   

a. No development within a Floodplain District shall: 

i. Obstruct flow, defined as development which blocks the conveyance of floodwaters by itself or with other 

development, causing any increase in the regional flood height; or 

ii. Cause any increase in the regional flood height due to floodplain storage area lost. 

b. The Zoning Administrator shall deny permits if it is determined the proposed development will obstruct flow or 

cause any increase in the regional flood height, based on the officially adopted FIRM or other adopted map, 

unless the provisions of s. 8.0 Amendments are met 

3. Watercourse Alterations 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 25 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

a. No land use permit to alter or relocate a watercourse in a mapped floodplain shall be issued until the Zoning 

Administrator has notified in writing all adjacent municipalities, the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, 

and FEMA regional offices, and required the applicant to secure all necessary state and federal permits. The 

standards of Subsection B.2 above must be met and the flood carrying capacity of any altered or relocated 

watercourse shall be maintained. 

b. As soon as is practicable, but not later than six months after the date of the watercourse alteration or relocation 

and pursuant to s. 8.0 Amendments, the City of Franklin shall apply for a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) from 

FEMA. Any such alterations must be reviewed and approved by FEMA and the DNR through the LOMC process. 

4. Applicability of Chapter 30 and 31, Wisconsin Statutes, Development. Development which requires a permit from 

the Department, under Chapters 30 and 31, Stats., such as docks, piers, wharves, bridges, culverts, dams and 

navigational aids, may be allowed if the necessary permits are obtained and amendments to this Section are made in 

accordance with s. 8.0 Amendments. 

5. Public or Private Campgrounds. Public or private campgrounds shall have a low flood damage potential and shall 

meet the following provisions: 

a. The campground is approved by the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection; 

b. A land use permit for the campground is can properly be issued by the Zoning Administrator; 

c. The character of the river system and the campground elevation are such that a 72- hour warning of an impending 

flood can be given to all campground occupants; 

d. There is an adequate flood warning procedure for the campground that offers the minimum notice required under 

this section to all persons in the campground. This procedure shall include a written agreement between the 

campground owner, officials of the City of Franklin (including but not the City’s emergency government 

coordinator and the chief law enforcement official) which specifies the flood elevation at which evacuation shall 

occur, personnel responsible for monitoring flood elevations, types of warning systems to be used and the 

procedures for notifying at-risk parties, and the methods and personnel responsible for conducting the evacuation; 

e. This agreement shall be for no more than one (1) calendar year, at which time the agreement shall be reviewed 

and updated - by the officials identified in sub. (4) - to remain in compliance with all applicable regulations, 

including those of the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer Protection and all other 

applicable regulations. 

f. All mobile recreational vehicles placed on site must meet one of the following: 

i. Be fully licensed, if required, and ready for highway use; or 

ii. Not occupy any site in the campground for more than 180 consecutive days, at which time the recreational 

vehicle must be removed from the floodplain for a minimum of 24 hours; or 

iii. Meet the requirements in either s. 3.0, 4.0, 5.1, or 5.3 for the floodplain district in which the structure is 

located; 

g. A mobile recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site 

only by quick-disconnect utilities and security devices and has no permanently attached additions. 

h. All camping units that remain on site for more than 30 days shall be issued a limited authorization by the 

campground operator, a written copy of which shall be kept on file at the campground. Such authorization shall 

allow placement of a camping unit consistent with 2.4(6) and shall ensure compliance with all the provisions of this 

section; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 26 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

i. The City of Franklin shall monitor the limited authorizations issued by the campground operator to assure 

compliance with the terms of this section;  

j. The campground shall have signs clearly posted at all entrances warning of the flood hazard and the procedures 

for evacuation when a flood warning is issued; and 

k. All service facilities, including but not limited to refuse collection, electrical service, gas lines, propane tanks, 

sewage systems and wells shall be properly anchored and placed at or floodproofed to the flood protection 

elevation. 

l. Standards for structures in a campground: 

i. All structures must comply with the applicable requirements in ss. 3.0, 4.0, 5.1, or 5.3 for the floodplain 

district in which the structure is located; 

ii. A portable deck or landing may be allowed for a camping unit for each entry provided that the landing is not 

permanently attached to the ground or camping unit, is no more than 200 square feet in size, shall be 

portable, contain no walls or roof, and can be removed from the campground by a truck and/or trailer. 

Sections of such portable landings may be placed together to form a single deck not greater than 200 square 

feet at one entry point. Provisions for the removal of these temporary landings during flood events must be 

addressed within the written agreement with the municipality compliant with subsections (a) through (j) 

above. Any such deck/landing structure may be constructed at elevations lower than the flood protection 

elevation but must not obstruct flow of flood waters or cause any increase in flood levels during the 

occurrence of the regional flood. 

m. Camping equipment and appurtenant equipment in the campground may be allowed provided that the equipment 

is not permanently attached to the ground or camping unit, is not used as a habitable structure, and must not 

obstruct flow of flood waters or cause any increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the regional flood. 

Provisions for the removal of this equipment during flooding events shall be addressed within the written 

agreement with the City of Franklin pursuant to subsection 5(d) and 5(e) above.  

n. Once a flood warning in the written agreement has been issued for the campground, the campground owner or 

the designated operator shall ensure that all persons, camping units, decks, camping equipment and appurtenant 

equipment in the campground shall be evacuated within the timelines specified within the written agreement with 

the City pursuant to subsection 5(d) and 5(e) above. 

6. A land use permit shall be obtained as provided under 7.1(2) before any development; repair, modification or addition 

to an existing structure; or change in the use of a building or structure, including sewer and water facilities, may be 

initiated. 

C. Floodway District (FW) 

1. Applicability. This section applies to all floodway areas on the floodplain zoning maps and those identified pursuant to 

s. 5.1(5). 

2. Permitted Uses. The following open space uses are allowed in the Floodway District and the floodway areas of the 

General Floodplain District, if: 

a. The uses are not prohibited by any other provision of these Regulations; 

b. The standards in this Subsection C are met; and 

c. All permits or certificates have been issued in accordance with section 7.1. 

d. Permitted Uses: 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 27 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

i. Agricultural uses, such as: farming, outdoor plant nurseries, horticulture, viticulture and wild crop harvesting 

ii. Nonstructural industrial and commercial uses, such as loading areas, parking areas and airport landing 

strips. 

iii. Nonstructural recreational uses, such as golf courses, tennis courts, archery ranges, picnic grounds, boat 

ramps, swimming areas, parks, wildlife and nature preserves, game farms, fish hatcheries, shooting, trap and 

skeet activities, hunting and fishing areas and hiking and horseback riding trails, subject to the fill limitations 

of s. 3.3(4). 

iv. Uses or structures accessory to open space uses or classified as historic structures that comply with s. 3.3 

and 3.4. 

v. Extraction of sand, gravel or other materials that comply with s. 3.3(4). 

vi. Functionally water-dependent uses, such as docks, piers or wharves, dams, flowage areas, culverts, 

navigational aids and river crossings of transmission lines, and pipelines that comply with Chapters 30 and 

31, Wisconsin Statutes. 

vii. Public utilities, streets and bridges that comply with s. 3.3(3). 

viii. Portable latrines that are removed prior to flooding and systems associated with recreational areas and 

Department-approved campgrounds that meet the applicable provisions of local ordinances and Chapter 

SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

ix. Public or private wells used to obtain potable water for recreational areas that meet the requirements of local 

ordinances and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin Administrative Code 

x. Wastewater treatment ponds or facilities permitted under Sections NR 110.15(3)(b), Wisconsin 

Administrative Code 

xi. .Sanitary sewer or water supply lines to service existing or proposed development located outside the 

floodway, which development complies with the regulations for the floodplain area occupied. 

3. Standards for Developments in the Floodway.   

a. Any development in the floodway shall comply with Subsection B above and have a low flood damage potential. 

b. Applicants shall provide an analysis calculating the effects of this proposal on the regional flood height to 

determine the effects of the proposal according to Subsection B.2 and 7.1(2)(c). The analysis must be completed 

by a professional engineer registered in the state of Wisconsin. 

c. Any encroachment in the regulatory floodway is prohibited unless the data submitted for subd. 3.3(1)(b) above 

demonstrates that the encroachment will cause no increase in flood elevations in flood events up to the base flood 

at any location or removes the encroached area from the regulatory floodway as provided in Subsection A(8) 

above. 

4. Structures. Structures accessory to permanent open space uses, including utility and sanitary facilities, or functionally 

dependent on a waterfront location may be allowed by permit if the structures comply with the following criteria: 

a. Not designed for human habitation 

b. Does not have a high flood damage potential  

c. Is constructed to minimize potential flood damage; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 28 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

d. Shall either have the lowest floor elevated to or above the flood protection elevation or shall meet all the following 

standards: 

i. The lowest floor is elevated to or above the regional flood elevation and is dry floodproofed so that the 

structure is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and completely dry to 

the flood protection elevation without human intervention during flooding; 

ii. Has structural components capable of meeting all provisions of Subsection 6, Certification below and; 

iii. Has certification by a registered professional engineer or architect, through the use of a Federal Emergency 

Management Agency Floodproofing Certificate, that the design and methods of construction are in 

accordance with Subsection 6, Certification, below. 

e. Shall be anchored to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral movement 

f. Mechanical and utility equipment are elevated to or above the flood protection elevation; and 

g. Does not obstruct flow of flood waters or cause any increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the regional 

flood. 

5. Design for Automatic Entry of Floodwaters. For a structure designed to allow the automatic entry of floodwaters 

below the Regional Flood Elevation, the applicant shall submit a plan that meets Subsection (4)(a) through (4)(e) 

above, and meets or exceeds the following standards: 

a. The lowest floor must be elevated to or above the regional flood elevation; 

b. a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of 

enclosed area subject to flooding; 

c. the bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above the lowest adjacent grade; openings may be 

equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices provided that they permit the automatic 

entry and exit of floodwaters, otherwise must remain open. 

d. The use must be limited to parking, building access or limited storage. 

6. Certification: Whenever floodproofing measures are required, a registered professional engineer or architect shall 

certify that the following floodproofing measures will be utilized, where appropriate, and are adequate to withstand the 

flood depths, pressures, velocities, impact and uplift forces and other factors associated with the regional flood: 

a. Reinforcement of floors and walls to resist rupture, collapse, or lateral movement caused by water pressures or 

debris buildup; 

b. Construction of wells, water supply systems and waste treatment systems so as to prevent the entrance of flood 

waters in such systems and must be in accordance with provisions in Sections 3.4(4) and 3.4(5); 

c. Subsurface drainage systems to relieve external pressures on foundation walls and basement floors; 

d. Cutoff valves on sewer lines or the elimination of gravity flow basement drains; and 

e. Placement of utilities to or above the flood protection elevation. 

7. Public Utilities, Streets, and Bridges. Public utilities, streets and bridges may be allowed by permit, if: 

a. Adequate floodproofing measures are provided to the flood protection elevation; and 

b. Construction meets the development standards of s. 2.1. 

8. Fills or Deposition of Materials. Fills or deposition of materials may be allowed by permit, if: 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 29 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

a. The requirements of s. 2.1 are met; 

b. No material is deposited in navigable waters unless a permit is issued by the Department pursuant to ch. 30, 

Stats., and a permit pursuant to Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, Amendments of 1972, 33 

U.S.C. 1344 has been issued, if applicable, and all other requirements have been met; 

c. The fill or other materials will be protected against erosion by riprap, vegetative cover, sheet piling or bulkheading; 

and 

d. The fill is not classified as a solid or hazardous material. 

9. Prohibited Uses. All uses not listed as permitted uses in Subsection C(2) above are prohibited, including the following 

uses: 

a. Habitable structures, structures with high flood damage potential, and structures not associated with permanent 

open-space uses; 

b. Storage of materials that are buoyant, flammable, explosive, or potentially injurious to property, water quality, or 

human, animal, plant, fish or other aquatic life; 

c. Uses not in harmony with or detrimental to uses permitted in the adjoining districts; 

d. Any private or public sewage systems, except portable latrines that are removed prior to flooding and systems 

associated with recreational areas and Department- approved campgrounds that meet the applicable provisions of 

City of Franklin ordinances and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

e. Any public or private wells which are used to obtain potable water, except those for recreational areas that meet 

the requirements of City of Franklin ordinances and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin Administrative 

Code 

f. Any solid or hazardous waste disposal sites; 

g. Any wastewater treatment ponds or facilities, except those permitted under Sections NR 110.15(3)(b), Wisconsin 

Administrative Code; 

h. Any sanitary sewer or water supply lines, except those to service existing or proposed development located 

outside the floodway which complies with the regulations for the floodplain area occupied. 

D. Floodfringe District (FF) 

1. Applicability. This section applies to all floodfringe areas shown on the floodplain zoning maps and those identified 

pursuant to s. 5.1(5). 

2. Permitted Uses. Any structure, land use, or development is allowed in the Floodfringe District if the standards in s. 4.3 

are met, the use is not prohibited by the City of Franklin Land Development Regulations, or any other ordinance or 

regulation of the City of Franklin; and all permits or certificates specified in s. 7.1 have been issued. 

3. Standards for Development in the Floodfringe District. The provisions of Subsection (C) above shall apply in 

addition to the following requirements, according to the proposed use. Any existing structure in the Floodfringe District 

must meet the requirements of s. 6.0, Nonconforming Uses. 

a. Residential Uses. Any existing structure in residential use in the Floodfringe District must meet the requirements 

of s. 6.0 Nonconforming Uses. Any structure for residential use, including a manufactured home, which is to be 

newly constructed or moved into the Floodfringe District, shall meet or exceed the following standards: 

i. All new construction, including placement of manufactured homes, and all substantial improvement of 

residential structures, shall have the lowest floor elevated to or above the flood protection elevation on fill. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 30 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

The fill around the structure shall be one foot or more above the regional flood elevation for an area 

extending at least 15 feet beyond the limits of the structure. No area may be removed from the Floodfringe 

District unless the resulting condition can be shown to meet s. 1.5(5). 

ii. Notwithstanding Subsection (D)(4)(a) above, a basement or crawlspace floor may be placed at the regional 

flood elevation if the basement or crawlspace is designed to make all portions of the structure below the flood 

protection elevation watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with 

structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and effects of 

buoyancy. No floor of any kind is allowed below the regional flood elevation. 

iii. Contiguous dryland access shall be provided from a structure to land outside of the floodplain, except as 

provided in subsection (d)(1) through (d)(2) below. 

iv. In developments where existing street or sewer line elevations make compliance with Subsection (4)(c) 

above impractical, the City of Franklin may permit new development and substantial improvements where 

roads are below the regional flood elevation, if: 

a) The City of Franklin Zoning Administrator has secured written assurance from police, fire and 

emergency services that rescue and relief will be provided to the structure(s) by wheeled vehicles during 

a regional flood event; or 

b) The City of Franklin has adopted and in place a DNR-approved emergency evacuation plan applicable 

to the site that follows acceptable hazard mitigation planning guidelines. 

b. Accessory Structures and Uses. In addition to meeting the provisions of Section B, General Standards, new 

construction and substantial improvements of Accessory structures shall be constructed on fill with the lowest floor 

at or above the regional flood elevation. 

c. Commercial Uses.  In addition to meeting the provisions of Section B, General Standards, any commercial 

structure which is erected, altered or moved into the Floodfringe District shall meet the requirements of s. 4.3(1). 

Subject to the requirements of s. 4.3(5), storage yards, surface parking lots and other such uses may be placed at 

lower elevations if an adequate warning system exists to protect life and property. 

d. Manufacturing and Industrial Uses. In addition to meeting the provisions of Section B, General Standards, any 

manufacturing or industrial structure which is erected, altered or moved into the floodfringe shall have the lowest 

floor elevated to or above the flood protection elevation or meet the floodproofing standards in s 7.5. Subject to 

the requirements of s. 4.3(5), storage yards, surface parking lots and other such uses may be placed at lower 

elevations if an adequate warning system exists to protect life and property. 

e. Storage of Materials. Materials that are hazardous, buoyant, flammable, explosive, or potentially injurious to 

property, water quality or human, animal, plant, fish or aquatic life shall be stored at or above the flood protection 

elevation or floodproofed in compliance with s. 7.5. Adequate measures shall be taken to ensure that such 

materials will not enter the water body during flooding. 

f. Public Utilities, Streets, and Bridges. All public utilities, streets and bridges shall be designed to be compatible 

with comprehensive floodplain development plans. In addition, the following criteria shall apply: 

i. When failure of public utilities, streets and bridges would endanger public health or safety, or where such 

facilities are deemed essential, construction or repair of such facilities shall only be permitted if they the 

proposed improvements are designed to comply with s. 7.5. 

ii. Minor roads or non-essential utilities may be constructed at lower elevations if they are designed to withstand 

flood forces to the regional flood elevation. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 31 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

g. Sewage Systems. All sewage disposal systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood 

water into the system, pursuant to s. 7.5(3), to the flood protection elevation and meet the provisions of all City of 

Franklin standards and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

h. Wells. All wells shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the system, pursuant to 

s. 7.5(3), to the flood protection elevation and shall meet the provisions of Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, 

Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

i. Solid Waste Disposal Sites Prohibited. Disposal of solid or hazardous waste is prohibited in floodfringe areas. 

j. Deposition of Material. Any deposition of material must meet all the provisions of this Section. 

k. Manufactured Homes.   

i. Owners or operators of all manufactured home parks and subdivisions shall provide adequate surface 

drainage to minimize flood damage, and prepare, secure approval and file an evacuation plan, indicating 

vehicular access and escape routes, with local emergency management authorities. 

ii. In existing manufactured home parks, all new homes, replacement homes on existing pads, and substantially 

improved homes shall: 

a) have the lowest floor elevated to the flood protection elevation; and 

b) be anchored so that the manufactured home does not float, collapse or move laterally during a flood 

iii. Outside of existing manufactured home parks, including new manufactured home parks and all single units 

outside of existing parks, all new, replacement and substantially improved manufactured homes shall meet 

the residential development standards for the floodfringe in s. 4.3(1). 

l. Mobile Recreational Vehicles. A mobile recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its wheels or 

jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick-disconnect utilities and security devices and has no 

permanently attached additions.  All mobile recreational vehicles must be on site for less than one-hundred eighty 

(180) consecutive days and be either: 

i. fully licensed and ready for highway use; or 

ii. shall meet the elevation and anchoring requirements in s. 4.3 (11)(b) and (c). 

E. General Floodplain District (GFP) 

1. Applicability. The provisions for the General Floodplain District shall apply to development in all floodplains mapped 

as A, AO, AH, and in AE zones within which a floodway is not delineated on the Flood Insurance Rate Maps identified 

in s. 1.5(2)(a). 

2. Floodway Boundaries. For proposed development in zone A, or in zone AE within which a floodway is not delineated 

on the Flood Insurance Rate Map identified in s. 1.5(2)(a), the boundaries of the regulatory floodway shall be 

determined pursuant to s. 5.1(5).  

a. If the development is proposed to encroach upon the regulatory floodway, the development is subject to the 

standards of s 3.0.  

b. If the development is located entirely within the floodfringe, the development is subject to the standards of s. 4.0. 

3. Permitted Uses. Pursuant to s. 5.1(5) for any application for development, the Zoning Administrator shall determine 

whether a shall be determined whether the proposed use is located within the floodway or floodfringe. Those uses 

permitted in the Floodway (Section C) and Floodfringe (Section D) Districts are allowed within the General Floodplain 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 32 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

District, according to the standards of s. 5.1(4), provided that all permits or certificates required under s. 7.1 have been 

issued. 

4. Standards for Development in the General Floodplain District.  Any development within the floodway, as 

determined pursuant to 5.1(5), shall comply with the provisions of Section C, Floodway.  Any development within the 

floodfringe, as determined pursuant to Section 5.1(5), shall comply with the provisions of Section D, Floodfringe.   

a. New construction and substantial improvement of structures in zone AO shall have the lowest floor, including 

basement, elevated:  

i. to or above the depth, in feet, as shown on the FIRM above the highest adjacent natural grade; or 

ii. if the depth is not specified on the FIRM, to or above two (2) feet above the highest adjacent natural grade. 

b. New Construction and substantial improvement of structures in zone AH shall have the lowest floor, including 

basement, elevated to or above the flood protection elevation. 

c. In AO/AH zones, adequate drainage paths shall be provided to guide floodwaters around structures. 

d. All development in zones AO and zone AH shall meet the requirements of s. 4.0 applicable to flood fringe areas. 

5. Determination of Floodway and Floodfringe Limits. Upon receiving an application for development within zone A, 

or within zone AE where a floodway has not been delineated on the Flood Insurance Rate Maps, the Zoning 

Administrator shall: 

a. Require the applicant to submit two copies of an aerial photograph or a plan which shows the proposed 

development with respect to the general floodplain district limits, stream channel, and existing floodplain 

developments, along with a legal description of the property, fill limits and elevations, building floor elevations and 

flood proofing measures; and the flood zone as shown on the FIRM. 

b. Require the applicant to furnish any of the following information deemed necessary by the Department to evaluate 

the effects of the proposal upon flood height and flood flows, regional flood elevation and to determine floodway 

boundaries: 

i. A Hydrologic and Hydraulic Study as specified in s. 7.1(2)(c). 

ii. A plan (surface view) showing elevations or contours of the ground; pertinent structure, fill or storage 

elevations; size, location and layout of all proposed and existing structures on the site; location and 

elevations of streets, water supply, and sanitary facilities; soil types and other pertinent information; and 

iii. Specifications for building construction and materials, floodproofing, filling, dredging, channel improvement, 

storage, water supply and sanitary facilities. 

F. Non-Conforming Uses 

1. Applicability.   

a. The standards in this section shall apply to all uses and buildings that do not conform to the provisions contained 

within a floodplain zoning ordinance or with Section 87.30, Wisconsin Statutes, Sections NR 116.12-14, 

Wisconsin Administrative Code, and 44 CFR 59-72.    

b. These standards shall apply to all modifications or additions to any nonconforming use or structure, and to the use 

of any structure or premises which was lawful before the passage of this Section or any amendment thereto.  

c. A party asserting existence of a lawfully established nonconforming use or structure has the burden of proving 

that the use or structure was compliant with the floodplain zoning ordinance in effect at the time the use or 

structure was created. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 33 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

As permit applications are received for additions, modifications, or substantial improvements to nonconforming 

buildings in the floodplain, the City of Franklin shall develop a list of those nonconforming buildings, their present 

equalized assessed value and a list of the costs of those activities associated with changes to those buildings. 

2. Continuation of Use.  The existing lawful use of a structure or its accessory use which is not in conformity with the 

provisions of this Section may continue subject to the following conditions: 

a. No modifications or additions to a nonconforming use or structure shall be permitted unless such modifications or 

additions comply with applicable provisions of this Section. The words "modification" and "addition" include, but 

are not limited to, any alteration, addition, modification, structural repair, rebuilding or replacement of any such 

existing use, structure or accessory structure or use.  

i. Maintenance is not considered a modification; maintenance shall include painting, decorating, paneling and 

other nonstructural components and the maintenance, repair or replacement of existing private sewage or 

water supply systems or connections to public utilities.  

ii. Any costs associated with the repair of a damaged structure shall not be considered maintenance. 

b. The construction of a deck that does not exceed two-hundred (200) square feet and that is adjacent to the exterior 

wall of a principal structure shall not be considered an extension, modification or addition. The roof of the structure 

may extend over a portion of the deck in order to provide safe ingress and egress to the principal structure. 

c. If a nonconforming use or the use of a nonconforming structure is discontinued for twelve (12) consecutive 

months, the non-conforming use or use of the non-conforming structure is no longer permitted.  Any future use of 

the property, and any structure or building thereon, shall conform to the applicable requirements of this Section. 

The municipality shall keep a record which lists all nonconforming uses and nonconforming structures, their present 

equalized assessed value, the cost of all modifications or additions which have been permitted, and the percentage of 

the structure's total current value those modifications represent; 

d. No modification or addition to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming use, which over 

the life of the structure would equal or exceed fifty (50) percent% of its present equalized assessed value, shall be 

allowed unless the entire structure is permanently changed to a conforming structure with a conforming use in 

compliance with the applicable requirements of this ordinance. Contiguous dry land access must be provided for 

residential and commercial uses in compliance with s. 4.3(1). The costs of elevating the lowest floor of a 

nonconforming building or a building with a nonconforming use to the flood protection elevation are excluded from 

the 50% provisions of this paragraph; 

e. No maintenance on a per event basis to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming use, 

the cost of which would equal or exceed 50% of its present equalized assessed value, shall be allowed unless the 

entire structure is permanently changed to a conforming structure with a conforming use in compliance with the 

applicable requirements of this ordinance. Contiguous dry land access must be provided for residential and 

commercial uses in compliance with s. 4.3(1). Maintenance to any nonconforming structure, which does not 

exceed 50% of its present equalized assessed value on a per event basis, does not count against the cumulative 

calculations over the life of the structure for substantial improvement calculations. 

f. If on a per event basis the total value of the work being done under (d) and (e) above equals or exceeds 50% of 

the present equalized assessed value the work shall not be permitted unless the entire structure is permanently 

changed to a conforming structure with a conforming use in compliance with the applicable requirements of this 

ordinance. Contiguous dry land access must be provided for residential and commercial uses in compliance with 

s. 4.3(1). 

g. Except as provided in subdivision (h) below, if any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming 

use is destroyed or is substantially damaged, it cannot be replaced, re-constructed, or rebuilt unless the use and 

the structure meet the current requirements of this Section. A structure is considered substantially damaged if the 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 34 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

total cost to restore the structure to its pre-damaged condition equals or exceeds 50% of the structure's present 

equalized assessed value. 

h. For nonconforming buildings that are substantially damaged or destroyed by a non-flood event disaster, the repair 

or reconstruction of any such nonconforming building shall be permitted in order to restore it to the size and use in 

effect prior to the damage event, provided that the following minimum requirements are met and all required 

permits have been granted prior to the start of construction: 

i. Residential Structures. All such residential structures: 

a) Shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the flood protection elevation 

using fill, pilings, columns, posts or perimeter walls. Perimeter walls must meet the requirements of s. 

7.5(2). 

b) Shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement of the structure resulting from 

hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy and shall be constructed with 

methods and materials resistant to flood damage. 

c) Shall be constructed with electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing and air conditioning equipment and 

other service facilities that are designed and/or elevated so as to prevent water from entering or 

accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding. 

d) In A Zones, obtain, review and utilize any flood data available from a federal, state or other source. 

e) In AO Zones with no elevations specified, shall have the lowest floor, including basement, meet the 

standards in s. 5.1(4). 

f) In AO Zones, have adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes to guide floodwaters around 

and away from the structure. 

ii. Nonresidential Structures.  All such non-residential structures: 

a) Shall meet the requirements of s. 6.1(2)(h)1a-f. 

b) Shall either have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to or above the regional flood elevation; 

or, together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, shall meet the standards in s. 7.5 (1) or (2). 

c) In AO Zones with no elevations specified, shall have the lowest floor, including basement, meet the 

standards in s. 5.1(4). 

d) A nonconforming historic structure may be altered if the alteration does not preclude the structure's 

continued designation as a historic structure, the alteration will comply with s. 3.3 (1), flood resistant 

materials are used, and construction practices and floodproofing methods that comply with s. 7.5 are 

used. Repair or rehabilitation of historic structures shall be exempt from the development standards of s. 

6.1 (2)(h)1 if it is determined that the proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure's 

continued designation as a historic structure and is the minimum necessary to preserve the historic 

character and design of the structure. 

3. Floodway District.   

a. No modification or addition shall be allowed to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming 

use in the Floodway District, unless such modification or addition: 

i. Has been granted a permit or variance which meets in conformance with all ordinance requirements; 

ii. Meets the requirements of s. 6.1; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 35 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

iii. Shall not increase the obstruction to flood flows or regional flood height; 

iv. Any addition to the existing structure shall be floodproofed, pursuant to s. 7.5, by means other than the use 

of fill, to the flood protection elevation; and 

v. If any part of the foundation below the flood protection elevation is enclosed, the following standards shall 

apply: 

a) The enclosed area shall be designed by a registered architect or engineer to allow for the efficient entry 

and exit of flood waters without human intervention. A minimum of two openings must be provided with 

a minimum net area of at least one square inch for every one square foot of the enclosed area. The 

lowest part of the opening can be no more than 12 inches above the adjacent grade; 

b) The parts of the foundation located below the flood protection elevation must be constructed of flood-

resistant materials; 

c) Mechanical and utility equipment must be elevated or floodproofed to or above the flood protection 

elevation; and 

d) The use must be limited to parking, building access or limited storage. 

vi. No new on-site sewage disposal system, or addition to an existing on-site sewage disposal system, except 

where an addition has been ordered by a government agency to correct a hazard to public health, shall be 

allowed in the Floodway District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing on-site sewage 

disposal system in a floodway area shall meet the applicable requirements of all municipal ordinances, s. 

7.5(3) and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code.  

vii. No new well or modification to an existing well used to obtain potable water shall be allowed in the Floodway 

District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing well in the Floodway District shall meet the 

applicable requirements of all municipal ordinances, s. 7.5(3) and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin 

Administrative Code. 

b. No new on-site sewage disposal system, or addition to an existing on-site sewage disposal system, except where 

an addition has been ordered by a government agency to correct a hazard to public health, shall be allowed in the 

Floodway District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing on-site sewage disposal system in a 

floodway area shall meet the applicable requirements of all City of Franklin ordinances, s. 7.5(3) of this Section, 

and Chapter SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

c. No new well or modification to an existing well used to obtain potable water shall be allowed in the Floodway 

District. Any replacement, repair or maintenance of an existing well in the Floodway District shall meet the 

applicable requirements of all City of Frankiln ordinances, s. 7.5(3), and Chapters NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin 

Administrative Code.  

4. Floodfringe District 

a. No modification or addition shall be allowed to any nonconforming structure or any structure with a nonconforming 

use unless such modification or addition has been granted a permit or variance by the municipality and meets the 

requirements of s. 4.3 except where s. 6.3(2) is applicable. 

b. Where compliance with the provisions of subd. (1) would result in unnecessary hardship and only where the 

structure will not be used for human habitation or be associated with a high flood damage potential, the Board of 

Adjustment/AppealsZoning and Building Appeals, using the procedures established in s. 7.3, may grant a 

variance from those provisions of subd. (1) for modifications or additions using the criteria listed below. 

Modifications or additions which are protected to elevations lower than the flood protection elevation may be 

permitted if all of the following are met: 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 36 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

i. No floor is allowed below the regional flood elevation for residential or commercial structures; 

ii. Human lives are not endangered; 

iii. Public facilities, such as water or sewer, shall not be installed; 

iv. Flood depths shall not exceed two feet; 

v. Flood velocities shall not exceed two feet per second; and 

vi. The structure shall not be used for storage of materials as described in s. 4.3(5). 

c. All new private sewage disposal systems, or addition to, replacement, repair or maintenance of a private sewage 

disposal system shall meet all the applicable provisions of all City of Franklin ordinances, s. 7.5 (3) and Chapter 

SPS 383, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

d. All new wells, or addition to, replacement, repair or maintenance of a well shall meet the applicable provisions of 

this Section, s. 7.5 (3) and Chapter NR 811 and NR 812, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

G. Administration 

1. Zoning Administrator; Land Use Permits; Certificates of Compliance 

a. Duties and Powers.  The Zoning Administrator is authorized to administer this Section and shall have the following 

duties and powers: 

i. Advise applicants of the ordinance provisions, assist in preparing permit applications and appeals, and 

assure that the regional flood elevation for the proposed development is shown on all permit applications 

ii. Issue permits and inspect properties for compliance with provisions of this ordinance and issue certificates of 

compliance where appropriate. 

iii. Inspect and assess all damaged floodplain structures to determine if substantial damage to the structures 

has occurred. 

iv. Keep records of all official actions such as: 

a) All permits issued, inspections made, and work approved; 

b) Documentation of certified lowest floor and regional flood elevations; 

c) Floodproofing certificates. 

d) Water surface profiles, floodplain zoning maps and ordinances, nonconforming uses and structures 

including changes, appeals, variances and amendments. 

e) All substantial damage assessment reports for floodplain structures in floodplain districts. 

f) Lists of nonconforming structures and uses. 

v. Submit copies of the following items to the Department of Natural Resources Regional office:  

a) Within 10 days of the decision, a copy of any decisions on variances, appeals for map or text 

interpretations, and map or text amendments; 

b) Copies of case-by-case analyses and other required information. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 37 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

c) Copies of substantial damage assessments performed and all related correspondence concerning the 

assessments. 

vi. Investigate, prepare reports, and report violations of this ordinance to the municipal zoning agency and 

attorney for prosecution. Copies of the reports shall also be sent to the Department of Natural Resources 

Regional office. 

vii. Submit copies of amendments to the FEMA Regional office. 

b. Land Use Permit. A land use permit shall be obtained before any development; repair, modification or addition to 

an existing structure; or change in the use of a building or structure, including sewer and water facilities, may be 

initiated. Application to the Zoning Administrator shall include: 

i. General Information 

a) Name and address of the applicant, property owner and contractor; 

b) Legal description, proposed use, and whether it is new construction or a modification; 

ii. Site Development Plan. 

a) A site plan drawn to scale shall be submitted with the permit application form and shall contain: 

(i) Location, dimensions, area and elevation of the lot; 

(ii) Location of the ordinary highwater mark of any abutting navigable waterways; 

(iii) Location of any structures with distances measured from the lot lines and street center lines; 

(iv) Location of any existing or proposed on-site sewage systems or private water supply systems; 

(v) Location and elevation of existing or future access roads; 

(vi) Location of floodplain and floodway limits as determined from the official floodplain zoning maps; 

(vii) The elevation of the lowest floor of proposed buildings and any fill using the vertical datum from the 

adopted study - either National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) or North American Vertical Datum 

(NAVD); 

(viii) Data sufficient to determine the regional flood elevation in NGVD or NAVD at the location of the 

development and to determine whether or not the requirements of s. 3.0 or 4.0 are met; and 

(ix) Data to determine if the proposed development will cause an obstruction to flow or an increase in 

regional flood height or discharge according to s. 2.1. This may include any of the information 

noted in s. 3.3(1). 

iii. Hydraulic and Hydrologic Studies  

a) All hydraulic and hydrologic studies shall be completed under the direct supervision of a professional 

engineer registered in the State of Wisconsin. The study contractor shall be responsible for the technical 

adequacy of the study. All studies shall be reviewed and approved by the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources. 

(i) In Zone A floodplains and in AE zones within which a floodway is not delineated: 

1. Hydrology: The appropriate method shall be based on the standards in Chapter NR 

116.07(3), Wisconsin Administrative Code, Hydrologic Analysis: Determination of Regional 

Flood Discharge. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 38 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

2. Hydraulic modeling: The regional flood elevation shall be based on the standards in Chapter 

NR 116.07(4), Wisconsin Administrative Code, Hydraulic Analysis: Determination of Regional 

Flood Elevation and the following: 

a. Determination of the required limits of the hydraulic model shall be based on detailed 

study information for downstream structures (dam, bridge, culvert) to determine adequate 

starting WSEL for the study. 

b. Channel sections must be surveyed. 

c. A minimum four-foot contour data in the overbanks shall be used for the development of 

cross section overbank and floodplain mapping. 

d. A maximum distance of 500 feet between cross sections is allowed in developed areas 

with additional intermediate cross sections required at transitions in channel bottom slope 

including a survey of the channel at each location. 

e. The most current version of HEC-RAS shall be used. 

f. A survey of bridge and culvert openings and the top of road is required at each structure. 

g. Additional cross sections are required at the downstream and upstream limits of the 

proposed development and any necessary intermediate locations based on the length of 

the reach if greater than 500 feet. 

h. Standard accepted engineering practices shall be used when assigning parameters for 

the base model such as flow, Manning's N values, expansion and contraction coefficients 

or effective flow limits. The base model shall be calibrated to past flooding data such as 

high water marks to determine the reasonableness of the model results. If no historical 

data is available, adequate justification shall be provided for any parameters outside 

standard accepted engineering practices. 

i. The model must extend past the upstream limit of the difference in the existing and 

proposed flood profiles in order to provide a tie-in to existing studies. The height 

difference between the proposed flood profile and the existing study profiles shall be no 

more than 0.00 feet. 

(ii) Mapping. A work map of the reach studied shall be provided, showing all cross-section locations, 

floodway/floodplain limits based on best available topographic data, geographic limits of the 

proposed development and whether the proposed development is located in the floodway. 

1. If the proposed development is located outside of the floodway, then it is determined to have 

no impact on the regional flood elevation. 

2. If any part of the proposed development is in the floodway, it must be added to the base 

model to show the difference between existing and proposed conditions. The study must 

ensure that all coefficients remain the same as in the existing model, unless adequate 

justification based on standard accepted engineering practices is provided 

(iii) In Zone AE Floodplains: 

1. Hydrology: If the proposed hydrology will change the existing study, the appropriate method 

to be used shall be based on Chapter NR 116.07(3), Wisconsin Administrative Code, 

Hydrologic Analysis: Determination of Regional Flood Discharge. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 39 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

2. Hydraulic model: The regional flood elevation shall be based on the standards in Chapter NR 

116.07(4), Wisconsin Administrative Code, Hydraulic Analysis: Determination of Regional 

Flood Elevation and the following: 

a. Duplicate Effective Model: The effective model shall be reproduced to ensure correct 

transference of the model data and to allow integration of the revised data to provide a 

continuous FIS model upstream and downstream of the revised reach. If data from the 

effective model is available, models shall be generated that duplicate the FIS profiles and 

the elevations shown in the Floodway Data Table in the FIS report to within 0.1 foot. 

b. Corrected Effective Model: The Corrected Effective Model shall not include any man-

made physical changes since the effective model date but shall import the model into the 

most current version of HEC-RAS for Department review. 

c. Existing (Pre-Project Conditions) Model: The Existing Model shall be required to 

support conclusions about the actual impacts of the project associated with the Revised 

(Post-Project) Model or to establish more up-to-date models on which to base the 

Revised (Post-Project) Model. 

d. Revised (Post-Project Conditions) Model. The Revised (Post-Project Conditions) 

Model shall incorporate the Existing Model and any proposed changes to the topography 

caused by the proposed development. This model shall reflect proposed conditions. 

e. All changes to the Duplicate Effective Model and subsequent models must be supported 

by certified topographic information, bridge plans, construction plans and survey notes. 

f. Changes to the hydraulic models shall be limited to the stream reach for which the 

revision is being requested. Cross sections upstream and downstream of the revised 

reach shall be identical to those in the effective model and result in water surface 

elevations and topwidths computed by the revised models matching those in the effective 

models upstream and downstream of the revised reach as required. The Effective Model 

shall not be truncated. 

3. Mapping. Maps and associated engineering data shall be submitted to the Department for 

review which meet the following conditions: 

a. Consistency between the revised hydraulic models, the revised floodplain and floodway 

delineations, the revised flood profiles, topographic work map, annotated FIRMs and/or 

Flood Boundary Floodway Maps (FBFMs), construction plans, bridge plans. 

b. Certified topographic map of suitable scale, contour interval, and a planimetric map 

showing the applicable items. If a digital version of the map is available, it may be 

submitted in order that the FIRM may be more easily revised. 

c. Annotated FIRM panel showing the revised 1% and 0.2% annual chance floodplains and 

floodway boundaries. 

d. If an annotated FIRM and/or FBFM and digital mapping data (GIS or CADD) are used 

then all supporting documentation or metadata must be included with the data 

submission along with the Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) projection and State 

Plane Coordinate System in accordance with FEMA mapping specifications. 

e. The revised floodplain boundaries shall tie into the effective floodplain boundaries. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 40 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

f. All cross sections from the effective model shall be labeled in accordance with the 

effective map and a cross section lookup table shall be included to relate to the model 

input numbering scheme. 

g. Both the current and proposed floodways shall be shown on the map. 

h. The stream centerline, or profile baseline used to measure stream distances in the model 

shall be visible on the map. 

iv. Expiration. All permits issued under the authority of this ordinance shall expire no more than 180 days after 

issuance. The permit may be extended for a maximum of 180 days for good and sufficient cause. If the 

permitted work has not started within 180 days of the permit date, the development must comply with any 

regulation, including any revision to the FIRM or FIS, that took effect after the permit date. 

c. Certificate of Compliance.  No land shall be occupied or used, and no building which is hereafter constructed, 

altered, added to, modified, repaired, rebuilt or replaced shall be occupied until a certificate of compliance is 

issued by the zoning administrator, except where no permit is required, subject to the following provisions: 

i. The certificate of compliance shall show that the building or premises or part thereof, and the proposed use, 

conform to the provisions of this Section; 

ii. Application for such certificate shall be concurrent with the application for a land use permit; 

iii. If all ordinance provisions are met, the certificate of compliance shall be issued within 10 days after written 

notification that the permitted work is completed; 

iv. The applicant shall submit a certification signed by a registered professional engineer, architect or land 

surveyor that the fill, lowest floor and floodproofing elevations are in compliance with the permit issued. 

Floodproofing measures also require certification by a Wisconsin registered professional engineer or 

architect that the requirements of s. 7.5 are met. 

v. Where applicable pursuant to s. 5.1(4), the applicant must submit a certification by a registered Wisconsin 

professional engineer or surveyor of the elevation of the bottom of the lowest horizontal structural member 

supporting the lowest floor (excluding pilings or columns), and an indication of whether the structure contains 

a basement. 

vi. Where applicable pursuant to s. 5.1(4), the applicant must submit certifications by a Wisconsin registered 

professional engineer or architect that the structural design and methods of construction meet accepted 

standards of practice as required by s. 5.1(4). 

d. Other Permits. Prior to obtaining a floodplain development permit the applicant must secure all necessary 

permits from federal, state, and local agencies, including but not limited to those required by the U.S. Army Corps 

of Engineers under Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1344. 

2. Plan Commission; Role and Responsibilities. 

a. The Plan Commission of the City of Franklin shall, with respect to this Section: 

i. Oversee the functions of the office of the zoning administrator; and 

ii. Review and advise the Common Council body on all proposed amendments to this ordinance, maps and 

text; and 

iii. Publish adequate notice pursuant to Chapter 985, Wisconsin Statutes, specifying the date, time, place and 

subject of any public hearing. 

b. The Plan Commission of the City of Franklin shall not, with respect to this Section: 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 41 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

i. Grant variances to the terms of the ordinance in place of action by the Board of AppealsZoning and Building 

Appeals; or 

ii. Amend the text or zoning maps in place of official action by the governing body. 

3. Board of Zoning and Building Appeals; Role and Responsibilities. The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals 

established pursuant to Section 62.23(7)(e) Wisconsin Statues is hereby authorized or shall be appointed to act for the 

purposes of this Section. The Board shall exercise the powers conferred by Wisconsin Statutes and adopt rules for the 

conduct of business. The Zoning Administrator shall not be the secretary of the Board. 

a. Powers and Duties.  The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals shall:   

i. Appeals - Hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is an error in any order, requirement, decision 

or determination made by an administrative official in the enforcement or administration of this Section; 

ii. Boundary Disputes - Hear and decide disputes concerning the district boundaries shown on the official 

floodplain zoning map; and 

iii. Variances - Hear and decide, upon appeal, variances from the ordinance standards. 

b. Appeals to the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals.  

i. Standing to Appeal. Appeals to the board may be taken by any person aggrieved, or by any officer or 

department of the municipality affected by any decision of the Zoning Administrator or other administrative 

officer. Such appeal shall be taken within 30 days unless otherwise provided by the rules of the Board, by 

filing with the official whose decision is in question, and with the board, a notice of appeal specifying the 

reasons for the appeal. The official whose decision is in question shall transmit to the Board all records 

regarding the matter appealed. 

ii. Notice and Hearing for Appeals and Variances. 

a) Notice. The Board shall: 

(i) Fix a reasonable time for the hearing; 

(ii) Publish adequate notice pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes, specifying the date, time, place and 

subject of the hearing; and 

(iii) Assure that notice shall be mailed to the parties in interest and the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources Regional office at least 10 days in advance of the hearing. 

b) Hearing. Any party may appear in person or by agent. The Board shall: 

(i) Resolve boundary disputes according to s. 7.3(3); 

(ii) Decide variance applications according to s. 7.3(4); and 

(iii) Decide appeals of permit denials according to s. 7.4. 

c) Decision. The final decision regarding the appeal or variance application shall: 

(i) Be made within a reasonable time; 

(ii) Be sent to the Department of Natural Resources Regional office within ten (10) days of the 

decision; 

(iii) Be issued in the form of a written determination signed by the chairman or secretary of the Board; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 42 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

(iv) State the specific facts which are the basis for the Board's decision; 

(v) Either affirm, reverse, vary or modify the order, requirement, decision or determination appealed, in 

whole or in part, dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction or grant or deny the variance application; 

and 

(vi) Include the reasons for granting an appeal, describing the hardship demonstrated by the applicant 

in the case of a variance, clearly stated in the recorded minutes of the Board proceedings 

c. Boundary Disputes. The following procedure shall be used by the Board in hearing disputes concerning 

floodplain district boundaries: 

i. If a floodplain district boundary is established by approximate or detailed floodplain studies, the flood 

elevations or profiles shall prevail in locating the boundary. 

ii. The person contesting the boundary location shall be given a reasonable opportunity to present arguments 

and technical evidence to the Board; and  

iii. If the boundary is incorrectly mapped, the Board should inform the zoning committee or the person 

contesting the boundary location to petition the governing body for a map amendment according to s. 8.0 

Amendments. 

d. Variance. 

i. The Board may, upon appeal, grant a variance from the standards of this ordinance if an applicant 

convincingly demonstrates that: 

a) Literal enforcement of the ordinance will cause unnecessary hardship; 

b) The hardship is due to adoption of the floodplain ordinance and unique property conditions, not common 

to adjacent lots or premises (in which case the ordinance or map must be amended to grant a permit); 

c) Issuance of the variance is will not result in an outcome or precedent contrary to the public interest; and 

d) The variance is consistent with the purpose of this ordinance as set forth in Subsection A. 

ii. In addition to the criteria in Subsection (i) above, to qualify for a variance under FEMA regulations, the Board 

must find that the following criteria have been met: 

a) The variance shall not cause any increase in the regional flood elevation; 

b) The applicant has shown good and sufficient cause for issuance of the variance; 

c) Failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship; 

d) Granting the variance will not result in additional threats to public safety, extraordinary expense, create 

a nuisance, cause fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or 

ordinances; and 

e) The variance granted is the minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief. 

iii. A variance shall not: 

a) Grant, extend or increase any use prohibited in the zoning district; 

b) Be granted for a hardship based solely on an economic gain or loss; 

c) Be granted for a hardship which is self-created; 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 43 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

d) Damage the rights or property values of other persons in the area; 

e) Allow actions without the amendments to this ordinance or map(s) required in s. 8.0, Amendments; or 

f) Allow any alteration of an historic structure, including its use, which would preclude its continued 

designation as an historic structure. 

iv. When a floodplain variance is granted the Board shall notify the applicant in writing that it the authorized 

action may increase risks to life and property and flood insurance premiums could increase up to $25.00 per 

$100.00 of coverage. A copy of this notice shall be maintained with the variance record. 

4. Review of Appeals and Permit Denials.   

a. The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals shall review all data related to the appeal including, but not limited to: 

This may include 

i. Permit application data listed in s. 7.1(2); 

ii. Floodway/floodfringe determination data in s. 5.1(5); 

iii. Data listed in s. 3.3(1)(b) in cases where the applicant has not submitted this information to the Zoning 

Administrator; and 

iv. Other data submitted with the application or submitted to the Board with the appeal. 

b. For appeals of all denied permits, the Board shall: 

i. Follow the procedures of s. 7.3; 

ii. Consider recommendations of the Plan Commission; and 

iii. Either uphold the denial or grant the appeal. 

c. For appeals concerning increases in regional flood elevation the Board shall: 

i. Uphold the denial where the Board agrees with the data showing an increase in flood elevation. Increases 

may only be allowed after amending the flood profile and map and all appropriate legal arrangements are 

made with all adversely affected property owners as per the requirements of s. 8.0 Amendments; or and 

ii. Grant the appeal where the Board agrees that the data properly demonstrates that the project does not 

cause an increase provided no other reasons for denial exist. 

5. Floodproofing Standards. 

a. No permit or variance shall be issued for a non-residential structure designed to be watertight below the regional 

flood elevation until the applicant submits a plan certified by a registered professional engineer or architect that 

the floodproofing measures will protect the structure or development to or above the flood protection elevation and 

submits a FEMA Floodproofing Certificate. Floodproofing is not an alternative to the development standards set 

forth in ss. 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, 5.1, or 5.3. 

b. For a structure designed to allow the entry of floodwaters, no permit or variance shall be issued until the applicant 

submits a plan either: 

i. Certified by a registered Wisconsin professional engineer or architect; or 

ii. Meeting or exceeding the following standards: 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 44 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

a) A minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square 

foot of enclosed area subject to flooding; and 

b) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one-foot above grade; and 

c) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices provided that 

these permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters. 

iii. Floodproofing measures shall be designed, as appropriate, to: 

a) Withstand flood pressures, depths, velocities, uplift and impact forces and other regional flood factors; 

b) Protect structures to the flood protection elevation; 

c) Anchor structures to foundations to resist flotation and lateral movement; 

d) Minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters; 

e) Minimize or eliminate discharges into flood waters; 

f) Placement of Locate essential utilities to or above the flood protection elevation; and 

g) If any part of the foundation below the flood protection elevation is enclosed, the following standards 

shall apply: 

(i) The enclosed area shall be designed by a registered architect or engineer to allow for the efficient 

entry and exit of flood waters without human intervention. A minimum of two openings must be 

provided with a minimum net area of at least one square inch for every one square foot of the 

enclosed area. The lowest part of the opening can be no more than 12 inches above the adjacent 

grade; 

(ii) The parts of the foundation located below the flood protection elevation must be constructed of 

flood-resistant materials; 

(iii) Mechanical and utility equipment must be elevated or floodproofed to or above the flood protection 

elevation; and 

(iv) The use must be limited to parking, building access or limited storage. 

7.6 PUBLIC INFORMATION 

(1) Place marks on structures to show the depth of inundation during the regional flood. 

(2) All maps, engineering data and regulations shall be available and widely distributed. 

(3) Real estate transfers should show what floodplain district any real property is in. 

H. Amendments. 

1. General Provisions. Obstructions or increases may only be permitted if amendments are made to this ordinance, the 

official floodplain zoning maps, floodway lines and water surface profiles, in accordance with Section H.2 below 

a. In AE Zones with a mapped floodway, no obstructions or increases shall be permitted unless the applicant 

receives a Conditional Letter of Map Revision from FEMA and amendments are made to this ordinance, the 

official floodplain zoning maps, floodway lines and water surface profiles, in accordance with s. 8.1. Any such 

alterations must be reviewed and approved by FEMA and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 



 

City of Franklin  Article 3. District Specific Standards 
Unified Development Ordinance Update   Page 45 of 45 

DRAFT FOR REVIEW ONLY 

b. In A Zones increases equal to or greater than 1.0 foot may only be permitted if the applicant receives a 

Conditional Letter of Map Revision from FEMA and amendments are made to this Section, the official floodplain 

maps, floodway lines, and water surface profiles, in accordance with s. 8.1. 

2. Action by Common Council. The Common Council shall change or supplement the floodplain zoning district 

boundaries and this ordinance in the manner outlined in s. 8.2 below. Actions which require an amendment to the 

ordinance and/ or submittal of a Letter of Map Change (LOMC) include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Any fill or floodway encroachment that obstructs flow causing any increase in the regional flood height; 

b. Any change to the floodplain boundaries and/or watercourse alterations on the FIRM; 

c. Any changes to any other officially adopted floodplain maps listed in s. 1.5 (2)(b); 

d. Any floodplain fill which raises the elevation of the filled area to a height at or above the flood protection elevation 

and is contiguous to land lying outside the floodplain; 

e. Correction of discrepancies between the water surface profiles and floodplain maps; 

f. Any upgrade to a floodplain zoning text required by Section NR 116.05, Wisconsin Administrative Code, or 

otherwise required by law, or for changes by the City of Franklin; and 

g. All channel relocations and changes to the maps to alter floodway lines or to remove an area from the floodway or 

the floodfringe that is based on a base flood elevation from a FIRM requires prior approval by FEMA. 

3. Procedures.   

a. Amendments may be made upon petition of any party according to the provisions of Section 62.23, Wisconsin 

Statutes. The petitions shall include all data required by s. 5.1(5) and 7.1(2). The Land Use Permit shall not be 

issued until a Letter of Map Revision is issued by FEMA for the proposed changes.   

b. The proposed amendment shall be referred to the Plan Commission for a public hearing and recommendation to 

the Common Council. The amendment and notice of Common Council public hearing shall be submitted to the 

Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources Regional office for review prior to the hearing. The amendment 

procedure shall comply with the provisions of Section 62.23, Wisconsin Statutes. 

c. No amendments shall become effective until reviewed and approved by the Wisconsin Department of Natural 

Resources. 

d. All persons petitioning for a map amendment that obstructs flow causing any increase in the regional flood height, 

shall obtain flooding easements or other appropriate legal arrangements from all adversely affected property 

owners and notify local units of government before the amendment can be approved by the governing body. 

I. Enforcement and Penalties. Any violation of the provisions of this Section by any person shall be unlawful and shall be 

referred to the City of Franklin Aattorney who shall expeditiously prosecute all such violators. A violator shall, upon 

conviction, forfeit to the municipality a penalty of not more than $50.00 (fifty dollars), together with a taxable cost of such 

action. Each day of continued violation shall constitute a separate offense. Every violation of this ordinance is a public 

nuisance and the creation may be enjoined and the maintenance may be abated by action at suit of the City of Franklin, the 

State of Wisconsin, or any citizen thereof pursuant to Section 87.30, Wisconsin Statutes. 

 



C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N  
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of June 20th, 2024 

 
Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment  

 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of this Unified 
Development Ordinance Text Amendment of Table 15-3.0603 to include certain Religious and 
Church and Places of Worship uses as permitted uses in the B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use 
District, CC Civic Center District, I-1 Institutional District, and a special use in the OL-2 General 
Business Overlay District and P-1 Park District. 

Project Name:  UDO Update for RLUIPA Compliance 

Project Address: City-wide 
Applicant: City Development staff 
Applicant Action Requested: Recommendation of approval for the proposed Unified 

Development Ordinance Text Amendment  
 

Introduction and Background: 
Before you is an amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Table 15-3.0603 
“Permitted and Special Uses in the Nonresidential Zoning Districts” to change certain Religious 
Organization uses from “Not Permitted” to “Permitted” and “Special” in the B-4 South 27th Street 
Mixed Use District, CC Civic Center District, OL-2 General Business Overlay District, and P-1 
Parks District. The specific Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) titles subject of this 
amendment are listed below: 

• 8661 – Religious Organizations 
• Not Classified – Church or Other Place of Worship 

 
The intent of this amendment is for the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) to comply with a 
federal law titled “The Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act” (RLUIPA). This 
law achieves a couple of purposes pertinent to this amendment. It is stated that RLUIPA “requires 
governments to treat houses of worship as favorably as nonreligious assemblies”. Currently, the 
UDO designates that Civic and Social Associations, SIC Code 8641, as a permitted use within the 
B-4 district. However, Religious Organizations, SIC Code 8661, are listed as “Not Permitted”. 
This violates RLUIPA requirements. 
 
There is also a requirement in RLUIPA that “bars governments from totally or unreasonably 
excluding religious assemblies, institutions, or structures”. There is a zoning classification within 
the UDO titled Church or Other Place of Worship. Currently, this classification is not permitted 
within any zoning district in the City of Franklin. However, Community Centers are listed as a 
Permitted Use within the CC City Civic Center District and a special use in the OL-2 General 
Business Overlay District. Additionally, “Assembly Places (Indoor with 100 persons or more)” is 
a special use within the P-1 Parks District. By permitting Community Centers and Assembly Places 
in these districts but not Churches or Places of Worship, it violates RLUIPA. 
 

Item C.1. 



 2 

Please note, the proposed text amendment, if adopted, would apply to all properties in the City of 
Franklin zoned B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use District, CC City Civic Center District, OL-2 
General Business Overlay District, and P-1 Park District.  
 
Project Description and Analysis: 
The zoning districts subject of this amendment are the B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use 
Commercial District, CC City Civic Center District and OL-2 General Business Overlay District. 
The intent of these districts as described in the UDO is as follows: 

• the B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use Commercial District, “provide for the development 
of certain mixed uses, including retail, commercial, office and residential development, in 
furtherance of the goals and objectives of the South 27th Street Corridor Element of the 
Comprehensive Master Plan”.  

• CC City Civic Center District, “Serve as the new ‘downtown’ of the City of Franklin”. 
• OL-2 General Business Overlay District: “Provide for the application of B-2 General 

Business District uses and district standards while retaining the underlying base zoning”. 
• P-1 Park District, “Provide for areas where the recreational needs, both public and private, 

of the populace can be met without undue disturbance of natural resources and adjacent 
uses”. 

• I-1 Institutional District, “Eliminate the ambiguity of maintaining, in unrelated use 
districts, areas which are under public or public-related ownership and where the use for 
public, or quasi-public purpose, is anticipated to be permanent.”. 

 
 
Table 15-3.0603 of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) sets forth those uses which are 
permitted and special uses in all nonresidential zoning districts in the City of Franklin.  Use 
designations are based on the Standard Industrial Classification Manual (1987, or latest edition) 
published by the Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget. 
 
The Religious Organization use subject of this amendment are part of Division I: Services and 
Major Group 86: Membership Organization. Note that this Major Group encompasses other uses 
that are not included in this amendment. The subject SIC Code associated with this UDO Text 
Amendment is 8661 “Religious Organizations”. Additionally, the Church or Other Place of 
Worship use is currently listed under “Other Uses Not Classified Under SIC Code”. 
 
The SIC code listed above is currently allowed as a permitted use in the I-1, Institutional District, 
and not permitted in any of the districts listed above. “Church or Other Place of Worship” is not a 
permitted or special use in any zoning district in the City of Franklin. 
 
There are other SIC codes associated with assembly and membership organizations that have 
permitted and special uses in certain districts. These SIC codes and their respective districts are as 
follows: 
 

• 8641: Civic and Social Associations – Permitted Use in B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use 
Commercial District and I-1 Institutional District. 



 3 

• Other Uses Unclassified in SIC Code: Community Centers – Permitted Use in CC City 
Civic Center District and Special Use in OL-2 General Business Overlay District. 

• Other Uses Unclassified in SIC Code: Assembly Places (Indoor, for more than 100 
persons) – Special Use in P-1 Park District. 

 
To follow RLUIPA requirements, City staff suggest the following changes to Table 15-3.0603: 
 

• SIC Code 8661: Religious Organizations – Not Permitted in B-4, CC, OL-2, and P-1 
districts to a Permitted use in B-4 and CC Districts and a Special Use in OL-2 and P-1 
District. 

• Other Uses Unclassified in SIC Code: Church or Other Place of Worship - Not Permitted 
in B-4, CC, OL-2, and P-1 districts to a Permitted use in B-4, CC and I-1 Districts and a 
Special Use in OL-2 and P-1 District. 

 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City Development Staff recommends approval of this Unified Development Ordinance Text 
Amendment of Table 15-3.0603 to allow for Standard Industrial Classification Title No. 8661 and 
Not Classified: Church or Other Place of Worship as permitted uses in the B-4 South 27th Street 
Mixed Use District, CC Civic Center District, and I-1 Institutional District and a special use in the 
OL-2 General Business Overlay District and P-1 Park District. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN              CITY OF FRANKLIN              MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                           [Draft 6-12-24] 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE TEXT AT TABLE 
15-3.0603 STANDARD INDUSTRIAL CLASSIFICATION TITLE NO.  8661 

“RELIGIOUS ORGANIZATIONS” TO ALLOW SUCH USE AS A PERMITTED USE IN 
THE B-4 SOUTH 27TH STREET MIXED USE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT AND CC CITY 

CIVIC CENTER DISTRICT, AND AS A SPECIAL USE IN THE OL-2 GENERAL 
BUSINESS OVERLAY DISTRICT AND P-1 PARK DISTRICT, AS WELL AS 
UNCLASSIFIED USE “CHURCH OR OTHER PLACE OF WORSHIP” AS A 

PERMITTED USE IN THE B-4 DISTRICT, CC DISTRICT, I-1 INSTITUTIONAL 
DISTRICT, AS WELL AS A SPECIAL USE IN THE OL-2 DISTRICT AND P-1 PARK 

DISTRICT. 
(CITY OF FRANKLIN, APPLICANT) 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 WHEREAS, Table 15-3.0603 of the Unified Development Ordinance sets forth the 
permitted and special uses in the nonresidential zoning districts; and  
 
 WHEREAS, City of Franklin having applied for a text amendment to Table 15-
3.0603 to amend the Unified Development Ordinance text at Table 15-3.0603 Title No.  
8661 “Religious Organizations” to allow such use as a Permitted Use in the B-4 South 27th 
Street Mixed Use Commercial District and CC City Civic Center District, and as a Special 
Use in the OL-2 General Business Overlay District and P-1 Park District, as well as 
Unclassified Use “Church Or Other Place Of Worship” as a Permitted Use in the B-4 
District, CC District, I-1 Institutional District, as well as a Special Use in the OL-2 District 
And P-1 Park District. 
 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having reviewed the proposed amendment to 
change SIC Code No. 8661 “Religious Organizations” to a Permitted Use in the B-4 South 
27th Street Mixed Use Commercial District and CC City Civic Center District, and as a 
Special Use in the OL-2 General Business Overlay District and P-1 Park District, 
Unclassified Use “Church Or Other Place Of Worship” as a Permitted Use in the B-4 
District, CC District, I-1 Institutional District, as well as a Special Use in the OL-2 District 
And P-1 Park District and having held a public hearing on the proposal on the 20th day of 
June, 2024 and thereafter having recommended approval of such amendment; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Common Council having accepted the recommendation of the Plan 

Commission and having determined that the proposed amendment is consistent with the 2025 
Comprehensive Master Plan of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin and will serve to further 
orderly growth and development and promote the health, safety and welfare of the 
Community. 

 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
Page 2 
 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, 
do ordain as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Table 15-3.0603 of the Unified Development Ordinance of the 
Municipal Code of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, only as it pertains 
to: Standard Industrial Classification Title No. 8661 “Religious 
Organizations” and Unclassified Use “Church or Other Place of 
Worship” is hereby amended as follows: insert “P” (Permitted Use) in 
the B-4, CC, and I-1 columns, and insert “S” (Special Use) in the OL-2 
and P-1 columns. 

 
SECTION 2:  The terms and provisions of this ordinance are severable.  Should any 

term or provision of this ordinance be found to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms and provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 3: All ordinances and parts of ordinances in contravention to this 

ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 

SECTION 4: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 
passage and publication. 

 
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
2nd day of July, 2024. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this 2nd day of July, 2024.  
       APPROVED: 
 
 
             
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______  ABSENT ______    



UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE (UDO)             2 

Table 15-3.0603 - Permitted and Special Uses in the Nonresidential Zoning Districts  
[Last amended 12-19-2023 by Ord. No. 2023-2572] 

Division I: Services / Major Group 86 Membership Organizations 

Proposed amendments in red 

 

p          p 

P       P              P S      S 

S           S 



U.S. Department of Justice 

Civil Rights Division 

Federal Religious 
Land Use Protections 

• How  does federal law  protect  religious 
institutions from  unduly burdensome or  
discriminatory  land use regulations? 

• How can you partner  with the U.S. 
Department  of Justice if you are 
impacted? 



  
     

   

  
  

  

    
    

   
    

    
 

civilrights.justice.gov 

How  RLUIPA  protects religious institutions 

RLUIPA stands for “The Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 
Persons Act.” Among other things, this federal law protects religious 
institutions from unduly burdensome or discriminatory land use 
regulations. 

Congress passed RLUIPA in 2000 after hearing testimony that land use 
and zoning regulations often burden religious institutions seeking to 
exercise their faiths as protected by the U.S. Constitution. 

How you can partner  with DOJ 

If your RLUIPA rights are violated, you may bring a private civil action 
with your own attorney. DOJ can also review potential RLUIPA 
violations, open investigations, bring lawsuits to enforce the statute, and 
file friend-of-the-court briefs in private RLUIPA cases. DOJ can seek 
court orders to correct violations but cannot seek monetary relief.  
Unfortunately, DOJ is not able to open investigations or file suits in all 
complaints that it receives. 

To file a complaint about a possible RLUIPA violation, or  find out more 
information about the law, contact the DOJ Civil  Rights  Division: 

 Telephone: (800) 896-7743 

 Email:  RLUIPA.complaints@usdoj.gov  

mailto:RLUIPA.complaints@usdoj.gov


   
    

      

  
   

    
 

     

    
  

 
   

   

   
   

 
  

 
 

    

  

   
 

What does RLUIPA  do? 

1) Bars land use regulations that substantially burden religious 
exercise, except where justified by a “compelling governmental 
interest” that the government pursues in the least restrictive way 
possible 

For example: A church is denied a permit to build an addition to 
accommodate more Sunday school classes, which it believes it needs to 
carry out its religious mission. This may violate RLUIPA if the town cannot 
show a compelling reason for the denial. 

2) Requires governments to treat houses of worship as favorably as 
nonreligious assemblies 

For example: A mosque leases space in a storefront.  Zoning officials 
deny an occupancy permit since houses of worship are forbidden in that 
zone.  However, fraternal organizations, meeting halls, and banquet 
facilities are all permitted as of right in the same zone.  This may violate 
RLUIPA. 

3) Bars governments from discriminating on the basis of religion or 
religious denomination 

For example: An Orthodox Jewish congregation is denied a building 
permit for a temple despite meeting all of the requirements for height, 
setback, and parking required by the zoning code.  The zoning 
administrator is overheard making a disparaging remark about the Jewish 
community. If it were proven that the permit was denied because the 
applicants were Jewish, this would violate RLUIPA. 

4) Bars governments from totally or unreasonably excluding religious 
assemblies, institutions, or structures 

For example: A town enacts a law requiring that houses of worship must 
be located on parcels with a minimum acreage, but parcels of that size are 
unavailable or prohibitively expensive.  Such a law may be an unreasonable 
limitation in violation of RLUIPA. 

rmartinez
Polygon

rmartinez
Polygon



   
  
   

  
  

  

  
  

  

    
    

    
  

   
 

     

Examples of DOJ’s RLUIPA work 

City  of Santa Ana, California 

Micah’s Way is a faith-based organization that provides services to 
people who are homeless. When Santa Ana refused to grant a 
certificate of occupancy to allow Micah’s Way to provide food and drinks 
to its clients in accordance with its religious beliefs, Micah’s Way filed a 
RLUIPA lawsuit against the city. 

DOJ filed a friend-of-the-court brief in a federal district court explaining 
that feeding persons in need may be religious exercise under RLUIPA 
and that the City’s conduct may have substantially burdened Micah’s 
Way’s religious exercise. The court agreed and found that Micah’s Way 
had properly alleged a RLUIPA claim. Soon after, the case settled, and 
the City allowed Micah’s Way to continue providing food and drink to its 
clients. 

Stafford County,  Virginia 

The All Muslim Association of America purchased property in Stafford 
County for a cemetery. After learning about the planned cemetery, the 
County changed its zoning laws to impose new restrictions that would 
prevent the cemetery from being built. The association reached out to the 
Civil Rights Division for help. 

The Department of Justice investigated the association’s claims and 
brought a lawsuit against the County, alleging violations of RLUIPA. 

As a result, the County repealed the ordinance and approved the permits 
for the association to build its cemetery. 



       
       

      

  
   

 
   

  

 
 

    
   

 

     

civilrights.justice.gov 

Examples of DOJ’s RLUIPA work 

Township of Jackson and Jackson Planning Board, New Jersey 

The Orthodox Jewish community in the Township of Jackson wanted to 
develop land for use by religious boarding schools.  

The Township and Planning Board passed zoning ordinances broadly 
prohibiting religious schools and banning schools with dormitories, both of 
which are important to providing religious education within the Orthodox 
Jewish community. 

DOJ investigated and filed a RLUIPA case. Ultimately, the Township and 
Planning Board agreed to a settlement with DOJ which required them to 
repeal and replace the discriminatory ordinances to allow religious 
elementary and secondary schools, religious higher learning institutions, 
and religious residential schools. 

Learn more a bout  our work  

DOJ’s Place to Worship Initiative: www.justice.gov/crt/placetoworship   

RLUIPA: www.justice.gov/crt/rluipa  

This information sheet is intended for informational purposes only. It has no force or 
effect of law, is not a final agency action, and has no binding legal effect. The 

information in it may be modified by the Department at any time. 



C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N      
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of June 20, 2024 

 

Minor Planned Development District Amendment  
and Site Plan Amendment 

1 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  The Planning Department recommends approval of this Minor Planned 
Development District amendment and Site Plan Amendment, subject to the proposed conditions. 

Project Name: Conservancy for Healing and Heritage Welcome Center 
Property Owner: Conservancy for Healing and Heritage Inc. 
Applicant: Susan A. Rabe  
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 6941 S 68TH ST / 743 8978 006 
Aldermanic District: District 2 
Agent: Susan A. Rabe 
Zoning District: Planned Development District 28 
Use of Surrounding Properties: PDD 28 (north and east) 
  PDD 37 (west),  
 B-2 General Business (south)  
Application Request: MPDDa and SPa for new building. 
Staff Planner: Marion Ecks, AICP 

 
INTRODUCTION/HISTORY: 
The Conservancy for Healing and Heritage, Inc. has previously received approval (Ordinance 
No. 2013-2122) to amend the Polish Community Center Planned Development District (PDD) 
No. 28 to allow development of a healing garden with native plants, a chapel. The project 
included a public educational trail connecting the healing garden, neighboring hospital, 
Koepmeir Lake, the chapel, and the Polish Community Center, to one another. 
 
The applicant is requesting, with agreement from the Department of City Development staff, that 
the Plan Commission and Common Council determine the proposed amendment to be a Minor 
Amendment.  Major PDD Amendments are typically reserved for changes to the exterior 
boundaries of a PDD or major changes of use. 
 
The PDD Minor Amendment is intended to allow for the additional accessory structure to serve 
as a welcome center and offices for the Conservancy. The Site Plan Amendment is intended to 
approve the site changes.   
 
PROJECT ANALYSIS 
The property is zoned PDD 28, and is home to a chapel, surrounded by a healing garden comprised 
of a number of trails, gazebos, benches, and native plantings, as well as a water feature, an 

Item E.1. 



 2 

observation deck, and a number of other accessory structures such as art works, shrines, etc. 
located both east and west of the chapel. 
 
Site Plan 
The applicant is proposing an approximately 1,668 square foot “welcome center” and related 
amenities, and to refresh some plantings on site. The single-story structure will include offices, 
restrooms, event space, and a 204 square foot deck looking north into the woods.  It will connect 
via a paved walkway to existing paths.  
 
The development complies with the dimensional requirements of the PDD, which allows for 
reduced setbacks along the south property line.  The current Unified Development Ordinance does 
not have specific architectural standards but instead requires that a development harmonize with 
the surrounding area; the proposed building echoes the materials and design of the existing chapel.  
The facility uses shared parking with Ascension Wisconsin under an operating agreement.   
The application complies with the requirements of the UDO for Site Plans and site design. 
 
Natural Resources and prior NRSE  
The PDD includes woodlands, wetlands, and Koepmeir Lake. The applicant has previously 
obtained approval of a Natural Resource Special Exception (NRSE) on September 3, 2019 to allow 
for the construction of trails and a pier within the lake, and a conservation easement exists on the 
site. NRSE approvals do not expire. The proposed development does not impact additional natural 
resources, and so a new NRSE is not required.   
 
Recommended Conditions of Approval 
Minor PDD Amendments require Plan Commission review and Common Council approval. The 
ordinance is drafted with a standard set of condition relating to development timelines and 
requirements, approvals from other jurisdictions and departments, etc.  Site Plan Amendments 
require Plan Commission approval. The resolution is also drafted with standard set of condition.  
Staff does not recommend any special conditions of approval.  

 
CONCLUSION: 
City Development staff recommends approval of the proposed PDD Minor Amendment and Site 
Plan Amendment requests with conditions as proposed in the attached draft ordinance and draft 
resolution. 

 
 

Exhibits: 
 
• Draft Ordinance 
• Draft Resolution 
• Applicant Exhibits 

 



STATE OF WISCONSIN              CITY OF FRANKLIN              MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
            [Draft 6-13-24]    

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND §15-3.0433 OF THE UNIFIED  
DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 NO. 28 (POLISH FESTIVALS, INC. – POLISH COMMUNITY CENTER)  

TO ALLOW FOR A WELCOME CENTER AND CHANGES  
TO THE HEALING GARDEN AND NATURE TRAILS AT  
THE CONSERVANCY FOR HEALING AND HERITAGE  

(CONSERVANCY FOR HEALING AND HERITAGE, INC., SUSAN A. RABE, CEO 
AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, APPLICANT) (6941 SOUTH 68TH STREET) 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 WHEREAS, §15-3.0433 of the Unified Development Ordinance provides for and 
regulates Planned Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish Community 
Center), same having been created by Ordinance No. 99-1552 and later amended by Ordinance 
Nos. 04-1825; 13-2122, 19-2378, 19-2382, and 20-2441, such District being located at 6941 
South 68th Street, bearing Tax Key No. 743-8978-006; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Planned Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish 
Community Center) includes those lands legally described as follows: 

 
Outlot 1 of Certified Survey Map numbered 7544 recorded in the office of the 
Register of Deeds for Milwaukee County, more particularly described as 
follows; That part of the Northwest 1/4, Southeast 1/4, Southwest 1/4, and 
Northwest 1/4 all in the Southwest 1/4 of Section 3, Township 5 North, Range 
21 East, in the City of Franklin, County of Milwaukee and the State of 
Wisconsin. 

 
COMMENCING AT THE WEST 1/4 CORNER OF SAID SECTION 3; 
ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4; THENCE S 
00°25′13″ E 1954.77 FEET; THENCE N 89°26′56″ E 150.00 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE N 30°53′12″ E 72.99 FEET; THENCE N 
49°45′23″ E 660.73 FEET; THENCE S 40°14′37″ E 273.00 FEET; THENCE 
N 49°45′23″ E 745.30 FEET; THENCE N 28°52′15″ E 169.64 FEET; THENCE 
N 38°44′29″ E 694.82 FEET; THENCE N 69°05′25″ E 159.08 FEET; THENCE 
N 89°43′14″ E 314.16 FEET; THENCE N 53°59′48″ E 250.00 FEET TO THE 
WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SOUTH 68TH STREET; THENCE S 
00°16′46″ E ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE 344.91 FEET TO THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAINT PETER’S CEMETERY; THENCE S 89°43′14″ W 
ALONG SAID NORTH LINE 217.80 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF SAINT 
PETER’S CEMETERY; THENCE S 13°41′01″ E ALONG SAID WEST LINE 
449.83 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAINT PETER’S CEMETERY; 
THENCE S 89°43′14″ E ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 113.52 FEET TO THE 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
Page 2 
 
 

WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SOUTH 68TH STREET; THENCE S 
00°16′46″ E ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE 911.03 FEET; THENCE 
S 89°26′56″ W 283.60 FEET; THENCE N 00°16′46″ WEST 60.00 FEET; 
THENCE S 89°26′56″ W 855.17 FEET; THENCE S 00°21′00″ E 622.34 FEET 
TO THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF RAWSON AVENUE; THENCE 
S 89°26′56″ W ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE 63.32 FEET; THENCE 
N 00°21′00″ W 622.34 FEET; THENCE S 89°26′56″ W 94.88 FEET TO THE 
WEST LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF SAID 
SECTION 3; THENCE S 00°21′00″ E ALONG SAID WEST LINE 1.06 FEET; 
THENCE S 89°26′56″ W 1179.95 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM LOT 1 AND LOT 2 AS SHOWN ON SAID 
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NUMBERED 7544. SAID PARCEL CONTAINS 
1587764 SQUARE FEET, 36.450 ACRES, MORE OR LESS; and 

                                                                                         . 
 WHEREAS, Conservancy for Healing and Heritage, Inc., Susan A. Rabe, CEO and 
Executive Director, having petitioned for a further amendment to Planned Development 
District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish Community Center), to allow for construction 
of a proposed accessory structure to include office and additional event space, new trail 
segments, and other additions to the Conservancy development, resulting in resulting in Site 
Plan changes and an application for a Site Plan for consideration by the Plan Commission 
concurrent herewith, upon property located at 6941 South 68th Street and adjoining area(s); 
and  

 WHEREAS, the City of Franklin Plan Commission having considered the application 
on the 20th day of June, 2024, and the Plan Commission having determined that the proposed 
amendment was a minor amendment and having recommended to the Common Council that the 
proposed amendment to Planned Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish 
Community Center) be approved; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having considered the application and having concurred 
with the recommendation of the Plan Commission and having determined that the proposed 
amendment to Planned Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish Community 
Center) is consistent with the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan of the City of  Franklin, 
Wisconsin and that it will promote the health, safety and welfare of the Community. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, do ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1:  §15-3.0433 Planned Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. 

– Polish Community Center), of the Unified Development Ordinance of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, is hereby amended as follows:  

  
Ordinance No. 99-1552, Section 15-3.0433 B. 1. b. is hereby amended 
to allow for construction of a proposed accessory structure including 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
Page 3 
 
 

office and additional event space, new trail segments, and other additions 
to the Conservancy development, which shall be located and constructed, 
and appear as respectively depicted upon and pursuant to those plans and 
site plan City date-stamped June 7, 2024, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein.  Furthermore, additional minor site changes to the 
Healing Garden may be allowed pursuant to the Site Plan Amendment 
provisions set forth in Section 15-7.0100 of the City of Franklin Unified 
Development Ordinance. 
 

SECTION 2: The proposed Welcome Center at the Conservancy for Healing and 
Heritage shall be completed within one year from the date of adoption of 
this Ordinance, or this Ordinance and all rights and approvals resulting 
therefrom shall be null and void without any further action by the City 
of Franklin. 

 
SECTION 3:  Conservancy for Healing and Heritage, Inc., Susan A. Rabe, CEO and 

Executive Director, successors and assigns and any developer of the 
Healing Garden and the Lake and Nature Trails at the Conservancy for 
Healing and Heritage project, shall pay to the City of Franklin the 
amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees 
incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of 
Franklin, for the Healing Garden and the Lake and Nature Trails at the 
Conservancy for Healing and Heritage project, within 30 days of invoice 
for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and 
§1-19. of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies 
provisions, as amended from time to time. 

 
SECTION 4: All other applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0433 Planned 

Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish Community 
Center) not inconsistent with the terms of this Ordinance, and the Unified 
Development Ordinance of the City of Franklin, as amended from time 
to time, shall apply to the Welcome Center at the Conservancy for 
Healing and Heritage project, and all terms and provisions of §15-3.0433 
Planned Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish 
Community Center) as existing immediately prior to the adoption of this 
Ordinance and not amended by this Ordinance, shall remain in full force 
and effect. 

 
SECTION 5: The terms and provisions of this ordinance are severable.  Should any 

term or provision of this ordinance be found to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms and provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
Page 4 
 
 
 
SECTION 6: All ordinances and parts of ordinances in contravention to this ordinance 

are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 7: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage 

and publication. 
 
Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 

_______ day of ______, 2024. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin 
this _______ day of _______, 2024. 
 
        

APPROVED: 
 
 
             
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
             PLAN COMMISSION            [Draft 6-13-24] 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN AMENDMENT FOR A WELCOME 

CENTER ACCESSORY STRUCTURE AND RELATED IMPROVEMENTS  
TO THE CONSERVANCY FOR HEALING AND HERITAGE PROPERTY   

(CONSERVANCY FOR HEALING AND HERITAGE, INC., SUSAN A. RABE, CEO 
AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, APPLICANT) (6941 SOUTH 68TH STREET) 

              
 

WHEREAS, The Conservancy for Healing and Heritage, Inc., Susan A. Rabe, CEO 
and Executive Director having applied for approval of a proposed site plan amendment for a 
Welcome Center accessory structure and paved walking path areas, for the Conservancy for 
Healing and Heritage property, property located at 6941 South 68th Street and adjoining 
area(s), zoned Planned Development District No. 28 (Polish Festivals, Inc. – Polish 
Community Center); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found 
same to be in compliance with the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0421 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of those express standards and purposes 
of a site plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan Amendment for a Welcome Center accessory 
structure and paved walking path areas, for the Conservancy for Healing and Heritage 
property, Site Plan property located at 6941 South 68th Street and adjoining area(s), as 
depicted upon the plans dated June 7, 2024, attached hereto and incorporated herein, is 
hereby approved, subject to the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. The property subject to the Site Plan shall be developed in substantial compliance 
with, and operated and maintained pursuant to the Site Plan for Conservancy for 
Healing and Heritage, Inc., Susan A. Rabe, CEO and Executive Director, for the 
Conservancy for Healing and Heritage property, dated June 7, 2024. 

2. The Conservancy for Healing and Heritage, Inc., Susan A. Rabe, CEO and Executive 
Director, successors and assigns, and any developer of the Conservancy for Healing 
and Heritage property project, shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all 
development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, 
including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the Conservancy for Healing 
and Heritage property project, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of 
this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject 
to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19. of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and 
remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 



CONSERVANCY FOR HEALING AND HERITAGE, INC.,  
SUSAN A. RABE, CEO AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR – SITE PLAN AMENDMENT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-____ 
Page 2 
 
 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Conservancy for Healing and 
Heritage, Inc., Susan A. Rabe, CEO and Executive Director, for the Conservancy for 
Healing and Heritage property project (i) being in compliance with all applicable 
governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all 
other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, required for and 
applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this approval. 

4. That the Conservancy for Healing and Heritage property project shall be developed 
and constructed pursuant to such Site Plan within one year from the date of adoption 
of this Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder 
shall be null and void, without any further action by the City of Franklin. 

 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 

 
APPROVED: 

 
 
                
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 743 8978 006

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

LOOMIS   R
D

FW  

B-1 

PDD 

B-2 
B-2 

PDD 

PDD 

P-1 

PDD 

R-6 

FC  

FW  
B-3 

R-6 

B-3 B-3 R-6 

PDD 

A-1 

R-6 

PDD 

PDD 

P-1 

A-1 

R-6 

B-3 

A-1 

PRIVATE 

76
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

RAWSON                         AVE 

68
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

N

Property

2017 Aerial Photo

0 610 1,220305 Feet



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 743 8978 006

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

OLD LOOMIS ROAD
W LOOMIS ROAD

S 6
8T

H 
ST

RE
ET

HO
LL

YH
OC

K 
CT

HOLLOW  LANE

W HORIZON DRIVE

HI
LL

 PA
RK

COURT

S P
AR

K 
VI

EW
  C

T

W    L
OOMIS     R

D

OLD  LOOMIS   R
D

HI
LL

 RI
DG

E  
DR

S  
   6

8T
H 

   S
T

S  
   6

8T
H 

    
 ST

W     RAWSON      AVE

W  HIGHVIEW   DR

CT

HI
LL

DA
LE

S  
  7

6T
H 

   S
T

W      
LOOMIS    R

D

S  
 76

TH
   S

T
CT

H 
U

STH 36

S  
  7

6T
H 

   S
T

S  68TH  ST  ADDRESSES

LOOMIS   R
D

PRIVATE 

76
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

RAWSON                         AVE 

68
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

N

Property

2017 Aerial Photo

0 610 1,220305 Feet



 

 

        

June 6, 2024 

Plan Commission 
Common Council 
City of Franklin 
9229 W. Loomis Road 
Franklin, WI 53132 
 
RE: WELCOME CENTER  
 
Gree�ngs – 
 
I am pleased to submit final documents for review of our planned Welcome 
Center at the Conservancy for Healing and Heritage. 
 
As a community based organiza�on, the Conservancy provides people a chance 
to connect to the natural world for comfort, inspira�on, physical ac�vity, 
community connectedness and rejuvena�on. Especially those who are dealing 
with cancer or other life’s challenges. 

 
How the Welcome Center will make a difference 

 
Community and social connectedness is an important social determinant of 
health.  Community organiza�ons, like the Conservancy, build connec�on in our 
community through educa�on, programs and services and promo�on of healthy 
choices for body, mind and spirit. We will contribute as a des�na�on to improve 
health in the Franklin and regional community.  

i. The Welcome Center will increase community connectedness amongst 
residents.   

ii. The Welcome Center will build and strengthen collabora�ve rela�onships 
that support the health needs of residents. 
 

Mental Health includes our emo�onal, psychological and social well-being.  It 
affects how we think, feel and act and can impact how we react to stress, relate 
to others and make health choices.   

i. The Welcome Center will increase access to resources within the 
community. We will provide addi�onal programs in the mul�-purpose 
room.  



ii. The Welcome Center will support a resilient community.  It will be a point 
of contact and direc�on for a safe connec�on to nature as a conduit for 
self-reflec�on, healing and stress reduc�on. 

 
Physical activity - being physically ac�ve can improve brain health, help manage 
weight, reduce the risk of disease, strengthen and improve everyday ac�vity 
ability.  

i. The Welcome Center will increase awareness and usage of our local 
physical ac�vity opportuni�es within the community.  The We Energies 
Founda�on Healing Garden is ADA accessible and open for all abili�es.  
The Lake & Nature Trails offer those who enjoy a moderate nature walk. 
Res�ng benches are available throughout both the Healing Garden and 
Trails.  

ii. Will enhance accessible ac�vity programs within Franklin and regional 
community.   

 
 
Thank you for your considera�on.  Any ques�ons, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Best regards, 
 
 
 
Susan A. Rabe 
CEO and Chair of the Board 
 
 
 

 
 

    



    
 

 
Welcome Center – Project Narra�ve 

 Mission: The Conservancy for Healing & Heritage is dedicated to conserving an excep�onal 36-acre 
parcel of woodland, glacial lake and offering a healing chapel, healing garden and nature trails. 

 
Purpose: The Conservancy’s mission is expressed through our Three Pillars of Service 

- Conserva�on and Nature 
- Environmental Educa�on 
- Healing for body, mind and spirit 

 
Case For Support 

Unwavering support from donors, the community and volunteers has made the Conservancy for 
Healing and Heritage a reality and a unique des�na�on amongst non-profit organiza�ons. 
Since our founding in 2003, the Conservancy has helped people experience a safe, nature-based 
healing space. Here they can enjoy exercise, reflec�on, quietude and connec�ons to crea�on.  In 
addi�on, thousands of students have experienced educa�on while learning self-reliance as they 
become adults. We need your support and with your help, we can do more. 

 
Why is the Conservancy worthy of increased/sustained investment?   It is 
clear the Conservancy serves a variety of needs. A Visitor/Welcome Center will provide a 
supplemental space for informa�on, learning, resources, and gathering while allowing the chapel to 
be u�lized as intended.   

The Visitor/Welcome Center aims to meet the following needs: 

• Offer wayfinding both internally and externally, in an engaging, welcoming and comfortable 
facility. Offer informa�on and direc�on for visitors, students, cancer pa�ents, and their families. 
A lighthouse on their journey.  

• Formal office space for conduc�ng business on site. Staff will not have travel �me between 
appointments and can meet with stakeholders on site in one convenient loca�on. Staff can more 
readily answer ques�ons and provide resources for visitors. 

• A multipurpose room with views of the woodland to the north as an additional climate-
controlled venue for observation, collaboration, and learning for all. It will be available for the 
community to rent as well as serve as a space for our programs. 

• A venue for program opportunities such as educational activities, support and retreats, and 
community use.  This will relieve scheduling in the Healing Chapel. 

• Improved access to efficiently utilize existing services and share resources. 
• We intend the Visitor Center to not only meet these needs, but also open the door to more 

opportunity for visitor feedback and collaboration. This is for them. 



































  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of June 20, 2024 
Site Plan Amendment  

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of the proposed Site Plan 
amendment, subject to the conditions of in the attached draft resolution. 
Project Name: Department of Public Works 
Property Owner: City of Franklin 
Applicant: City of Franklin  
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 7979 W Ryan Rd/ 896 9990 001 
Aldermanic District: District 1 
Agent: Jon Wallenkamp, Kueny Archiects, LLC 
Zoning District:  I-1 Institutional District 
Use of Surrounding Properties: M-1 Limited Industrial (east and west),  
 B-3 Community Business District (north),  
 R-8 Multifamily Residential District (south)  
Application Request: Approval of a Site Plan Amendment to allow for a building 

addition. 
Staff Planner: Marion Ecks, AICP 
 
APPLICANT’S REQUEST 
The applicant, the City of Franklin’s Department of Public Works (DPW), proposes to construct a new 
addition to the rear of the existing Public Works building in leiu of a separate structure which was 
previously approved in December 2023.   
 
CHARACTER OF THE SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA 
This location includes existing Public Works facilities: offices, salt and sand storage, and parking.  The 
southern portion of the site previously had two baseball diamonds on it which were used by the Lion’s 
Club and local sports leagues. The property is zoned I-1 Institutional District. 
 
The recently approved site plan included a fenced and landscaped berm along the south property line 
as a buffer between the Public Works facility and the multifamily neighborhood to the south which is 
zoned.  The properties to the east are zoned M-1 Limited Industrial and contain storage and office 
space, single family homes, and a restaurant; vacant lands to the west are currently zoned M-1 Limited 
Industrial; and to the north is vacant land zoned B-3 Community Business District.   
 
PROJECT ANALYSIS 
The property is zoned I-1 Institutional District. (§15-3.0312). The applicant has previously obtained 
approval of a Site Plan Amendment for a drop off area and a stand-alone storage building. They are 
now proposing this revised development, which will provide comparable storage facilities. The 
applicant is requesting approvals to develop an approximately 12,800 Sq. Ft. building addition to the 
existing building, to park equipment and which would include indoor storage for office materials.  The 
design includes an approximately 1,681 Sq. Ft.  exterior “lean-to” on the east wall of the expansion to 
provide additional storage space. The proposed structure meets the setback requirements of the I-1 
zoning district; review comments were provided for the requirements of that district.  
 

Item E.2 



  

 2 

The site contains areas of trees and wetland.  The previous approval required that the applicant provide 
information about natural resources or letter of no resources as part of the site plan approval.  With the 
new application, Planning received updated wetland delineations, which indicate that there will not be 
impacts to wetland resources.  The City Forrester separately evaluated woodlands on the site and 
determined that they did not constitute woodland under the standard of the UDO.  The City will 
provide mitigation for tree impacts and have submitted a draft plan for this mitigation.  Staff 
recommends the condition of approval that a final mitigation plan be approved, subject to review by 
the City Forrester and Planning department, prior to the issuance of building permits.   
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
City Development Staff recommends approval of the proposed Site Plan, subject to the conditions of 
approval in the attached draft resolution. 
 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
PLAN COMMISSION 

          [Draft 06/12/2024] 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN AMENDMENT FOR THE  

DEVELOPMENT A BUILDING ADDITION,  
UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7979 W RYAN RD 

(CITY OF FRANKLIN (JOHN NELSON, MAYOR) APPLICANT;  
CITY OF FRANKLIN, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              

WHEREAS, the City of Franklin (John Nelson, Mayor) having petitioned the City of 
Franklin for the approval of a Site Plan Amendment to allow for development of a new 
building addition, such Site Plan having been previously approved as part of a Zoning Permit 
approval for the City of Franklin Department of Public Works Facility and Storage Yard, on 
January 25, 1996; subsequently amended by RES 2017-005 on June 22, 2017; RES 2019-
7468 on February 19, 2019; and RES 2023-020 on December 7, 2023; upon property located 
at 7979 W Ryan Road, zoned I-1 Institutional District.  The property which is the subject of 
the application bears Tax Key No. 896 9990 001.  

WHEREAS, the development proposes a new storage facility and public drop off area 
and the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found same to be in 
compliance with the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0312: I-1 Institutional District 
of the Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of those express standards and 
purposes of a site plan amendment review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan Amendment for Department of Public Works, dated 
April 8, 2024, and June 11, 2024 as submitted by the City of Franklin, as described above, is 
hereby approved subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The City of Franklin, successors and assigns and any developer of the Department of 
Public Works project shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development 
compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including 
fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the Department of Public Works project, 
within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a 
violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof 
and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as 
amended from time to time. 

2. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the City of Franklin, Department 
of Public Works project for the property located at 7979 W Ryan Road: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and 



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS - SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 2 
 

2 
 

ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and 
the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented 
for this approval. 

3. The Department of Public Works project shall be developed in substantial compliance 
with the plans City file-stamped April 8, 2024 and June 11, 2024. 

4. A final tree mitigation plan must be approved, subject to review by the City Forrester 
and Planning department, prior to the issuance of building permits. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, that the Department of Public Works development as depicted upon the plans 
City file-stamped April 8, 2024, and June 11, 2024, attached hereto and incorporated herein, 
shall be developed and constructed within one year from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be null 
and void, without any further action by the City of Franklin; and the Site Plan Amendment 
for the property located at 7979 W Ryan Road, as previously approved, is amended 
accordingly. 
 
  Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 

 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
ATTEST:      _________________________________  
        John R. Nelson, Mayor 
___________________________________      
Shirley J. Robinson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7979 W. Ryan Road
TKN 896 9990 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

I-1 

B-3 

M-1 

M-1 

R-8 

R-8 R-8 

R-7 

R-8 

76
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

RYAN                           RD  

80
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7979 W. Ryan Road
TKN 896 9990 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

76
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

RYAN                           RD  
PARK CIRCLE WAY

80
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 







 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
April 08, 2024 
 
 
RE: Narrative - City of Franklin DPW 
 
This project was previous approved as a stand-alone building, It is now an addition to an existing building. 

1. Project narrative: 
The City of Franklin is constructing a new 12,800 square foot storage facility addition to the 
south side of their existing DPW facility. The new facility will be constructed using architectural 
precast walls with architectural metal roof canopy for the east side lean-to. The new facility will 
house existing equipment that currently sits outside.  
 
Along with the new storage facility a new residential drop-off site will be relocated from north off 
Ryan Road to the west off 80th street.  
 
The south side of the site will be built up creating a green landscape wall with a top berm 
section. The landscape wall will be an average of eighteen feet high and covered with 
coniferous, deciduous, and ornamental trees. 

2. Current and anticipate future hours of operation 
No Change. 

 
3. Activities performed on the site 

No Change. 

 

4. Floor Area Ratio 

Required  1.5 max. Actual  0.49 

 

FLOOR AREA RATIO 

 
(PA)  TOTAL PROPERTY AREA     859,045 SF  
(NPA)  NET PROPERTY AREA        765,428 SF  
(BA)  EXISTING TOTAL BUILDING AREA   38,981 SF 

PROPOSED STORAGE FACILITY  12,000 SF 
TOTAL NEW SITE BUILDING AREA  50,981 SF 

     
RATIO (BA / NPA)        0.067  - Max Allowable .63 (Net) .38 ( Gross) 
LANDSCAPE SURFACE RATIO (LSR) 0.94  - Min. Required 0.3  
 

Sincerely 
 
Kueny Architects, LLC 
Jon P. Wallenkamp, AIA, ALA 
Principal 







1.0KUENY ARCHITECTS, LLC
10505 CORPORATE DRIVE - SUITE 100  PLEASANT PRAIRIE, WI 53158 PHONE (262) 857-8101     FAX (262) 857 8103

GENERAL NOTES

1 A  c crete t  test 4000 psi i  28 days
2  Verify a  di e si s  access  uti ities a d w r i g c diti s i  the fie d
3  C f r  t  a  app icab e c des  rdi a ces a d safety sta dards
4  btai  a d pay f r a  required per its a d fees
5  tify Architect i ediate y if w r  ca t pr ceed as sh w   Drawi gs r as described i  the 

Specificati s
6   c crete t  be p ured with ut Architect's pri r review
7  A  C tract r's t  c perate with a  trades  w er's a d Architect's represe tatives
8  eave site c ea  eat a d free f debris at a  ti es
9  Each Pri e a d Sub c tract r is resp sib e f r havi g read each page f the Specificati s  Drawi gs  

Adde da a d Cha ge rders
10   Guard agai st i terferi g with w er's perati s
11   These Drawi gs c tai   pr visi s r pr cedures f r site safety   Each C tract r a d their 

e p yees are resp sib e t  f w a  aws a d rdi a ces a d pr vide their w  e gi eeri g t  pr vide a 
safe w r  p ace

12   The cati s f existi g u dergr u d uti ities  sh w   these Drawi gs  are sh w  i  a  appr xi ate way 
y a d have t bee  i depe de t y verified by the w er r its represe tatives   The C tract r sha  

deter i e the exact cati  f a  existi g uti ities bef re c e ci g w r  a d agrees t  be fu y resp sib e 
f r a y a d a  da ages which ight be ccassi ed by the C tract r's fai ure t  exact y cate a d preserve 
a y a d a  u dergr u d uti ities

13   Services perf r  f r this pr ect have bee  c ducted i  a a er c siste t with the eve  f care a d s i  
rdi ari y exercised by e bers f the pr fessi  curre t y practici g i  this area u der si i ar budget a d 

ti e c strai ts    warra ty  expressed r i p ied  is ade

MATERIAL INDICATIONS

DRAWING LEGEND

ew r Required P i t E evati

Existi g P i t E evati

Existi g C t urs

ew r Required C t urs

A          Grid i es

1          

3.1          
Bui di g Secti

Wa  Secti

R Space u ber

D r u ber

SHEET INDEX

Earth Bac fi

Rigid I su ati

C crete B c

A u i u

u ber (R ugh)

Stee

Sa d Fi

C crete

Fi ished W d

St e Fi

P yw d

Batt I su ati

1          

4.1          

Room Name

#          

101A          
I teri r E evati

Detai  Secti
1          

5.1          

1          

7.1          

1          

5.1          

Detai  u ber

Page u ber

Exteri r E evati
1          

2.1          
#          Wa  Tag

 100 0

 100 0

 100 0

 100 0

H D r u ber
H

101A          

CONSULTANTS

City of Franklin
DPW Building Expansion

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI
53132

April 2, 2024

City of Franklin

DPW Building Expansion

ARCHITECT ue y Architects 10505 C rp rate Drive  Suite 100
(262) 857 8101 P easa t Prairie  Wisc si  53158

Architect f Rec rd  P  Wa e a p (e ai ) w@ ue yarch c

ARCHITECTURA

AD1 0 Tit e Sheet

ARCHITECTURA

AD100 vera  Site P a   Base Bid a d A te ates Refere ce P a

AD101 Site P a

AD102 a dscape P a

AD103 80th Street Recyc i g Site &  Base Bid Access P a   S 80th St

AD202 E arged F r

AD203 Exteri r E evati s

AD204 E arged e a i e F r P a

AD301 Bui di g Secti s

AD302 Bui di g Secti s

Gra d t ta  10



S
TS
T

S
T

S
T

B
C5

B'
C5

A
C5

A'
C5

CB100

CB101

STMH100

CB102

STMH101

CB103

CB104

CB105

CB106

C
B

C
B

C
B

EMERGENCY SPILLWAY
SEE DETAIL ON SHEET C6

WV

FFE = 743.20

SA

SA

3
.5

%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

1
.5

%

4.0%

1
.5

%

3.5%
4
.3

%
1
.8

%

7
5
0

+
744.0 + 745.0 + 746.0 + 747.0 + 748.0

747.2
747.2

746.6

747.2

742.80

745.2 745.2

743.8

742

741

740

738

735

730

726

720

721

716

739

740

743

743

742

747

746 747

746

745

748

744

744

745

74
5

746

7
4
6

743

716

7
2
1

7
2
6

7
2
1

7
2
6

7
2
67

2
4

725

726

724

721

725

720

722
723

724

726

716

723

722

??

WASTE OIL AREA

GRASS GRASS

GRASS

WOODS

RETAINING WALL

RETAINING WALL

16∅" SAN STUB
IE = 704.84
(PER AS BUILT
RECORD)

GRASS

WOODS

16"∅ PVC WATER

?

731

731

730

726

730

726

WET POND 1

WET POND 2
740

735

743

742

741

734

734

7
3
17
3
1

7
3
47
3
4

FFE = 744.20

FFE = 743.21

FFE = 749.47

F FF
F

F
F

F
F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F FF

F FF F F F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F FF

F
F

F

F FF F F F F F F

F
F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F FF F F F F F

F
F

F
F

F

F FF F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

F
F

F

F FF FF FF F

80th street/ 

recycling site

New 24' 
Gate

New 32' 
Gate

ALL RED FENCE LINES
BID PACKAGE # 1  

Base bid  BP #1-1

ALL RED FENCE LINES
BID PACKAGE # 1  

Base bid No.  BP #1-1

ALL RED FENCE LINES
BID PACKAGE # 1  

Base bid  BP #1-1

PURPLE FENCE LINES
BID PACKAGE #1  

Mandatory Alternate No.  
BP #1-2

(Include Gates)

MANDATORY ALTERNATE No.  BP #3-2

Interior Mezzanine - West

MANDATORY ALTERNATE 
No.  BP #3-3

Interior Mezzanine - East

BID PACKAGE #3
BASE BID No BP #3-1

Main Building and Related 
site work

MANDATORY ALTERNATE 
No. BP #3-1

Site Utilities per C-3

MANDATORY ALTERNATE 
NUMBER BP #3-7

Recycling Site and Road 
Addition

MANDATORY ALTERNATE 
No. BP #3-5

Main Garage Floor Coating 
in Lieu of Densifier 

BID PACKAGE #3
BASE BID No BP #3-1

Main Building and 
Related site work

existing building

9
4
',
0
"

30',0"

MANDATORY ALTERNATE 
No.  BP #3-4

South building Bay 
Extension

TIE T" EXISTI%G 
CHAI%,-I%H FE%CE� 

MANDATORY ALTERNATE 
NUMBER BP #3-1

Site Utilities per C-3

MANDATORY ALTERNATE 
No.  BP #3-6

Interior Mezzanine - East

�I3IT 0F BASE BID (BP# 151)

�EW R0AD 5 PART 0F 3A�DAT0RY 

A�TER�ATE ��/ BP# 357

BID PACKAGE #2 - BASE BID 
No. BP #2-1

Salt Structure Repair

P�A� �0RTH

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE:  1" = 50'-0"

AD100City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

0vera�� Site P�a 5 Base Bid ad A�teates Referece P�a

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132



GRASS GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

WOODS

WOODS

5"

8"

7"

7"

8"

1
0
"

1
0
"

6"

6"

6"

1
2
"

1
0
"

1
0
"

1
2
"

1
2
"

7"

8"

7"

7
"

8"

8"

8"

7"

7"

9"

9
"

12"

1
2
"

1
0
"

5
"

5
"

5
"

7
"7

"

8
"

8
"

7
"1
2
"

2
0
"

8
"

8
"

ST
ST

CB

CBST

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB CB

CB
CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

WV WV

W
V

WVW
V

W
V

W
V

WV
W
V

WV

WV

WV

WV

WV

W
V

SA

MH

G
V

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

IP IP

IP

IP

IPIPIP

IP

IP

IP

IP

T

P
O
S
T

FL
A
G

F
L
A
G

?

?

?

?

?

?

??

?

S. 80TH

STREET

POND

SOIL PILE

SOIL PILE

ROCK

PILE

STOCKPILE

STOCK PILE

SAND PILE

SOIL/ROCK

PILE

7
4
5
.6

1

7
3
9
.3

6

7
4
5
.6

7

7
4
5
.6

4

7
4
5
.5

4

7
4
5
.6

7

7
4
5
.6

6

S
TS
T

S
T

S
T

B
C5

B'
C5

A
C5

A'
C5

CB100

CB101

STMH100

CB102

STMH101

CB103

CB104

CB105

CB106

C
B

C
B

C
B

EMERGENCY SPILLWAY
SEE DETAIL ON SHEET C6

WV

FFE = 743.20

SA

SA

3
.5

%

1.0%

1.5
%

2.0%

1
.5

%

4.0%

1
.5

%

3.5
%

4
.3

%
1
.8

%

7
50

+
744.0 + 745.0 + 746.0 + 747.0 + 748.0

747.2
747.2

746.6

747.2

742.80

745.2 745.2

743.8

742

741

740

738

735

730

726

720

721

716

739

740

743

743

742

747

746 747

746

745

748

744

744

745

74
5

746

7
46

743

716

7
2
1

7
2
6

7
2
1

7
2
6

7
2
67

2
4

725

726

724

721

725

720

722
723

724

726

716

723

722

??

WASTE OIL AREA

GRASS GRASS

WOODS

RETAINING WALL

RETAINING WALL

16∅" SAN STUB
IE = 704.84
(PER AS BUILT
RECORD)

GRASS

WOODS

16"∅ PVC WATER

?

731

731

730

726

730

726

WET POND 1

WET POND 2
740

735

743

742

741

734

734

7
3
17
3
1

7
3
47
3
4

FFE = 744.20

FFE = 743.21

F FF
F

F
F

F
F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F FF

F FF F F F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F FF

F
F

F

F FF F F F F F F

F
F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F FF F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

F
F

F

F FF FF FF F

0 80 120 16040

GRAPHIC SCALE

existing

DPW facility

80th street/ 

recycling site

R
y
a
n
 R

o
a
d

80th Street

existing 
salt 

structure

SITE GRADING BY 

OWNER

E
xi

st
in

g
 H

o
ld

in
g

 T
an

k

S
an

it
ar

y 
E

xt
en

si
o

n
 t

o
 P

ro
p

er
ty

New 24' 
Gate

3
4
2
',
2
"

2
3
6
',
0
"

5
7
8
',
2
"

2
9
6
',
8
 3

D4
"

6
',
0
"

210',0"

3
6
',
0
"

3
6
',
0
"

%EW CURB A%D GUTTER

%EW CURB A%D GUTTER� REFER 
T" CIVI- P-A%S

%EW SECTI"% "F R"AD PER CIVI- P-A%S

32',0"

New 32' 
Gate

%EW ASPHA-T PAVI%G PER CIVI- P-A%S

existing 

salt/sand 
structure

D
IS

T
A

%
C

E
 T

"
 E

A
S

T
 P

R
"

P
E

R
T

Y
 -

I%
E

 

DISTA%CE T" %"RTH PR"PERTY -I%E 

New 20 
'Gate

New 20 
'Gate

30',0"

3
0
' R

E
A

R
 Y

A
R

D
 S

E
T

B
A

C
H

 

2
0
',
0
"

20' SITE YARD SETBACH , C"R%ER -"T

2
0
',
0
"

20' SITE YARD SETBACH , C"R%ER -"T

30',0"

3
0
' F

R
"

%
T

 Y
A

R
D

 S
E

T
B

A
C

H
 

ALTERNATE BID NUMBER BP#3-7
BASE BID PB#3-1

NEW PROPOSED STORAGE 

FACILITY 12,800 SQ/FT

BASE BID IS 
ASPHA-T A%D 
ST"%E

PR"VIDE %EW ST"R= 
DISCHARGE , PART "F 
RECYC-I%G A-TER%ATE  
(BP# 3,7)

%EW FE%CE T" T"P "F BER=
FE%CE BY CITY

140',0"

%EW DRIVE

%EW DRIVE

%EW 80TH STREET EXTE%SI"%

447',9 21D32"

4
2
2

',
7

 1
D4

"

2
2
',
0
"

76',5"

5
',
0
"

30',0"

R
 2
4
' - 0

"

R
 1
6
' 
- 
6
"

R
 1
5
' 
- 
6
" R

 19
' - 6

"

FUTURE 
FUE- 

IS-A%D 
-"CATI"% F

U
T

U
R

E

New 36' 
Gate

AD103

2

SEE DETAI- 2DAD103 
F"R BASE BID 
ACCESS R"AD P-A%

%EW ASPHA-T PAVI%G PER CIVI- P-A%S

(03 30 00�04) 8" C"%CRETE S-AB "VER
8" CRUSHED ST"%EJ S-AB TYPE "C"

DE=" ASPHA-T AREA
=A%DAT"RY A-TER%ATE %�� BP#3,7

AD103

1
Si�

%EW C"%CRETE AREA� 
REFER T" CIVI- P-A%S

A�TER�ATE #4
ADDITI"%A- BAY AREA

BASE BID PB#3-1

%EW FE%CE 
BID PACHAGE 
PACHAGE #1 BP# 1,1

%EW SITE FE%CE 
=A%DAT"RY A-TER%ATE 

BID %�� BP# 1,2

TIE T" EXISTI%G 
CHAI%,-I%H FE%CE� 
FIE-D VERIFY

AD101

2

%EW R"AD PART "F 
=A%DAT"RY A-TER%ATE %�� 
BP#3,7

EXISTI%G T" RE=AI%
BID PACHAGE #3 , BASE BID BP#3,1 

%EW -EA%,T" BUI-DI%G 
BID PACHAGE #2 

BP#2,1

(06 10 00) -I%SEED "I- TREATED 4X8X16' ,
REP-ACE -"WER 6',0"

EXISTI%G STRUCTURA- SUPP"RTS 

P�A� �0RTH

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE: As indicated

AD101City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

Site P�a

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132

1" = 40'50"1 DPW 5 �EVE� 1 5 0vera��  F���r P�a

3�4" = 1'50"2 Sa�t Structure Repair 5  Bid Pac#age ��/ BP#251



5"

8"

7"

7"

8"

1
0
"

1
0
"

6"

6"

6"

1
2
"

1
0
"

1
0
"

1
2
"

1
2
"

7"

8"

7"

7
"

8"

8"

8"

7"

7"

9"

9
"

12"

1
2
"

1
0
"

5
"

5
"

5
"

7
"7
"

8
"

8
"

7
"1
2
"

2
0
"

8
"

8
"

ST
ST

CB

CBST

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB CB

CB
CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

WV WV

W
V

WVW
V

W
V

W
V

WV
W
V

WV

WV

WV

WV

WV

W
V

SA

SA

MH

G
V

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

IP IP

IP

IP

IPIPIP

IP

IP
IP IP
IPIP IP

IP

IP

IP

T

P
O
S
T

FL
A
G

F
L
A
G

WV

?

?

?

?

?

??

?

S. 80TH

STREET

W
.  R

Y
A

N
 R

O
A

D

F F

F FF

S
TS
T

S
T

S
T

B
C5

B'
C5

A
C5

A'
C5

CB100

CB101

STMH100

CB102

STMH101

CB103

CB104

CB105

CB106

C
B

C
B

C
B

EMERGENCY SPILLWAY
SEE DETAIL ON SHEET C6

WV

FFE = 743.20

SA

SA

3
.5

%

1.0%

1.5
%

2.0%

1
.5

%

4.0%

1
.5

%

3.5
%

4
.3

%
1
.8

%

7
50

+
744.0 + 745.0 + 746.0 + 747.0 + 748.0

747.2
747.2

746.6

747.2

742.80

745.2 745.2

743.8

742

741

740

738

735

730

726

720

721

716

739

740

743

743

742

747

746 747

746

745

748

744

744

745

74
5

746

7
46

743

716

7
2
1

7
2
6

7
2
1

7
2
6

7
2
67

2
4

725

726

724

721

725

720

722
723

724

726

716

723

722

??

WASTE OIL AREA

RETAINING WALL

RETAINING WALL

16∅" SAN STUB
IE = 704.84
(PER AS BUILT
RECORD)

GRASS

WOODS

16"∅ PVC WATER

?

731

731

730

726

730

726

WET POND 1

WET POND 2
740

735

743

742

741

734

734

7
3
17
3
1

7
3
47
3
4

FFE = 744.20

FFE = 743.21

F FF F F F F F

F FF
F

F
F

F
F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F FF

F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F FF

F
F

F

F FF F F F F F F

F
F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F FF F F F F F

F
F

F
F

F

F FF F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

F
F

F

F FF FF FF F

existing
DPW 

facility

drop site

R
y
a
n
 R

o
a
d

80th Street

existing 
salt 

structure

S
IT

E
 G

R
A

D
IN

G
 B

Y
 O

W
N

E
R

E
xi

st
in

g
 H

o
ld

in
g

 T
an

k

S
an

it
ar

y 
E

xt
en

si
o

n
 t

o
 P

ro
p

er
ty

New 24' 
Gate

3
4
2
'
2
"

2
3
6
'
0
"

5
7
8
'
2
"

2
9
6
'
8
 3

4
"

6
'
0
"

3
6
'
0
"

EW CURB A D GUTTER

EW SECTI  F R AD PER CIVI  P A S

New 32' 
Gate

RE VAB E BARRIERS BY W ER

EW ASPHA T PAVI G PER CIVI  P A S

existing 
salt/sand 
structure

DISTA CE T  S UTH PR PERTY I E 

D
IS

T
A

C
E

 T
 E

A
S

T
 P

R
P

E
R

T
Y

 
I

E
 

FUTURE EDGE F PAVE E T

New 20 
'Gate

New 20 
'Gate

30' 0"

3
0
' R

E
A

R
 Y

A
R

D
 S

E
T

B
A

C
 

2
0
'
0
"

20' SITE YARD SETBAC  C R ER T

2
0
'
0
"

3
0
' F

R
T

 Y
A

R
D

 S
E

T
B

A
C

 

F R AREA RATI

(PA)    T TA  PR PERTY AREA 859 045 SF

( PA) ET PR PERTY AREA 765 428 SF

(BA)     EXISTI G T TA  BUI DI G AREA   38 981 SF

PR P SED ST RAGE FACI ITY   12 000 SF

T TA  EW SITE BUI DI G AREA   50 981 SF

RATI  (BA  PA) 0 067 ax A wab e 63 ( et)  38 (Gr ss)

A DSCAPE SURFACE RATI 0 94 i  A wab e 0 30

CHAI  I  FE CE

RE VAB E BARRIERS BY W ER

ALTERNATE BID No. BP#3-7

R  ( 1 )

DF ( 3 )

DF ( 3 )

DF ( 3 )

DF ( 3 )

S  ( 3 )

RB ( 4 )

BHS ( 4 )

BHS ( 4 )

BHS ( 4 )

AA ( 3 )

AA ( 3 )

AA ( 3 )

PD ( 3 )

AA ( 3 )

A  ( 4 )

A  
GATE #1

A  
GATE #2

A  GATE #3

A  
GATE #5

A  
GATE #6

0 80 120 16040

GRAPHIC SCALE

T P HI  BER

T P HI  BER

T P HI  BER

T P HI  BER

(32  31 13)  CHAI I   

FE CE w  PRIVACY 

S ATS BID PAC AGE 

U BER BP#1 1

A  A DSCAPE 

W R  BY W ER

A  A DSCAPE 

W R  BY W ER

EW CURB A D GUTTER

BASE BID IS ASPHA T 
A D ST E

EW FE CE I E T  BUI DI G

DF ( 3 )AA ( 3 ) AA ( 3 ) AA ( 3 )

EW GE ERAT R

EW DRIVE

EW DRIVE

EW 80TH STREET EXTE SI

storage 
facility -

12,800 sq/ft

BASE BID SUBGRADE GRAVE  BY CITY

BASE BID SUBGRADE GRAVE  BY CITY

(32  31 13)  CHAI I   

FE CE w  PRIVACY 

S ATS A TER ATE 

BID U BER BP#1 2

1
0
6

'
9

 1
3

1
6
"

216' 0 7 8"

154' 0"

382' 0 3 8"

FUTURE BUI DI G EXPA SI  AY UT

FUTURE PAR I G T EDGE AY UT

FUTURE FUEL 
ISLAND

F
U

T
U

R
E

AD103

1
Si

AD103

2
Si

SITE GRADING BY 

OWNER

RESEED COMPLETE 

AREA. 

RESEED 

THIS AREA

61' 0"50' 0"50' 0"

S  ( 1 )

R  ( 1 ) S  ( 1 ) R  ( 1 ) S  ( 1 )

A DSCAPED AREA BY 

A DSCAPI G C TRACT R

A DSCAPED AREA BY W ER

EW ASPHA T DRIVEWAY  
REFER T  CIVI  P A S

New 36' 
Gate

A DSCAPE PART F 

A TER ATE  BP# 3 7

A DSCAPE PART F 

A TER ATE  BP# 3 7

A DSCAPE PART F 

BASE BID  BP# 3 1

A DSCAPE PART F 

BASE BID  BP# 3 1

A DSCAPE REQUIRE E T

T TA  PAR I G STA S 38

I  TREES REQUIRED PER TYPE        I  REQ       PR VIDED

CA PY  SHADE 10 14
EVERGREE S 10 43
DEC RATIVE TREES 10 10
SHRUBS 10 ( r 5 Trees) 3 Decidu us & 2 Evergree s

S  ( 3 )

S  ( 1 )

RB ( 4 )

PD ( 3 )

RB ( 4 )

AA ( 3 )

P A  RTH

ue yarch c  2024 ue y Architects C  A  Rights Reserved       

SCALE:  1" = 40'-0"

AD102City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

a dscape P a

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132

City Comments - 03.27.2024 April 8, 2024



WV WV

E
W

 B
E

W
E

W

E
WE

W

E
W

E
W

E
W

E
W

E
W

E
W

E
W

E
W

E
W

 C
L
S

POND

S 00°22'22" E   666.57'

F F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F FF F F F F F F F F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F FF

FF F

F
F

F

F FF F F F F F

S
TS
T

CB100

CB101

STMH100

CB102

STMH101

CB103

CB104C
B

2.0%

4
.3

%
1
.8

%

+
744.0 + 745.0 + 746.0 + 747.0

747.2
747.2

746.6

747.2

742.80

745.2 745.2

743.8

743

747

746 747

746

745

744

744

745

74
5

746

7
4
6

743

16"∅ PVC WATER

F FF F F F F F

F FF F

1
2
"

ST

W
V

WVW
V

W
V

P
R
O
P

P
R
O
P

IP
IP

drop site

New 20' 
Gate

%EW CURB A%D GUTTER

%EW SECTI"% "F R"AD PER CIVI- P-A%S

New 30' 
Gate

%EW ASPHA-T PAVI%G PER CIVI- P-A%S

New 20 
'Gate

New 20 
'Gate

MANDATORY ALTERNATE No. 

BP#3-6

DF ( 3 )

AA ( 3 ) AA ( 3 ) AA ( 3 )

0 40 60 8020

GRAPHIC SCALE

-A%DSCAPE W"RH PART 
"F BP# 3,7

-A%DSCAPE W"RH PART 
"F BP# 3,7

-A%DSCAPE W"RH PART 
"F BP# 3,7

-A%DSCAPE W"RH PART 
"F BP# 3,7

-A%DSCAPE W"RH PART 
"F BP# 3,1

%EW CURB A%D GUTTER� 
REFER T" CIVI- P-A%S

%EW ASPHA-T ACCESS R"AD

S� 80th STREET
EXISTI%G ACCESS 
R"AD T" RE=AI%

CUT A%D DE="-ISH EXISTI%G 
ASPHA-T AREA 
(DIAG"%A- HATCHED AREA)

RESEED A-- AFFECTED 
AREAS

RESEED A-- AFFECTED 
AREAS

RESEED A-- AFFECTED 
AREAS

S� 80th STREET
EXISTI%G ACCESS 
R"AD T" RE=AI%

0 40 60 8020

GRAPHIC SCALE

=A%DAT"RY A-TER%ATE %�� 
BP#3,7 , %EW R"AD PART "F 
80th STREET RECYC-I%G SITE

P�A� �0RTH

KEYNOTE LEGEND

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE:  1" = 20'-0"

AD103City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

80th Street Recyc�ig Site &  Base Bid Access P�a 5 S 80th St/

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132

1" = 20'50"1 DPW 5 �EVE� 1 5 Dr�p Site

1" = 20'50"2 Access P�a S/ 80th Street 5 Base Bid �� BP# 351



1
4
x
4
0

7
2
8

1
4
x
4
0

7
3
4

1
4
x
4
0

7
6
0

1
4
x
4
0

7
6
1

1
4
x
4
0

7
6
2

1
4
x
4
0

7
3
1

1
4
x
4
0

7
2
8

1
4
x
4
0

7
3
4

1
4
x
4
0

7
6
0

1
4
x
4
0

7
6
1

1
4
x
4
0

7
6
2

1
4
x
4
0

7
3
1

UP

1�F

1�F

1�E

1�E

1�A�1

1�A�1

AA�1AA�1

DD�1DD�1

2
AD203

1�D

1�D

1�C

1�C

1�B

1�B

1

AD301

1

AD301

CC�1CC�1

BB�2BB�2

2

AD301

2

AD301

1

AD302

1

AD302

2

AD302

2

AD302

1

AD402

140',0"

9
4
',
0
"

24',8" 32',0" 32',0" 32',0" 18',6"

6
',
6
"

6
',
0
"

1',4"

1�C�5

1�C�5

16',0" 16',0"

1
AD203

Si�

1

AD4012

AD401

3

AD401

4

AD401

2

AD402

8',3" 25',6" 16',9"

9
2
',
4
"

1
3
',
6
"

6
5
',
4
"

1
3
',
6
"

1�A

1�A

1�A�7

1�A�7

1�B�4

1�B�4

1�B�8

1�B�8

1�C�6

1�C�6

18',9" 18',9" 18',9" 18',9"

24',8" 32',0" 16',0"

140',2"

EE�1EE�1

1
9
',
1
0
"

A
D

D
E
D

 B
A

Y
 -

A
L
T
E
R

N
A

T
E
 N

o
. 

B
P

#
3

-4

EAST MEZZANINE -

ALTERNATE No. BP#3-2 

WEST MEZZANINE -

ALTERNATE No. BP#3-3 

2
7
',
0
"

2
',
7
" 5
',
0
"

5',0"

C
R

U
S

H
E

D
 S

T
"

%
E

1
0
',
0
"

W
T

R

A
IR

W
T

R

A
IR

W
T

R

A
IR

W
T

R

A
IR

W
T

R

A
IR

W
T

R

A
IR

3',3" 1',9"

5',0"

5
',
0
"

1
0
',
0
"

3
AD203

Si�

88',1"

FUTURE "H D""R

20',0" 7',6" 20',0" 4',0"

2

ADS1�1

2

ADS1�1

2

ADS1�1

2

ADS1�1

2

ADS1�1

AD501

1

AD501

1

AD501

1

AD501

1

AD501

1

AD501

1

"H
AD101B

AD101b

"H
AD101C

AD101a

AD101d

AD101c

"H
AD101A

vehicle

storage

AD101

exterior

ex

1

AD403

C"=PACTED CRUSHED ST"%E

98',0"

ASPHA-T , EXISTI%G

42',0"

03 30 00�2203 30 00�22

AD501

15
AD501

15
AD501

15

AD501

15
AD501

15
AD501

15

4

AD501

4

AD501

AD301

3

AD301

3
Si�

22 13 16�A5

16

AD501

16

AD501

22 13 16�A7 22 13 16�A7

22 44 00�A14

22 44 00�A6

22 44 00�A6

22 44 00�A1422 44 00�A14

22 44 00�A6

03 30 00�04

03 30 00�04

08 30 00�A1
-""P

-""P

08 30 00�A5

08 30 00�A1

08 11 00�A2

22 44 00�A14

22 44 00�A6

08 11 00�A2

05 12 00�04

05 12 00�04

03 30 00�04

08 30 00�A1

05 12 00�06

05 12 00�06

22 44 00�A14

22 44 00�A6

08 11 00�A2

03 30 00�27

existig

22 44 00�A14

22 44 00�A6

03 41 00�13 05 12 00�06

01 00 00�A4

75',0"

E
L
E

C

26 05 00�01

E
L
E

C

26 05 00�01

E
L
E

C

26 05 00�01

E
L
E

C E
L
E

C

E
L
E

C

26 05 00�01

26 05 00�01

26 05 00�01

03 41 00�01

2

AD403

05 12 00�18

05 12 00�18

09 91 00�03

09 91 00�03

AD501

15
AD501

15
AD501

15

AD501

15
AD501

15

AA�1aAA�1a

CC�1aCC�1a

23 07 00�A2

23 07 00�A2

1�A�2

1�A�2

1�A�3

1�A�3

LEAN-TO BUILDING -

ALTERNATE No. BP#3-6 

MAIN BUILDING -

BASE BID No. BP#3-1 

03 30 00�31 03 30 00�31

03 30 00�04

03 30 00�31

03 30 00�31

03 30 00�31

P�A� �0RTH

KEYNOTE LEGEND

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AD202City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

E�arged F���r

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132

ADDITION DOOR SCHEDULE

3AR2

FR03 R003 T0 R003 D00R FRA3E

RE3AR2S�U3 �A3E �U3 �A3E TYPE 3ATERIA� SWI�G WIDTH HEIGHT THIC2�ESS G�ASS TYPE 3ATERIA� G�ASS

AD101a AD101 vehic�e st�rage ex exteri�r HG H= -H 3' , 0" 7' , 0" 1 3D4" 1" I%SU-ATED A H= , D""R PREPPED F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

AD101b AD101 vehic�e st�rage ex exteri�r HG H= -H 3' , 0" 7' , 0" 1 3D4" 1" I%SU-ATED A H= , D""R PREPPED F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

AD101c AD101 vehic�e st�rage ex exteri�r HG H= RH 3' , 0" 7' , 0" 1 3D4" 1" I%SU-ATED A H= , D""R PREPPED F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

AD101d AD101 vehic�e st�rage ex existi�g HG H= -H 3' , 0" 7' , 0" 1 3D4" X A H= , D""R PREPPED F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

"H AD101A ex exteri�r AD101 vehic�e st�rage "H 18' , 0" 16' , 0" 1 3D4" I%SU-ATED

"H AD101B ex exteri�r AD101 vehic�e st�rage "H 18' , 0" 16' , 0" 1 3D4" I%SU-ATED

"H AD101C ex exteri�r AD101 vehic�e st�rage "H 20' , 0" 16' , 0" 1 3D4" I%SU-ATED

ADDITION ROOM SCHEDULE

�U3BER �A3E F�00R TYPE BASE

WA�� FI�ISH CEI�I�G

RE3AR2S�0RTH S0UTH EAST WEST TYPE HEIGHT

AD101 vehic�e st�rage C��crete , EXIST PC,1 D G-,2 PC,1 D G-,2 PC,1 D G-,2 STEE- DECH VARIES ,

ADDITION PAINT SCHEDULE

R003

F�00R

WA��S

CEI�I�G 3ETA� W00D RE3AR2S�U3 �A3E �0RTH S0UTH EAST WEST

AD101 vehic�e st�rage DE%SIFIER EP"XY EP"XY EP"XY EP"XY DRYFA-- E%A=E- VAR%ISH ,

ADDITION HARDWARE SCHEDULE

3AR2 �0C2SET PUSH5PU�� H0�D 0PE� C�0SER HI�GE D00R ST0P THRESH0�D WEATHERSTRIP 2IC2P�ATE S0U�DST0P �A3EP�ATE �0TES

AD101a =EDEC" (SEE SPEC) , , X B�B� , X X X X , HICHP-ATE "% PATH "F DIRECTI"% SIDE  DD""R PREP� F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

AD101b =EDEC" (SEE SPEC) , , X B�B� , X X X X , HICHP-ATE "% PATH "F DIRECTI"% SIDE  DD""R PREP� F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

AD101c =EDEC" (SEE SPEC) , , X B�B� , X X X X , HICHP-ATE "% PATH "F DIRECTI"% SIDE  DD""R PREP� F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

AD101d =EDEC" (SEE SPEC) , , X B�B� , , , X X , HICHP-ATE "% PATH "F DIRECTI"% SIDE  DD""R PREP� F"R FUTURE E-EC� STRIHE

KEYNOTE LEGEND

Spec.
# Description

01 00 00�A4 FUTURE B"--ARD -"CATI"%S

03 30 00�04 8" C"%CRETE S-AB "VER 8" CRUSHED ST"%EJ S-AB TYPE "C"

03 30 00�22 C"%CRETE F-""R WARP -I%E , PITCH T" DRAI% 1D8" PER F""T =I%�

03 30 00�27 C"%CRETE FR"ST ST""P� TYP @ A-- EXTERI"R D""RS

03 30 00�31 CAST,I%,P-ACE C"%CRETE C"-U=% BASE

03 41 00�01 I%SU-ATED PRECAST C"%CRETE WA-- PA%E-J THICH%ESS PER DETAI-S (=I%� R,22)

03 41 00�13 PRE,CAST WA-- T" BE DESIG%ED F"R A FUTURE 20'x16' "H D""R AT THIS -"CATI"%

05 12 00�04 STEE- C"-U=%J REFER T" STRUCTURA- P-A%S A%D SCHEDU-ES

05 12 00�06 STEE- B"-ARD wDP-ASTIC YE--"W C"VER PER DETAI-S

05 12 00�18 6"x12"x1D4" HSS TUBE C"-U=%

08 11 00�A2 H"--"W =ETA- D""R A%D FRA=EJ SEE SCHEDU-ES

08 30 00�A1 "VERHEAD SECTI"%A- D""RJ SEE SPECIFICATI"%S

08 30 00�A5 "H D""R -""P

09 91 00�03 PAI%T A-- EXP"SED =ETA-

22 13 16�A5 CATCH BASI%� REFER T" P-U=BI%G P-A%S A%D SPECS

22 13 16�A7 TRE%CH DRAI% BY P-U=BI%G C"%TRACT"R� REFER T" =EP P-A%S A%D SPECS

22 44 00�A6 WATER REE- BY P-U=BI%G C"%TRACT"RJ REFER T" =EP

22 44 00�A14 AIR REE- P-U=BI%G C"%TRACT"RJ REFER T" =EP

23 07 00�A2 EXHAUST VE%T DUCT� REFER T" =ECHA%ICA- P-A%S A%D SPECS

26 05 00�01 50 FT C"RD E-ECTRIC REE- BY E-ECTRICA- C"%TRACT"R� REFER T" E-EC� P-A%S



�EVE� 1

0'50"

DPW 5 �EVE� 0

54'50"

1�F1�E

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast (High)

34'50"

ADDITI"%

140',0" EXISTI%G FACI-ITY

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast

30'50"

3
4
',
0
"

1�D1�C1�B

1

AD301

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

2

AD301

1

AD402

ADDITI0� EXISTI�G(09 91 00) PAI%TED B-UE AREA� C"-"R T"
=ATCH EXISTI%G =ETA- B-UE PA%E-S

(07 60 00) SHEET =ETA- WA-- CAP
(03 41 00) I%SU-ATED ARCHITECTURA-
PRECAST WA-- PA%E-  (=I% R,22)

(13 34 19) PRE,FI%ISHED RIBBED R""F
PA%E-

(05 12 00) C"=P-ETE GA-VA%IKED STEE-
STRUCTURE

(08 11 00) I%SU-ATED H= D""R & D""R
FRA=E�

(08 30 00) I%SU-ATED "VER HEAD D""RS

1�C�5
2

AD402
1�A 1�A�7 1�B�4 1�B�8 1�C�6

8
"

8
',
0
"

8
"

7
',
4
"

1�A�3

AD501

15 1
0
',
0
"

2
',
0
"

6
"

2
',
6
"

6
"

2
',
6
"

6
"

1
',
6
"

(09 91 00�15) SECURITY YE--"W
PAI%TED STRIPES

(09 91 00�15) SECURITY
YE--"W PAI%TED
STRIPES

(03 30 00�31) CAST,I%,P-ACE
C"%CRETE C"-U=% BASE

�EVE� 1

0'50"

AA�1 DD�1

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast (High)

34'50"

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast

30'50"

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

45',10 27D32" ADDITI"%

CC�1BB�2
1

AD302

2

AD302

EXISTI%G BUI-DI%G

(03 41 00) I%SU-ATED ARCHITECTURA-
PRECAST WA-- PA%E-  (=I% R,22) (08 41 13) (08 80 00) A-U=I%U= FRA=E

WD 1" -"W,E I%SU-ATED G-AKI%G

(09 91 00) PAI%TED B-UE AREA� C"-"R T"
=ATCH EXISTI%G =ETA- B-UE PA%E-S

(08 30 00) I%SU-ATED "H SECTI"%A- D""R

(08 11 00) I%SU-ATED H= D""R & D""R
FRA=E�

(13 34 19) PRE,FI%ISHED RIBBED R""F
PA%E-

(07 60 00) SHEET =ETA- FASCIA

3

AD401

4

AD401

EE�1

8
"

7
',
4
"

T
Y

P
�

4
',
0
"

1
8
',
0
"

TYP�

4',0" 16',0" 4',0"

1
6
',
0
"

18',0"

AD501

1

AD501

15

AA�1a CC�1a

(09 91 00�15) SECURITY
YE--"W PAI%TED
STRIPES

1
0
',
0
"

(03 30 00�31) CAST,I%,P-ACE
C"%CRETE C"-U=% BASE

�EVE� 1

0'50"

DPW 5 �EVE� 0

54'50"

1�F 1�E

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast (High)

34'50"

10',0"

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast

30'50"

1�D 1�C 1�B

1

AD301

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

2

AD301

1

AD402

ADDITI0�EXISTI�G

EXISTI%G

ADDITI"%

141',0"

3
0
',
0

 1
D2

"

4
',
0
"

1
8
',
0

 1
D2

"

(03 41 00) I%SU-ATED ARCHITECTURA-
PRECAST WA-- PA%E-  (=I% R,22)

(09 91 00) PAI%TED B-UE AREA� C"-"R T"
=ATCH EXISTI%G =ETA- B-UE PA%E-S (08 41 13) (08 80 00) A-U=I%U= FRA=E

WD 1" -"W,E I%SU-ATED G-AKI%G

(08 11 00) I%SU-ATED H=
D""R & D""R FRA=E�

1�C�5

1

AD401

2

AD401

2

AD402

1�A1�A�71�B�41�B�81�C�6

8
',
0
"

8
"

7
',
4
"

AD501

1

4',0" 16',0"

TYP�

4',0"

1
8
',
0
"

T
Y

P
�

4
',
0
"

1�A�3

KEYNOTE LEGEND

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE:  3/32" = 1'-0"

AD203City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

Exteri�r E�evati�s

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132

3�32" = 1'50"1 Exteri�r E�evati� 5 East

3�32" = 1'50"2 Exteri�r E�evati� 5 S�uth

3�32" = 1'50"3 Exteri�r E�evati� 5 West



D%

1�F

1�F

1�E

1�E

1�A�1

1�A�1

AA�1AA�1

DD�1DD�1

2
AD203

1�D

1�D

1�C

1�C

1�B

1�B

1

AD301

CC�1CC�1

BB�2BB�2

2

AD301

1

AD302

2

AD302

1

AD402

1�C�5

1�C�5

1

AD401
2

AD401

3

AD401

4

AD401

2

AD402

1�A

1�A

1�A�7

1�A�7

1�B�4

1�B�4

1�B�8

1�B�8

1�C�6

1�C�6

EE�1EE�1

140',0"

9
4
',
0
"

24',8" 32',0" 32',0" 32',0" 18',6"

6
',
6
"

6
',
0
"

1',4"

16',0" 16',0"

3
AD203

Si�

1
AD203

Si�

25',6"

9
2
',
4
"

1
3
',
6
"

6
5
',
4
"

1
3
',
6
"

18',9" 18',9" 18',9" 18',9"

24',8" 32',0" 16',0"

140',2"

1
9
',
1
0
"

A
D

D
E
D

 B
A

Y
 -

A
L
T
E
R

N
A

T
E
 N

o
. 

B
P

#
3

-4

30',0"

9
4
',
0
"

EAST MEZZANINE -

ALTERNATE No. BP#3-2 

WEST MEZZANINE -

ALTERNATE No. BP#3-3 

1
3
',
6
"

90',0"

25',4"6',0"54',8"

74',0"

25',10"6',0"38',2"4',0"

70',0"

1

AD403

1
3
',
6
"

9

AD501

AD501

11

10

AD501

9

AD501

AD501

11 10

AD501

9

AD501

9

AD501

AD301

3
Si�

AD301

3
Si�

2

AD403

AA�1aAA�1a

CC�1aCC�1a

3

ADS2�1

4

ADS2�1

5

ADS2�1

1�A�3

1�A�3

LEAN-TO BUILDING -

ALTERNATE No. BP#3-6 

MAIN BUILDING -

BASE BID No. BP#3-1 

P�A� �0RTH

KEYNOTE LEGEND

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE:  1/8" = 1'-0"

AD204City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

E�arged 3eHHaie F���r P�a

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132



�EVE� 1

0'50"

DPW 5 �EVE� 0

54'50"

AA�1 DD�1

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast (High)

34'50"

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast

30'50"

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

CC�1BB�2

1

AD302

2

AD302

1D4" D 1',0"
1" D 1',0"

1
1
',
1

 1
D4

"

EE�1

13',6"

1

AD403

2

AD403

05 12 00�17

05 12 00�18

AA�1a

1
0
',
8
 1

D2
"

1
',
3
 1

D2
"

CC�1a

�EVE� 1

0'50"

DPW 5 �EVE� 0

54'50"

AA�1DD�1

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast (High)

34'50"

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast

30'50"

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

CC�1 BB�2
1

AD302

2

AD302

3

AD401

4

AD401

27' , 3 5D32"

29' , 2 1D4"

EE�1

13',6"

13',6"

1
1
',
1
1
 7

D8
"

3 1D2"

AA�1aCC�1a

ADS2�1

3 ADS2�1

4
ADS2�1

3
Si�

ADS2�1

4
Si�

1�A�1

1�A�1

BB�2BB�2

1�A

1�A

4

AD501

4

AD301

1
',
0
"

6

AD501

4',0"

1
1
"

T
Y

P
�

1
1
"

1
1
"

1
8
',
4
"

vehic�e st�rage

AD101

exteri�r

05 50 00�03

05 12 00�04

09 91 00�09

05 50 00�13

09 91 00�05

1�A�2

1�A�2

1�A�3

1�A�3

�EVE� 1

0'50"

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

BB�2

4

AD501

AD501

15

G
U

A
R

D
 R

A
I-

3
',
6
"

7
" 

�
a
x�

11"

TYP�

11" 11"

H
A

%
D

 R
A

I-

2
',
1
0
"

5

AD501

05 50 00�13

05 50 00�03

09 91 00�03

09 91 00�11

09 91 00�09

09 91 00�09

AD501

10

1
',
3
"

1
',
7
" 2
',
1
0
"

ADS2�1

5

KEYNOTE LEGEND

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE: As indicated

AD301City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

Bui�dig Secti�s

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 53132

3�16" = 1'50"1 SECTI0� E�W5S0UTH

3�16" = 1'50"2 BUI�DI�G SECTI0� E�W 5 �0RTH

1�4" = 1'50"3 TYP/ 3EIIA�I�E STAIR P�A�

1�4" = 1'50"4 TYP/ 3EIIA�I�E STAIR SECTI0�

KEYNOTE LEGEND

Spec. # Description
05 12 00�04 STEE- C"-U=%J REFER T" STRUCTURA- P-A%S A%D SCHEDU-ES

05 12 00�17 16"x12"x1D2" HSS TUBE BEA=� REFER T" STRUCTURA- P-A%S

05 12 00�18 6"x12"x1D4" HSS TUBE C"-U=%

05 50 00�03 1,1D2" DIA=ETER STEE- GUARD RAI-

05 50 00�13 A%CH"R STRI%GERS wD (2) 1D4x3 EXPA%SI"% A%CH"RS

09 91 00�03 PAI%T A-- EXP"SED =ETA-

09 91 00�05 PAI%T WA--S PER R""= FI%ISH SCHEDU-E

09 91 00�09 PAI%T A-- STAIR C"=P"%E%TS SECURITY YE--"W PER SPECS

09 91 00�11 PAI%T C"-U=% BASE SECURITY YE--"W

WEST STAIR 5 A�TER�ATE 2 

(F�IPPED F0R A�TER�ATE #3)

WEST STAIR 5 A�TER�ATE 2 

(F�IPPED F0R A�TER�ATE #3)



�EVE� 1

0'50"

DPW 5 �EVE� 0

54'50"

1�F1�E1�A�1

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast (High)

34'50"

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast

30'50"

1�D1�C1�B

1

AD301

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

2

AD301

1�C�5

1

AD401

2

AD401

1�A 1�A�7 1�B�4 1�B�8 1�C�6

AD501

15
AD501

15

AD501

15

AD501

11
10

AD501

"H
AD101A AD101a

4
',
0
"

1
8
',
0
"

4',0"

AD403

1
Si�

1
6
',
0
"

3

ADS2�1

4

ADS2�15

ADS2�1

1�A�2 1�A�3

�EVE� 1

0'50"

DPW 5 �EVE� 0

54'50"

1�F 1�E 1�A�1

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast (High)

34'50"

ADD 5 T/0/ Precast

30'50"

1�D 1�C 1�B

1

AD301

ADD 5 3eHHaie

12'50"

2

AD301

1

AD402

1�C�5

2

AD402

1�A1�A�71�B�41�B�81�C�6

20',0" 7',6"

FUTURE "H D""R

20',0"

F
U

T
U

R
E

 "
H

 D
"

"
R

1
6
',
0
"

1�A�21�A�3
KEYNOTE LEGEND

#ueyarch/c�� 92024 2uey Architects �/�/C/ 5 A�� Rights Reserved       

SCALE:  3/16" = 1'-0"

AD302City of Franklin - DPW Building Expansion

April 2, 2024

Bui�dig Secti�s

7979 W Ryan Road Franklin WI 531323�16" = 1'50"1 SECTI0� ��S 5 WEST

3�16" = 1'50"2 SECTI0� ��S 5 EAST



June 11, 2024 

 

To Whom This May Concern, 

 

In regards to mitigation in the Southeast corner of the DPW property,` the following terms will 
be agreed upon. 

 

City staff will work with the neighboring condo association to provide sufficient screening 
behind the addresses of 7796 and 7794 W Park Circle Way North.  A vegetative screen can be 
planted with condo’s choice of either Arborvitae, Juniper, Witch Hazel or similar native shrubs.  
Planting would occur on 7-8ft spacing.  This would account for 21 plants in a 150’ stretch.  
Three 2.5” diameter evergreen trees either Douglas Fir, Black Hills Spruce, or White Spruce.  
Four 2.5” diameter native deciduous trees.  Species used could be White Oak, Sugar Maple, 
Hackberry, Catalpa or other requested native species.  Planting will occur after construction to 
not interfere with installed utilities.  Condo Association can confirm planting locations are 
adequate.  In addition to these plantings DPW will also consider installing an additional four 
2.5” diameter trees.   

COMMON NAME SCIENTIFIC NAME QUANTITY 
Sugar Maple Acer Saccharum 2 
White Oak Quercus alba 2 
Hackberry Celtis occidentalis 2 
Northern Catalpa Catalpa speciosa 2 
American Arborvitae Thuja occidentalis 21 
Black Hills Spruce Picea glauca var. densata 3 
   
Total New Trees  32 

 

 

Sincerely, 

Tom Riha 

City Forester 

ISA- Certified Arborist/Municipal Specialist 


	01 2024-0620 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 2024-0606 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item B._UDO Rewrite Task Force_Article 2 & 3
	1 Cover Memo - Task Force Meeting 2
	Article 2: Establishment of Districts and Article 3: District Specific Standards
	Up-Front Outreach and Input Heard
	Major Proposed Changes

	1a Proposed Zoning_20240521
	02 - Establishment of Districts CLEAN
	02 - Establishment of Districts REDLINE
	03 - District Specific Standards CLEAN
	15-3-01. Bulk and Dimensional Standards
	15-3-02. Calculating Dimensional Standards
	15-3-03. Exceptions to Bulk and Dimensional Standards
	15-3-04. Permitted, Limited, Conditional, and Temporary Uses.
	15-3-05. B-SM - Saint Martin’s Road Historic Business District Specific Standards.
	15-3-06. FF Floodfringe District and GFP General Floodplain District.

	03 - District Specific Standards REDLINE

	04 Item C.1._City of Franklin_UDO Text Amend RLUIPA Compliance
	01 PC Report - Change Religious Organizations and Church or other place of worship as permitted-special uses in B-4, CC, and OL-2
	02 2024-XXXX ORD - RLUIPA Compliance UDO TA
	03 UDO Table amendment_Change Membership Organizations
	04 RLUIPA Brochure with notes
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5


	05 Item E.1._Conservancy for Healing & Heritage_Minor PDD Amend & Site Plan Amend
	01 2024-06-20 Staff Report 6941 S 68th - Conservancy Minor PDDa
	02 DRAFT ORD 6941 S 68th - Conservancy Minor PDDa
	03 DRAFT RES Conservancy for Healing and Heritage SPa
	04 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	05 Cover letter for CC ^0 PC 6 6 2024
	06 Welcome Center Project Narrative 
	07 Submission Part VI building plan 02142024
	08 Exhibit C
	09 Depiction of Facilities-West Exhibit A (5-11-23)
	10 Submission Part VII Updated site plan 04102024

	06 Item E.2._Department of Public Works_Site Plan Amend
	01 2024-06-20 PC Report - 7979 W Ryan DPW SPa 2
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 DRAFT RES - 7979 W Ryan DPW SPa 2
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 Applicant Binder1
	00 - Franklin DPW_Response Letter - 2024.04.08
	01 - City of Franklin narrative  04.08.2024
	02 - Franklin Public Works_PC Set_PLANS_2024.04.09
	Southeast Corner Mitigation Plan





